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JM develops new residential areas in attractive locations

for people who demand high standards in their living

environment. Our work is characterised by a holistic

approach and attention to detail – we want to take

lasting pride in the homes and residential areas we

develop.

TURN THE PAGE FOR A PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF 2004

“Record sales in 2004 and improved earnings meant that
we took key steps towards achieving our profitability
target.The past year showed that we are developing
homes and residential areas where people want to live.”

Johan Skoglund,President and CEO
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REGIONAL AND LOCAL OFFICES  

EAST REGION

Uppsala (regional office)

Sylveniusgatan 2

Box 1334, SE-751 43 Uppsala

Tel. +46 18 66 03 00, fax +46 18 66 03 10

CENTRAL REGION

Jönköping

Herkulesvägen 6, SE-553 03 Jönköping

Tel. +46 36 12 03 40, fax +46 36 12 03 66

Linköping (regional office)

Brigadgatan 24, SE-581 31 Linköping

Tel. +46 13 37 14 00, fax +46 13 37 14 09

Strängnäs

Trädgårdsgatan 15, SE-645 31 Strängnäs

Tel. +46 152 104 69, fax +46 152 222 59

Västerås

Kopparbergsvägen 8, SE-722 13 Västerås

Tel. +46 21 81 20 00, fax +46 21 81 20 10

Örebro

Vasastrand 11, SE-703 54 Örebro

Tel. +46 19 10 29 40, fax +46 19 10 29 15

WEST REGION 

Gothenburg 

Gårdatorget 2, SE-412 50 Gothenburg

Tel. +46 31 703 57 00, fax +46 31 335 88 70

SOUTH REGION 

Halmstad

Brogatan 1, SE-302 43 Halmstad

Tel. +46 35 10 63 60, fax +46 35 10 67 45

Helsingborg

Prästgatan 24, SE-252 24 Helsingborg

Tel. +46 42 28 98 90, fax +46 42 13 82 24

Lund (regional office)

Åldermansgatan 13

Box 21, SE-221 00 Lund

Tel. +46 46 30 00 00, fax +46 46 30 01 38

Malmö

Övägen 6, Limhamn

Box 60228, SE-216 09 Malmö

Tel. +46 40 16 56 00, fax +46 40 16 56 01

SUBSIDIARIES IN SWEDEN

AB Borätt

Sjöängsvägen 17

Box 956, SE-191 29 Sollentuna

Tel. +46 8 626 66 30, fax +46 8 626 98 20

www.boratt.se 

Seniorgården AB

Sjöängsvägen 17

Box 956, SE-191 29 Sollentuna

Tel. +46 8 626 66 30, fax +46 8 626 98 20

www.seniorgarden.se

JM Entreprenad AB

Telegrafgatan 4, Solna

SE-169 82 Stockholm

Tel. +46 8 782 87 00, fax +46 8 782 86 01

www.jm-entreprenad.se

O.Timblad Målerifirma AB

Strandbergsgatan 53, SE-112 51 Stockholm

Tel. + 46 8 619 51 00, fax +46 8 618 16 01

www.timblad.se

SUBSIDIARIES ABROAD

Belgium

JM Construction S.A.

Avenue Louise 287, Bte 1

B-1050 Brussels

Tel. +32 2 646 11 12, fax +32 2 646 96 26

www.jmconstruction.be

Denmark

JM Danmark A/S

Vester Farimagsgade 37

DK-1606 Copenhagen V

Tel. +45 33 45 70 00, fax +45 33 45 70 70

www.jmdanmark.dk

Norway

Byggholt AS (head office)

Bærumsveien 473

Postboks 33

N-1306 Bærum

Tel. +47 67 17 60 00, fax +47 67 17 60 01

www.byggholt.no

Bergen

Damsgårdsveien 125

Postboks 178

N-5847 Bergen

Tel. +47 55 15 53 00, fax +47 55 15 53 01

Skien

Lundegate 4C

Postboks 45

N-3701 Skien

Tel. +47 35 54 33 50, fax +47 35 54 33 60

Stavanger

Gamle Forusveien 14

N-4033 Stavanger

Tel. +47 40 00 15 15, fax +47 51 57 57 13

Tønsberg

Ålveien 19

Postboks 2053

N-3103 Tønsberg

Tel. +47 33 30 03 00, fax +47 33 30 03 33

Seniorbo AS

Kjørbokollen 30

N-1337 Sandvika

Tel. +47 67 55 19 40, fax +47 67 55 19 41

www.seniorbo.no
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JM is the Nordic region’s leading housing developer.Operations focus on new production of homes

in attractive areas of growth markets,with the main focus on metropolitan areas and university

towns in Sweden,Norway,Denmark and Belgium.

JM is also involved in project development of residential portfolios and conducts limited project

development of commercial premises,primarily in the Greater Stockholm area.

JM AB is a public limited company and is listed on the Stockholm Stock Exchange A list.

GEOGRAPHIC BREAKDOWN OF NET SALES

NET SALES AND PROFIT AFTER TAX

EARNINGS AND DIVIDEND PER SHARE

2004 HIGHLIGHTS

• Net sales increased by 8% to SEK 8,414m (7,787) due to
production starts for a large number of residential projects
during the year.

• Profit after financial items doubled to SEK 516m (267) due to
a generally favourable market for housing and completion of
efficiency enhancements. Profit after tax for the year increased
to SEK 376m (187).

• Property sales of SEK 1,018m (2,219) provided capital gains of
SEK 164m (411).

• Return on equity increased to 11% (6). Earnings per share
amounted to SEK 13 (7).

• The interest-bearing net debt decreased by SEK 2 billion to
SEK 0.6 billion.The Group’s cash flows improved substantially
and amounted to SEK 2.2 billion.

• The Board of Directors proposes a dividend of SEK 7 per
share (5) as well as distribution of approximately SEK 1.0
billion through redemption of shares corresponding to a total
of approximately SEK 43 per existing share.

JM 2000–2003

2000 Focus on project development.
Major property sales in Stockholm.

2001 Continued major property sales.
Share buy-backs.

2002 Continued strategic reduction of property portfolio.
Continued share buy-backs.
Problems in Stockholm projects.

2003 Focus on routines for improved control and oversight.
Programme for group-wide pre-construction routines.
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KEY FIGURES

SEKm 2004 2003 2002
Net sales 8,414 7,787 8,872
Operating profit 661 478 652
Profit after financial items 516 267 368
Operating margin1) (%) 7.9 2.4 5.4
Earnings per share (SEK) 13.40 6.60 8.50
Dividend per share (SEK) 72) 5 10
Return on equity (%) 11.1 5.5 6.8
1)2002–2003: project development margin.
2)Board proposal.

JM AB (publ) has its registered office in Stockholm
Company reg.no.556045-2103
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SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

Sustainability issues are firmly established at JM. We were,
for example, the first construction company in Europe to
introduce an environmental policy. In 2004 we introduced
new and very extensive requirements on good heat insula-
tion for the windows that we install in order to reduce
energy consumption in the residential units. We have sharp-
ened our controls of environmentally hazardous substances
and decided to change to company cars that run on renew-
able fuels or use an electric hybrid system.

HOUSING CONSTRUCTION REMAINS LOW

JM, like other residential project developers, depends on the
availability of land zoned for housing – we operate in a sector
where supply cannot immediately be adjusted to meet
demand. This is why it is positive that the volume of zoned
land as well as housing construction is now increasing even
though this is taking place from historically very low levels.
Few other European countries have such low new production
volumes as Sweden. Housing starts have a very positive effect
on the entire housing market. Studies made in Stockholm
show that a new apartment on average provides 4.2 house-
holds with a new home due to the chain reaction.

A GOOD YEAR FOR JM’S SHAREHOLDERS

The price trend for JM shares was very strong in 2004 and
total return amounted to 85%. Good cash flows combined
with a strong balance sheet also provide scope for a major
transfer of capital. JM’s Board has proposed a redemption
programme of approximately SEK 1 billion.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

JM’s goal is to be the leading project developer of high-quality
homes in the Nordic region. We have already achieved this in
Sweden, in Norway we are the fourth or fifth largest player and
we are number seven in Denmark. We operate in locations that
have the best growth and our building rights portfolio of
approximately 21,900 residential units has the right composi-
tion to meet demand in the years ahead. We also have consider-
able expertise within acquisitions and pre-construction work.

The trend with increased migration to major cities and
university towns continues and also provides a basis for good
demand for homes in surrounding municipalities and neigh-
bouring areas with good communications. The economy is

also continuing its positive development. Even if interest
rates are gradually raised this will occur from historically
low levels. A slightly weaker price development for housing
can be expected.

We will continue to work with a clear focus on costs that
not only provides opportunities for lower costs but also
improves our product. The new pre-construction routines now
being implemented mean that major steps can be made within
purchasing. In time a large portion of JM’s total purchasing
volumes will be covered by central purchasing agreements. A
greater degree of standardisation and increased use of com-
mon platforms will allow improved quality at a lower cost.
Record sales in 2004 and improved earnings meant that we
took key steps towards achieving our profitability target.

It is important that JM continues to be associated with
values such as quality, a long-term approach and responsibil-
ity. JM will continue to be permeated by professionalism and
customer focus.

Stockholm, March 2005

Johan Skoglund
President and CEO
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Housing sales at record levels

For the first time in JM’s history more than 4,000 residen-
tial units were sold in one year. Continued low interest
rates and housing shortages in many places contributed to
the high demand,but above all we have had our customers
with us. The past year showed that we are developing
homes and residential areas where people want to live.

I took over as JM’s CEO about two and a half years ago. Since
then we have worked hard to continue to develop attractive
homes for our customers while improving profitability. The
focus has been on three key areas: control and oversight, effi-
ciency and sales. We can now see that we have made consid-
erable progress and it is highly gratifying that this work has
yielded results. I cannot praise my colleagues enough for
their fine performance.

The extensive programme of change in recent years has
had a faster impact than expected. Our Stockholm opera-
tions, which posed the greatest challenge, have reported
improved earnings in six consecutive quarters.

Our strategy to focus on residential development proj-
ects, broaden the product range and concentrate on growth
outside Greater Stockholm, has proved successful. Today,
JM is a considerably more streamlined company that it was a
few years ago. This focus meant that during the year we con-
tinued to sell commercial properties. We also sold a number
of residential properties which contributed to a strong cash
flow and provided opportunities to reduce debt.

BEST HOUSING DEVELOPER IN THE MARKET

Working on project development means creating residential
areas from scratch. Our goal is to create housing areas that are
sought after today and for a long time ahead. Part of our

recipe for success is to give each new residential area its own
identity and a strong brand at an early stage. Some examples of
this are Liljeholmskajen and Lilla Essingen in Stockholm, the
Dockan area in Malmö, Industristaden in Uppsala, Lomma
Hamn just north of Malmö, the station area in Grefsen in Oslo
and the Islands Brygge project in Copenhagen. All of these
have been very well received by our customers. We often
involve our customers at the planning stage so that the dis-
tricts can be adapted to meet their needs as much as possible.

The purchase of a home is one of the most important
choices in life. JM aims to be the company that gives people
the best home for their money, in attractive locations and
built with the right quality and attention to detail. What we
build must be able to stand for at least 100 years.

We also seek to be the industry leader in environmental
matters which we know are important to our customers and
to make further efforts to improve our level of service and
availability. The World Wide Web, a source of inspiration for
many looking for a new home, has become a key marketing
channel. The fact that JM’s website was declared the winner
of the Web Service Award competition at the beginning of
2005, shows that our customers appreciate our efforts.

Today, we already have a large proportion of satisfied cus-
tomers which we are proud of. The customer satisfaction index
for JM in Sweden improved to 4.2 (4.0) on a five-point scale, but
we can be even better. One example of this is the opportunities
to choose fixtures and fittings where in 2005 we will present a
simplified choice process which saves time and money for both
customers and JM. A good relationship with customers is
essential particularly in the face of intensifying competition.

CONTINUED WORK ON INTERNAL IMPROVEMENTS

Improved internal control, oversight and efficiency are other
reasons for our improved earnings. Many new routines intro-
duced in 2003 had an impact in the past year such as the cen-
tralised pre-construction procedures for apartment blocks.
These procedures have now also been introduced for single-
family homes which means that our entire production is sub-
ject to central pre-construction decisions.

Responsibility for a large part of project development is
local but management is now more deeply involved in the
business and we have completely different oversight, follow-
up and control of projects. The competence of the entire
Group is utilised in key project decisions.
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2004 COMPARED WITH 2002

Sold residential units + 72%
Housing starts + 45%
Debt – 83% 
Earnings per share + 58%
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SHAREHOLDERS AT 28 FEBRUARY 2005

Shareholder % of shares 

Robur funds 8.3

SEB funds 
Gamla Livförsäkrings AB SEB Trygg Liv 6.1

AFA Försäkringar 5.2

Stefan Persson Placering AB 4.3

Handelsbanken funds 3.1

AP4 2.7

Länsförsäkringar Liv Försäkrings AB 
Länsförsäkringar funds 2.4

Enter funds 1.8

AP2 1.8

Livförsäkrings AB Skandia 1.6

Foreign shareholders 39.0

Other shareholders 23.7

Total 100.0

Number of shareholders at 28 February 2005:4,931.

CHANGES IN SHARE CAPITAL 1998–2004

New issue, Redemption of Number of Par value/ Share capital,
Year SEKm shares,SEKm shares share,SEK SEKm

1998 2.41) 33,241,000 4 133.0

2001 1.51) –13.3 30,289,363 4 121.2

2002 0.21) 30,363,614 4 121.4

2003 0.01) –9.2 28,065,407 4 112.2

2004 28,065,407 4 112.2

1)Conversion of debenture loan.

STOCKBROKERS WHO CONTINUOUSLY MONITOR JM

Company Analyst

ABG Sundal Collier Jonas Andersson

Alfred Berg ABN AMRO Lars-Åke Bokenberger

CAI Cheuvreux Nordic David Halldén

D.Carnegie Fredrik Skoglund

Enskilda Securities Erik Nyman

Handelsbanken Securities Jonas Eixmann

Merrill Lynch Bernd Stahli

Swedbank Markets Tobias Kaj

S H A R E  DATA

Favourable price trend

SHARE CAPITAL

JM shares are listed on the A list of the Stockholm Stock Ex-
change. The share capital amounts to SEK 112.2m represented
by 28.1 million shares each with a par value of SEK 4 and equal
voting rights. A trading block amounts to 200 shares.

SHAREHOLDER TARGET

JM’s shareholders should receive a higher total return, i.e.
dividends plus price appreciation on JM shares, than share-
holders in companies with similar operations and risk profiles.

SHARE PRICE TREND AND RETURN

JM shares are included in the Stockholm Stock Exchange
index “SX4040 Real Estate”. In 2004, JM’s share price rose
81%, compared with an increase of 31% for the SX4040 and an
increase for the Stockholm Stock Exchange SAX index of 18%.

The highest listed price during the year was SEK 193 on
30 December and the lowest SEK 101 on 28 January. Divi-
dend yield, i.e. proposed dividend in relation to the market
price at year-end, amounted to 3.7%. The total return in
2004 amounted to 85% (–28).

TRADING AND MARKET CAPITALISATION

In 2004 JM shares were traded to a total value of SEK 3.4 bil-
lion (2.6). Average daily trading was approximately SEK 13m
(10). The turnover rate, i.e. the liquidity of the shares, was
88% (86) during the year compared with an average for the
entire stock exchange of 81% (115). The company’s market
capitalisation amounted to SEK 5.4 billion (3.0) at year-end.

OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE

The number of shareholders at 28 February 2005 was 4,931
(4,987). The ten largest Swedish shareholders account for 37%
(48) of the number of shares and foreign shareholders for 39%
(28). The most significant change in ownership structure during
the year is the increased proportion of foreign shareholders. 

DIVIDEND POLICY

Over time, the dividend should reflect the earnings trend in
the total operating activities. The average dividend over a
business cycle should correspond to 50% of consolidated

profit after tax. Capital gains from property sales are a natu-
ral part of JM’s project development operations and there-
fore included in the calculation of dividends. The proposed
dividend for 2004 is SEK 7 (5) per share.

REDEMPTION OF SHARES 

JM prioritises active management of the consolidated balance
sheet. To the extent the visible equity ratio and interest cov-
erage are assessed as exceeding the optimal capital structure
on a continuing basis, capital will be transferred to sharehold-
ers in a form that is appropriate at the time. In addition to the
proposed increase of the dividend for 2004, JM’s Board has
proposed a redemption programme of approximately SEK 1.0
billion. The redemption programme is expected to be com-
pleted around the end of the first half of 2005.

OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE AT 31 DECEMBER 2004

No.of % of all Total no. % of
share- share- of shares share

Size of holding holders holders owned capital

1–500 3,722 81.4 483,190 1.7

501–1,000 344 7.5 284,337 1.0

1,001–5,000 267 5.8 643,517 2.3

5,001–20,000 104 2.3 1,062,014 3.8

20,001–100,000 69 1.5 3,612,431 12.9

100,001– 67 1.5 21,979,918 78.3

Total 4,573 100.0 28,065,407 100.0

SHARE PRICE TREND 1 JANUARY 2004–28 FEBRUARY 2005

SHARE DATA

SEK per share 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

Share price at 31 Dec 191.50 106 162 217.50 209

Highest price during the year 193 162 272 263 238

Lowest price during the year 101 82 150 182 143

Dividend yield at 31 Dec (%) 3.7 4.7 6.2 6.4 4.8

Market capitalisation at 31 Dec (SEKm) 5,375 2,975 4,889 6,523 6,947

Earnings after tax, total 1) 13.40 6.60 8.50 36.30 25.40

Project properties
Market value 92 114 118 212 289

Book value 80 101 94 157 194

Shareholders’ equity (reported) 125 117 121 128 113

Dividend 7.00 2) 5.00 10.00 14.00 10.00

Dividend as a % of profit after tax 52 75 118 37 39

P/E ratio at 31 Dec 14 16 19 6 8

Number of shares, 31 Dec 28,065,407 28,065,407 29,463,614 3) 29,989,363 33,241,000

1)Earnings after tax after dilution. 13.40 6.60 8.50 36.10 25.10

2) Proposed by the Board.
3) Excluding 900,000 repurchased shares.

S H A R E  DATA
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7
Strategy for high total return

BUSINESS CONCEPT

To create attractive living and working environments that 
satisfy individual needs both today and in the future. 

The business concept means that JM is a project developer
of housing and to a selective extent of commercial premises.
JM gives priority to high quality and a holistic approach in its
design. The aim is to create living and working environments
that will remain attractive over time.

VISION

JM shall be a leading developer of high-quality residential proj-
ects in the Nordic region.

OBJECTIVE FOR SHAREHOLDER VALUE

The goal is to give shareholders a higher total return, dividends
plus JM share price appreciation, than other companies with
similar operations and risk profiles.

STRATEGY

In order, within the framework of the business concept, to
achieve its vision and meet its shareholder value objective, JM
has the following strategies:
• JM will develop housing in growth areas with good demo-

graphic and socio-economic conditions over time. 
• The focus must be clearly on high quality and eco-compli-

ant homes and workplaces with a high customer value and
in attractive locations.

• Homes will mainly be sold for private ownership, but may
also include rentals.

• Project development of commercial properties will be lim-
ited and primarily support housing development.

• JM should internally secure a certain proportion of pro-
duction resources and will therefore maintain a limited
but effective construction and contracting business. How-
ever, the company’s own efficiency must always be exam-
ined in relation to costs of external production resources.

• Continued volume growth will be generated both organi-
cally and through acquisitions, with the priority of
strengthening the Group’s position in existing markets.

Growth will be achieved subject to good profitability and a
market-leading position.

• Housing starts will take place in response to guaranteed
demand as well as quality assured pre-construction and
production planning.

• JM will focus on cash flows and effective utilisation of the
balance sheet. This will be achieved by maintaining a high rate
of start-ups, implementation and sales of property projects.

ASSETS AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

JM’s ambition is to maintain over time an optimal composi-
tion of assets and capital structure, suitable for the com-
pany’s project development activities.

The building rights portfolio will be continuously opti-
mised with regard to demand trends, planned production and
tied-up capital. The balance sheet should normally not con-
tain development properties exceeding four years’ produc-
tion expressed in number of building rights.

The balance sheet item project properties will entirely com-
prise project assets and mainly consist of residential proper-
ties for project development, in the form of conversion to ten-
ant-owned apartments or densification. JM’s aim is that the
balance sheet should not contain any fully developed commer-
cial properties, these should be sold as soon as possible follow-
ing completion. The cyclical nature of commercial project
development and a varying supply of residential properties for
sale means that the item project properties can vary in size.

The equity ratio target is a simplified consequence of a more
extensive analysis where shareholders’ equity has been allo-
cated to the balance sheet’s different asset classes and types of
operations taking assessed operating risk into account.

REQUIRED RATE OF RETURN

In order to generate the highest possible shareholder value,
JM must have good knowledge of which investments are prof-
itable and achieve the Group’s required rate of return. Every
investment in a project must therefore generate a return that
covers its cost of capital. The investment’s cash flow is calcu-
lated and discounted on the basis of a required rate of return.
If the net present value of these cash flows is positive, the
investment creates value. Return requirements are set for
JM’s various operations where JM’s average required rate of
return can be simplified as a balance of JM’s costs for share-
holders’ equity and borrowed capital as follows:

cost of capital, shareholders’ equity

• Risk-free return – average return on a five-year govern-
ment bond is approximately 4%.

• Risk premium – for the risk the investor takes when invest-
ing in JM shares, the risk premium is estimated at 5.5%.

• The required rate of return on equity (risk-free return plus
risk premium) is 9.5%.

cost of capital, borrowed capital

• Risk-free return – see above 4%.
• Risk premium which is paid on loan financing is 1%.
• Tax deduction – since interest expenses reduce the profit

on which tax is paid, the actual cost is lower, with corpo-
rate tax at 28% the interest expense after tax is reduced
by 28% to 3.6%.

capital structure

• Debt/equity ratio – JM’s target is an equity ratio of 35%
over a business cycle. In the individual projects, the
debt/equity ratio is assumed, on average, to be 1.0.

The Group’s weighted cost of capital (WACC) and therefore
its basic required rate of return is 6.6%. This means that the
Group’s average investments must generate a cash flow after
payment of all operating expenses and tax, but before inter-
est expenses, of at least 6.6% of the basic investment in order
to be profitable.

6 B U S I N E S S  C O N C E P T, G O A L S  A N D  S T R AT E G I E S B U S I N E S S  C O N C E P T, G O A L S  A N D  S T R AT E G I E S

j m  d e l å r s r a p p o r t  j a n u a r i – m a r s  2 0 0 2j m  a n n u a l  r e p o r t  2 0 0 4

RETURN ON EQUITY
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Target: 35% over a business cycle.

FINANCIAL TARGETS

Profitability target – After-tax return on equity to amount
to 10–15% over a business cycle.This target reflects the long
lead times and cyclical nature of JM’s business.

Dividend target – The average dividend over a business cycle
should correspond to 50% of consolidated profit after tax.

Margin target – Operating margin to amount to 10%.

Equity ratio target – The visible equity ratio should amount
to 35% over a business cycle.To the extent the visible equity
ratio and interest coverage are assessed as exceeding the opti-
mal capital structure on a lasting basis, capital will be trans-
ferred to shareholders in a form that is appropriate at the time.



JM in pictures

Every year we break ground for thousands of new homes in

Sweden,Norway,Denmark and Belgium.In the centre of town or

out in the countryside.Close to water or open spaces.Apartments,

terraced and detached houses – for young people,the elderly,

families with children and singles.Everyone looking for high

standard housing should be able to find something to suit them.

A place where they will feel at home.

8
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P1

Project: Hagalid (phase 1)  ·  Place: Staffanstorp ·  Municipality: Staffanstorp  ·  Type of housing: Detached houses with freehold  ·  Number: 111 (6 phases)
Size:4–5 rooms,105–133 sq.m. ·  Location:Central  ·  Communications:Bus  ·  Distance to Malmö and Lund:15 and 10 km respectively
Completion: 2004 (phase 1)  ·  Architect: Marie Ericsson



P3
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Project:Rickomberga Gård (phase 2 of 4)  ·  Place:Rickomberga  ·  Municipality:Uppsala  ·  Type of housing: Apartment blocks  ·  Number of units: 25
Size:1–4 rooms,41–129 sq.m. ·  Location:Close to nature  ·  Communications: Bus  ·  Distance to central Uppsala: 2 km  ·  Completion: 2003
Architect: Mathias Ocklind, Arosgruppen Arkitekter AB

Project:Hägernäs Strand  ·  Place:Täby  ·  Municipality:Täby  ·  Type of housing: Apartment blocks  ·  Number of units: Approximately 600 (10 phases)
Size:1–6 rooms, c. 45–168 sq.m. ·  Location: Close to water  ·  Communications: Bus, train  ·  Distance to Täby shopping centre: 4 km
Completion: 2009  ·  Architect: Hederus Malmström,et al.

Projekt: Paradsängen  ·  Ort: Hässelby strand  ·  Kommun: Stockholm  ·  Bostadstyp: Lägenheter  ·  Antal bostäder:117  ·  Storlekar: 1–4 rok,39–98 m2

Läge: Sjönära  ·  Kommunikationer: Tunnelbana  ·  Avstånd till Stockholm: 10 km  ·  Färdigställt: Våren 2003  ·  Arkitekt: Sundell Arkitekter 

j m  a n n u a l  r e p o r t  2 0 0 4

P2

Project: Arne Garborgsvei Barnehage  ·  Place:Tønsberg    
Municipality: Stokke,Norway  ·  Type of project: Day nursery    
Size:555 sq.m. ·  Location: Close to nature  ·  Communications: Road
Distance to Tønsberg:15 km  ·  Completion: 2004    
Architect: Byggholt AS/Tore Moen

Project: Hammarby Park tenant-owner co-operative  ·  Place: Stockholm
Municipality: Stockholm  ·  Type of housing: Apartment blocks
Number of units:72  ·  Size:2–5 rooms, 60–114 sq.m.
Location:Central, close to water  ·  Communications:Tram,bus,boat
Distance to central Stockholm:3 km  ·  Completion:2003  
Architect: Pietro Raffone, Arkitekturkompaniet AB



Projekt: Hägernäs  ·  Ort:Täby  ·  Kommun: Täby  ·  Bostadstyp: XX  ·  Antal bostäder: 32  ·  Storlekar: 159–167 m2 ·  Läge: Sjönära
Kommunikationer: Buss  ·  Avstånd till Stockholm: 25 km  ·  Färdigställt: 2004  ·  Arkitekt:XXX

P4
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Project: Ankaret tenant-owner co-operative  ·  Place: Örebro  ·  Municipality: Örebro  ·  Type of housing: Apartment blocks  ·  Number of units: 63 
Size: 2–5 rooms,59–134 sq.m. ·  Location: Harbour area by Svartån  ·  Communications: Bus  ·  Distance to centre: 0 km  ·  Completion: 2004
Architect: Brunnberg & Forshed

P5

Project: Designconcept  ·  Place: Stavanger  ·  Municipality: Stavanger,Norway  ·  Type of housing: Semi-detached houses  ·  Number: 20
Size: Approximately 60 sq.m. ·  Location: Close to water  ·  Communications: Bus  ·  Distance to Stavanger: 3 km  ·  Completion: 2004
Architect: Mikal Hafsahi



Project: Danviks Strand · Place:Nacka · Municipality: Nacka · Type of housing: Apartment blocks · Number of units: 108 · Size:1–5 rooms,49–152 sq.m.
Location:Close to water · Communications: Bus, train · Distance to central Stockholm: 3 km · Completion:2005 · Architect: Cinnober Arkitekter

Project: Solberga Gård (conversion)  ·  Place: Älvsjö  ·  Municipality:
Stockholm  ·  Type of housing: Apartment blocks  ·  Number of units: 166
Size: 1–5 rooms,33.5–141 sq.m. ·  Location: Inner suburb  
Communications: Bus, commuter trains  ·  Distance to Älvsjö Station:
400 m  ·  Completion: 2004  ·  Architect: Arkitekter Engstrand och Speek AB

Project: Åhavnen  ·  Place: Køge  ·  Municipality: Køge,Denmark  ·  Type
of housing:Tenant-owned, terraced houses and apartments  ·  Number of
units: 40 (phase 1) and 46 (phase 2)  ·  Size:2–5 rooms,85–161 sq.m.
Location: Harbour area  ·  Communications: Bus, commuter trains 
Distance to centre: 500 m (Copenhagen 45 km)  ·  Completion: 2004
(phase 1) and 2007 (phase 2)  ·  Architect: CF Møllers Tegnestue

Project: Kanbergsparken  ·  Place: Linköping  ·  Municipality: Linköping  ·  Type of housing: Apartment blocks  ·  Number of units: 28
Size:3–4 rooms,97–133 sq.m. ·  Location: Central park area  ·  Distance to centre: 700 m  ·  Completion:2004 (phase 3 of 4)
Architect: Eva-Carin Jagefelt, Sonark Arkitektkontor

P6
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P7

Project: Science 14  ·  Place: Brussels  ·  Municipality: Brussels,Belgium
Type of project:Commercial  ·  Size: 11,000 sq.m. ·  Location: EU district
Communications: Bus, train, underground  ·  Distance to centre:2 km
Completion: 2004  ·  Architect: B.O.A.
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JM’s core business

10

12

15

16

17

18

20

21

24

28

JM’S CORE BUSINESS

MARKET OVERVIEW

Major ongoing housing projects in Greater Stockholm

JM’S RESIDENTIAL BUILDING RIGHTS

Market valuation – residential building rights

JM’S PROJECT PROPERTIES

Market valuation – project properties

COMPETENCE AND RESOURCES

RISKS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
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Project: Lindallén tenant-owner co-operative  ·  Place: Långbro Park,Älvsjö  ·  Municipality: Stockholm  ·  Type of housing: Apartment blocks
Number of units: 64  ·  Size: 2–4 rooms,65–105 sq.m. ·  Location:Park  ·  Communications: Bus,underground, commuter trains  
Distance to central Stockholm: 7 km  ·  Completion: 2004  ·  Architect:Olof Lotström, ÅWL Arkitekter

P8
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Valuation creation through
project development

JM has many years of experience and considerable expert-
ise in project development of both housing and commer-
cial premises,and plays a leading role in customer orienta-
tion as well as quality and environmental work.These are
important prerequisites for a successful project develop-
ment company.

HIGH SALES VITAL FOR PROJECT DEVELOPMENT

Housing development projects involve a continuous process
of acquiring land or older projects for development, develop-
ing and selling. Projects are often capital-intensive and
involve a number of phases in which value can be added.  

JM’s strategy is to maintain a high sales rate in order to
release capital for new strategic investments.

SEVERAL YEARS FROM CONCEPT TO OCCUPANCY

Housing development projects involve a close interplay
between market and production processes. Market surveys are
conducted regularly to analyse customer preferences with
regard to type of housing, design and local services. These sur-
veys are an important basis for decision both ahead of land

acquisitions and before project starts.
Before production can start customers must have reserved

a certain proportion of the planned residential units. JM’s in-
volvement continues approximately two years after occu-
pancy, when management responsibility for the property is
transferred to the tenant-owner co-operative.

HOW LAND VALUES ARISE 

Land and building rights can be said to be the options of the
property market. When the sales price for a tenant-owned
unit or the market rent for commercial premises do not pro-
vide a return on the construction investment, the building
right has a very low value. When the sales price/market rent
is high, the building right acquires a high value. Land value is
in principle the residual value between the value of the com-
pleted building and the production cost of the building.

Small fluctuations in the sales price can lead to major vari-
ations in land value. The example below, a fictitious housing
project in a Stockholm suburb, shows that an increase in the
sales price of SEK 2,000 per sq.m. (9%) means that the land
value increases by approximately SEK 1,000 per sq.m. or 33%.

LEVERAGE, LAND VALUE

Sales price SEK/sq.m. 23,000 25,000

Construction cost SEK/sq.m. –17,000 –17,000

Land value scope 6,000 8,000

Development risk 1) –3,000 –4,000

Residual land value 3,000 4,000

1) Development risk, i.e. the risk associated with market development, planning issues,
environmental considerations and final production costs, approximately 50% of esti-
mated surplus value of project.

J M ’ S  C O R E  B U S I N E S S

PROJECT DEVELOPMENT

ACQUISITION

Project
conception

Planning

Pre-
construction

FinancingSALE/LEASE

Production

Occupancy

Management

Year

10 2 3 4 5 6 7

Project
conception

Planning

Conception phase

1) Timing is indicative and can vary considerably in different projects.

Market process Production process

Market survey

Pricing

Reservations

Sales

Customisation

Occupancy/Living

Appeals

Detailed plan/
building permit

Pre-construction

Production

Advance reservations required
for production start

Management for 
tentant-owner co-operative

PROCESSES IN A HOUSING PROJECT1)
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LAND VALUE RISES DURING PLANNING PROCESS

Land value development is affected by general macroeconomic
factors, primarily inflation and interest rates, general develop-
ment in the region and the planning process. The planning
process depends on how active the property owner is as well as
the municipal planning process and any objections. Project
development companies like JM can influence future land
usage and value through co-operation with the municipality.
During the planning process, the land value rises in stages as

the project takes form and uncertainties are eliminated. The
full land value is attained when the detailed plan is approved
and a building permit obtained. Value development during the
planning process can be considerable when raw land is con-
verted into a finished building right. It usually takes one to five
years to obtain a legally binding, i.e. approved, detailed plan.
Good planning and active work on both existing and potential
development properties are important. JM also acquires
developed properties that can be further developed into
attractive homes or modern offices. Here JM creates growth in
value through densification, conversion into tenant-owner co-
operatives, planned demolition, or conversion and extension. 

FOCUS ON CASH FLOW

Efficient cash flow management is essential since JM’s projects
are capital-intensive and long-term. JM’s organisation is built
up to support and stimulate an optimal cash flow approach in
all project phases and thus achieve maximised value develop-
ment in the Group. While a project is under way a number of
decisions are made which have a major impact on cash flow.

When JM acquires land it is recognised in the balance
sheet. When production starts land is transferred from the
balance sheet into the respective project phase. The land is
then sold to a tenant-owner co-operative formed by JM at the
start of production or after a purchasing and contracting
agreement has been signed between JM and the co-operative.
JM invoices the co-operative regularly while the project is
under way according to an agreed payment plan. The tenant-
owner co-operative finances the land acquisition and contract
work with a building loan.

Any unsold residential units on the day contract work is
finally settled are purchased by JM at the price set in the co-
operative’s financial plan. JM then sells them at market prices.

J M ’ S  C O R E  B U S I N E S S

Value

Time

Acquisition
decision

Building decision

Price decision
(commercial premises)    

Price decision (residential units)

Sales decision

Concept and
planning

Construction

Management

PROJECT DEVELOPMENT VALUE CHAIN

Land value

Detailed planning

General

planning

Planning
phase

Building
permit

Detailed planGeneral planRaw land

APPROVED DETAILED PLAN RAISES LAND VALUE

CASH FLOW IN HOUSING DEVELOPMENT

Toc pays for land JM invoices toc Final invoice
JM sells any acquired

residential units

Payments in

Payments out

JM acquires land Production costs JM acquires any unsold
residential unitsAcquisition decision Contractor and purchase contract signed between JM and toc

Production start decision

Toc = Tenant-owner co-operative



owned apartments in these markets. The main competitors are
HSB, NCC, Peab, Riksbyggen and Skanska, all of which oper-
ate throughout Sweden. The competitive scenario is normally
complemented by small, local companies in each market.

norway

JM’s operations in Norway are conducted under the Byggholt
and Seniorbo brands in the Oslo region, Vestfold, Grenland,
Bergen and Stavanger. JM’s market share varies between sub-
markets and amounts to an average of approximately 10%. In
all regions where JM operates the local housing co-operative
is a key player. Other major players include the nationwide
companies Block Watne, Skanska and Veidekke and, in the
Oslo region, NCC and Selvaag. In addition, a number of
financial players are involved in residential project develop-
ment. These account for a significant part of the market.
Housing supplies increased in 2004 and are expected to rise
in 2005 as well. JM’s building rights in Norway are largely
available through conditional acquisition.

denmark

In Denmark, JM’s operations are focused on Copenhagen and
Frederiksberg. Approximately 1,400 residential units were
completed in 2004 compared with approximately 800 in the
previous year. The market is characterised by strong demand
and relatively substantial price rises. JM remains one of the
five largest players in the Copenhagen region with a market
share of 10–15%. The main competitors are Kuben, NCC
Ejerboliger, Nordicom and Sjælsø Group. Competition has
increased in recent years and housing supplies are expected
to increase in 2005.

belgium

In Belgium, JM is currently producing residential units in
the Brussels region. An extension of these operations to
Namur, 70 km from Brussels, is planned. In the Brussels
region the customer base principally comprises national and
international organisations, as well as private individuals and
companies and institutions that invest in residential proper-
ties in order to rent them out. JM’s market share is 5–10%.
Some ten competitors include Bernheim, CFE, CIB, Strabag
and Thomas & Piron.

jm’s residential offering in sweden

More than 85% of JM’s residential units in Sweden comprise
tenant-owned apartments in apartment blocks. The propor-
tion of units for which sales had started with a living area of
less than 100 sq.m continued to rise in 2004. This applies in
particular to Stockholm where there is demand for small and
medium-sized apartments.

As a result of JM’s higher number of small apartments in
Stockholm, the average price has fallen in recent years. In the
rest of Sweden, JM’s residential units in terms of size have
remained relatively unchanged in recent years and increased
demand has instead led to slightly higher prices. In 2004
approximately 60% of tenant-owned apartments on which
sales had started were priced at between SEK 1m and 2m,
less than 5% cost more than SEK 3m.

Most buyers have their own initial funding. Approxi-
mately 80% of buyers come from another tenant-owned
apartment or house while approximately 18% come from
rental apartments.

M A R K E T  O V E RV I E W  
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Strong housing markets
throughout the Nordic region

JM builds homes in metropolitan areas and other
growth areas in Sweden, Norway, Denmark and Bel-
gium. Strong demand and a broad product range con-
tributed to continued good sales and many housing
starts in 2004.

HOUSING

New housing production increased in 2004 and there are
many signs that this upturn will continue, including forecasts
of rising GDP growth and low interest rates. Forecasts for
demographic development and housing construction, how-
ever, indicate continued imbalances and housing shortages in
many growth regions. In Sweden, JM’s largest market, accord-
ing to the National Board of Housing, Building and Planning
approximately 60% of the population lives in places with very
high housing demand.

growth creates attractive housing markets

Development in the housing market depends on a number of
factors. These include the region’s demographic development,
the age structure of the population, changes in demand
regarding the size and location of homes, infrastructure

investments and commuter patterns. Demographic growth is
the parameter that has the greatest impact on demand and
this varies substantially between districts and regions.

JM develops housing in several regions and must follow the
local market and development.

price trend – second-hand market

The price trend in the second-hand market has an impact on
pricing of newly produced housing. The reason is the rela-
tively low new production volumes – there are more “second-
hand” homes available than new ones.

Average prices for tenant-owned apartments have risen for
a number of years, substantially in some areas. In general,
prices are expected to stabilise in 2005 mainly due to expec-
tations of rising interest rates. Continued price increases are
expected, however, in several markets. These include Malmö,
where the housing market is affected by proximity to Copen-
hagen where price levels are considerably higher. In Copen-
hagen there is high demand for housing due to a large influx
of people and relatively low new production. In Norway,
price development is driven by a large number of people
moving into major cities and low interest rates but also by
rising incomes. Prices are expected to continue to rise.

sweden

JM is Sweden’s largest housing project developer. Operations
are conducted under the brands JM, Seniorgården and Borätt
in metropolitan areas and surrounding areas and in university
towns. The largest local markets are Stockholm, Gothenburg
and Malmö/Lund with surrounding areas and Uppsala. JM has
a market share of 30–40% for new production of tenant-

M A R K E T  O V E RV I E W  
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JM’S TWO CUSTOMER GROUPS
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MAJOR ONGOING HOUSING PROJECTS IN GREATER STOCKHOLM1)

Housing project development in Greater Stockholm accounts for approxi-
mately 40% of JM’s net sales.The map shows some of JM’s ongoing housing
projects.They correspond to a total of approximately 4,300 new residential

units or 47% of the building rights portfolio in Greater Stockholm. Of JM’s
planned residential units,approximately 80% are within 30 minutes commut-
ing time from the centre of Stockholm by public transport.More than half of
the planned residential units are in locations close to water.

E4

E4

E18

E18

E18

Stockholm

Sundbyberg

Nacka

Solna

Älvsjö

Danderyd

Täby

SollentunaJakobsberg

Lidingö

31

30

33

28

27

29

26

32

M A R K E T  O V E RV I E W  14

j m  d e l å r s r a p p o r t  j a n u a r i – m a r s  2 0 0 2j m  a n n u a l  r e p o r t  2 0 0 4

M A R K E T  O V E RV I E W  

JM’S PLANNED HOUSING IN GREATER STOCKHOLM – TRAVELLING TIMES TO CITY CENTRE1) AND LOCATIONS CLOSE TO WATER
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1) Travelling time in minutes to Stockholm’s Central Station by public transport.
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RESIDENTIAL AND COMMERCIAL PROPERTIES

good market for residential properties

The market for residential properties in Greater Stockholm
has showed positive development for many years under-
pinned by strong demand, low vacancies and low housing
production. According to the Swedish Property Index (SFI)
residential properties have provided the best total return of
all property investments over the past three years.

Rental levels in properties with tenancy rights as form of
tenure are controlled by the utility value system, a principle
that means that rental development is linked to the cost
development in the municipal housing company in the loca-
tion concerned. Opportunities for large increases in value in
the short-term are small, as is the risk of a major fall in value.

There is considerable interest in buying residential prop-
erties both among property investors and from tenant-owner
co-operatives formed by residents in rented apartments. All

in all this has led to rising prices for residential properties.
Yield requirements have increased both in Stockholm’s inner
city and in the suburbs.

more stable market for commercial properties

Stockholm’s commercial market stabilised in several sub-mar-
kets during 2004 with regard to both rental levels and vacancy
rates. There are, however, substantial differences between dif-
ferent sub-markets and types of property. Tenants are demand-
ing modern and space-efficient premises and it is these proper-
ties that attract the greatest interest from investors. The main
characteristics of sold properties are that they are in prime
locations in the city centre or in attractive inner suburbs, mod-
ern/totally converted and contain tenants with long leases. In
Stockholm’s inner city the vacancy rate for modern offices fell
from 7% to 6% while the vacancy rate for office premises that
have not been modernised rose from 11% to 14%.

Number of 
Project Municipality remaining building rights Development period

26 Långbro Stockholm 475    2000–2010

27 Essinge Udde Stockholm 150    2001–2007

28 Bolinder Strand Järfälla 400    2001–2009

29 Liljeholmskajen Stockholm 2,180    2001–2012

30 Hägernäs Täby 400    2001–2009

31 Silverdal Sollentuna 100    2001–2008

32 Västra Daggkåpan Nacka 110    2000–2007

33 Norra Frösunda Solna 510    2001–2011

Total 4,325
1) Numbered according to specification of JM’s properties on page 97.
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J M ’ S  B U I L D I N G  R I G H T S

22,000 new residential 
units planned

JM invests continuously in land that can be developed for
future production. More than 40% of the building rights
are located in Greater Stockholm.

In its balance sheet JM recognises development properties
comprising some 13,000 residential building rights. JM also
has building rights for about 8,900 residential units through
conditional acquisition or co-operation agreements. These are
not recognised in the balance sheet and in many cases JM can
decide both if and when the land should be purchased. There
are also some 3,000 residential building rights in the balance
sheet that JM does not intend to implement within the next
5–6 years. These may be building rights to be sold or large proj-
ects with a high degree of uncertainty over rate of expansion
and development level, etc. JM does not include these in its
reported available building rights portfolio.

good long-term planning in building rights portfolio

The number of residential building rights at different plan-
ning phases is constantly changing. The detailed planning
phase covers the time from when work starts on the detailed

plan until a building permit application is submitted. The
high number of residential units at the detailed planning
phase means that JM is well placed to maintain a high level of
housing starts over the next few years. It takes between one
and five years for a detailed plan to be adopted. After plan
adoption, it can take more time before production can start.

good structure in building rights portfolio

Increased prices for tenant-owned apartments and single-
family homes have led to people seeking homes further out-
side the largest towns. Improved communications have also
enabled longer commuting distances. This enlargement of the
regions has made new housing markets attractive. Buyers of
new homes place high demands on good communications but
there is also demand for homes located close to water. Many
of JM’s planned residential units meet these requirements. 

JM’S AVAILABLE RESIDENTIAL BUILDING RIGHTS

Region Number of building rights

Greater Stockholm excl. Sigtuna,Vallentuna,Norrtälje 9,100

Malmö/Lund/Helsingborg/Halmstad 2,700

Greater Gothenburg 2,050

Uppsala incl. Sigtuna,Vallentuna,Norrtälje 1,400

Västerås, Linköping, Jönköping,Örebro 1,250

Oslo area,Bergen, Stavanger 4,200

Greater Copenhagen 900

Brussels 300

Total (approximately) 21,900
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MARKET VALUATION – RESIDENTIAL BUILDING RIGHTS

J M ’ S  B U I L D I N G  R I G H T S

At year-end 2004, Newsec Analys performed a valuation of all
JM’s residential development properties. The appraisals are
made based on an assumed sales price for the properties at
actual cash values, whereby future development gains are not
taken into account. The valuations are based on the location,
attractiveness, scope and type of building planned, the stage in
the planning process and the time remaining until production
starts.

The assessed market value of JM’s residential development
properties amounts to SEK 3,895m (4,785).The corresponding
book value is SEK 2,783m (3,439).The approximately 8,900 resi-
dential units available through conditional acquisitions were not
included in the appraisal.

Market value breakdown is as follows:

SEKm Market value Book value

Stockholm 2,209 1,702

Rest of Sweden 1,035 687

International 651 394

Total 3,895 2,783

Some of the development properties have old existing buildings
that generate operating net and are planned to be renovated or
demolished in the future. The valuation of these buildings is
based on current rental revenue and future use taking costs for
essential conversion and extension into account. The market
value of these buildings amounts to SEK 83m (116) and is in-
cluded in the above summary.

Newsec has assessed the properties’ locations and attractive-
ness in four classes, A–D. An A location represents a prime site in

the housing market concerned and includes good communica-
tions,proximity to commercial services as well as locations close
to water. Class B is a good to normal location in the respective
housing market. Class C indicates a housing location slightly fur-
ther from communications and commercial services, while D
locations are in peripheral areas in the housing market. The
phases of the planning process have also been classified by
Newsec into four planning phases: raw land, general plan,detailed
plan and building permit.The diagrams below show a breakdown
of the value of JM’s development properties into different loca-
tions and planning phases.The detailed planning phase covers the
period from the start of detailed planning work until application
for a building permit.

MARKET VALUE,
RESIDENTIAL BUILDING RIGHTS, GREATER STOCKHOLM

MARKET VALUE,
RESIDENTIAL BUILDING RIGHTS, REST OF SWEDEN

MARKET VALUE,
RESIDENTIAL BUILDING RIGHTS, INTERNATIONAL
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NUMBER OF RESIDENTIAL UNITS AT 
DIFFERENT PLANNING PHASES, REST OF SWEDEN

NUMBER OF RESIDENTIAL UNITS AT 
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Strong interest in 
residential properties

JM’s project development of residential portfolios and
commercial premises is concentrated to Greater Stock-
holm.There is strong interest in buying properties with
particularly good demand for residential properties.
Several sales were completed in 2004.

JM’S RESIDENTIAL PORTFOLIO 

During the year JM continued its work to develop the two
large residential portfolios in Nacka and Vaxholm that were
acquired in 2003. In Älta, together with the municipality JM
has drawn up a proposed programme for the Älta shopping
centre and the surrounding area with ideas and proposals for
new housing development, development of the centre and the
immediate environment. The proposed programme contains
500–600 new apartments. New residential construction is an
important prerequisite for maintaining good local services in
this area. Detailed planning work is expected to start in
spring/summer 2005.

Discussions have also been held with the municipal authori-
ties about developing the portfolio in Vaxholm.

SALES OF RESIDENTIAL PROPERTIES

JM also completed a number of sales of individual properties
to tenant-owner co-operatives formed by the residents. In
2004, 10 properties were sold to tenant-owner co-operatives
in Vaxholm and Nacka, comprising a total of about 480 apart-
ments and a sales value of SEK 492m.

J M ’ S  P RO J E C T  P RO P E RT I E S

JM’S COMMERCIAL PROPERTIES

JM’s commercial properties mainly comprise development proj-
ects in Greater Stockholm and Brussels. A large number of JM’s
fully developed properties have been sold over the last five years.

The portfolio of project properties is divided into fully
developed properties and properties under development.
Commercial properties have a total space for approximately
103,000 sq.m.

Additional information is provided in the property speci-
fication and descriptive diagrams on pages 93–98.

fully developed commercial properties

The portfolio of fully developed properties continued to
decrease. The remaining portfolio comprises 50,000 sq.m.
and is concentrated to Stockholm’s inner city and northern
suburbs, Uppsala and Lund. JM’s portfolio of fully developed
properties outside Sweden consists of properties in Norway.

The occupancy rate is generally very high in JM’s proper-
ties. The annual rental vacancies are less than SEK 10m, and
more than 90% of these are related to one property, Paradiset
23 in Kungsholmen, Stockholm.

commercial properties under development

Commercial project development is to be conducted with
continued considerable caution. During the year work
focused on leasing out Barnängen and development/leasing
out an office project in Lidingö. For Barnängen the occu-
pancy rate is unchanged at 70%. In the property in Lidingö
the occupancy rate increased to just over 90% (70).

JM’s largest commercial project in Brussels on rue de la
Science, 11,000 sq.m., was completed in 2004 and leasing

and sales work is now under way.
JM also has prime sites for project development of offices,

primarily in Norra Frösunda in Solna. Building rights total
approximately 120,000 sq.m.

SALES OF COMMERCIAL PROPERTIES

In March 2004 JM sold the newly developed office property
Skogskarlen 2 in Solna to the German property fund DEKA.
In addition, two small project properties were sold in 2004.
See further table on page 18.

PROPOSED PROGRAMME FOR ÄLTA COMPLETED
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In 2003 JM acquired a large residential portfolio in the
Stockholm suburb of Älta. A proposed programme for 
new production of 500–600 residential units and other
development of the area was drawn up in 2004.

Existing buildings

Proposed buildings

JM’S PROPERTY SALES
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PROPERTY SALES IN 2004

Property Location Purchase price,SEKm Space,sq.m. Capital gain,SEKm

Skogskarlen 2 Stockholm 390 12,300 55

Residential properties sold to tenant-owner co-operatives Vaxholm 294 20,968 63

Residential properties sold to tenant-owner co-operatives Nacka 198 15,490 22

Other project properties 63 6,907 7

Development properties 73 – 17

Total 1,018 55,665 164

OFFICE RENTALS AND VACANCIES IN CENTRAL STOCKHOLM

Barnängen office property in Södermalm,Stockholm.
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MARKET VALUATION – PROJECT PROPERTIES

Newsec Analys made an assessment of the market value of JM’s
project properties at year-end 2004.The valuations were per-
formed as regular cash flow analyses where the market value is
calculated as the sum of the present value of annual net payment
flows during the calculation period and the present value of 
the market value at the end of the calculation period, i.e. its
residual value. The valuations were performed in accordance
with the Swedish Property Index (SFI) rules.

The valuations are based on surveys conducted in 2003–
2004 and individual assessment of each property’s prerequi-
sites.

In assessments of the market value of properties which are
under construction or are intended for further development,
the market value was based on market revenues and costs in a
completed state, minus the assessed remaining construction
costs and with deductions for uncertainty, risk and reasonable
project gains.

The following value factors were used in the assessment of
market value:

Direct yield
Market Estimated requirement

rent offices, long-term for residual
Sub-market SEK/sq.m. vacancy,% value,%

Stockholm 1,500–2,300 5–10 7–8.5

Rest of Sweden 1,000–1,500 5–10 7.75–9.5

International (Brussels) 1,900–2,100 5 5.75–6.5

Residential properties in 
Greater Stockholm – 0–1 4.5–5.5

The large spreads of assessed market rent are due to variations
as regards the standard, location and attractiveness of the prem-
ises.

Overall, JM’s project properties are appraised at a market value of
SEK 2,576m at year-end 2004.The book value was SEK 2,246m.
Market value is broken down as follows:

SEKm Market value Book value

Residential units (rented apartments) 1,272 1,078

Commercial properties under development 720 671

Fully developed commercial properties 584 497

Total project properties 2,576 2,246

Focus on both systems 
and individuals

JM makes significant efforts to raise employees’ knowl-
edge, develop good leaders and support professional
and personal development.Major efforts are also made
with systems and processes that safeguard the com-
pany’s overall competence.

A project development organisation must control all roles
and all stages of the value chain, from acquisition of land to
pre-construction, production and sales. The phases that pre-
cede the start of production can be compared to specialised
investment, product development and concept selling activi-
ties. Subsequently, customised, rational building production
and active sales must go hand-in-hand. Success depends on
long experience and the ability to achieve an effective inter-
play between a variety of leading-edge and broad competen-
cies. It is a major asset for JM to have so many competent
employees who have been with the company for a long time.

INTERPLAY BETWEEN LEADING-EDGE

AND BROAD COMPETENCE

At the end of 2004, JM had 2,155 employees of whom 1,025
salaried employees and 1,130 wage-earners. Over 85% of

employees belong to JM’s operations in Sweden. In Denmark
and Belgium, JM uses external wage-earners which explains
the low number of employees in these markets.

Most of the salaried employees belong to a project organisa-
tion which was set up for one of the ongoing projects. The
project manager has, for the industry, a broad area of respon-
sibility which includes product design, market analyses, pur-
chasing, economics, production, quality and sales.

At his side the project manager has a pre-construction
manager, the site manager and sales teams for homes and fix-
tures and fittings. The project often shares specialist compe-
tence within calculation and purchasing with other projects.
JM’s wage-earners, in addition to skilled craftsmanship, are
also subject to high demands on service and customer rela-
tions since JM’s customers visit the building sites both
before and after buying.

The proportion of salaried employees with university
degrees amounts to 25%. The average employment period
among salaried employees is 12.5 years and 11.5 years among
wage-earners.

STRUCTURAL CAPITAL

Structural capital, the intellectual capital at the disposal of a
company regardless of its employees, within JM mainly com-
prises the Operations System, an overall management sys-
tem which has been in place since 1999. The Operations Sys-
tem includes the quality and environmental management
systems as well as other strategic sub-systems such as pre-
construction procedures and strategic purchasing agree-
ments.

Norway, 227 employees

Belgium, 13 employees

Denmark, 26 employees

Sweden, 1,889 employees

Employees per country 2004

MOST EMPLOYEES IN SWEDEN

20 21C O M P E T E N C E  A N D  R E S O U R C E S
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involvement of the construction companies and the design of
the study programme. Throughout the entire education
period one month’s theory is alternated with one month’s
practical experience at an ongoing building project. The pro-
gramme follows the upper secondary schools’ general study
plan.

During the study programme the students are guaranteed
apprenticeships at JM until completion of their education.
All students have a supervisor at JM who accompanies them
throughout their training period. If the supervisor changes
workplace, the student does the same. The supervisors have
been trained by JM for this assignment and also have a men-
tor responsibility for the student’s studies in the theoretical
core subjects. JM has ongoing responsibility for about 25
students. At the end of 2004, 33 students were offered
employment as a result of this co-operation.

EDUCATION TO MEET COMPETENCE REQUIREMENTS

JM’s investments in education total approximately SEK 10m
per year. The study programmes offered are designed to meet
the skills required by each position. For example, the training
programme for a pre-construction manager has 15 different
courses, for a site manager nearly 20 and for trainees more
than 10. The average training period is approximately 4 days a
year for salaried employees. The company’s own teaching
resources are used to a high extent. Further training for wage-
earners mainly consists of job rotation and practical work.

EXPERT GROUPS USED FOR KNOWLEDGE FEEDBACK

Expert groups are one example of how JM works with knowl-
edge feedback. The groups consist of JM’s principal employ-
ees within pre-construction, production and installation and
their task is to examine all new projects both before and
after the start of production and to submit proposals and
views on changes and improvements. At the same time as the
expert groups ensure that the company’s best knowledge is
available for the project, development that takes place locally
in a project can also be fed back, documented and spread.
These project examinations are penetrating.

CAREER OPPORTUNITIES FOR MANY 

DIFFERENT OCCUPATIONAL GROUPS

JM’s operations extend over the entire value chain within
project development and offer career opportunities for a

number of different occupational groups. The normal career
path for a salaried employee is either to focus on production
(foreman, site engineer, site manager, works manager or pro-
duction manager) or on project development (site engineer,
assistant project manager, pre-construction manager, project
manager or regional manager). Wage-earners can make a
career as team leader, foreman or site manager.

LEADERSHIP DEVELOPMENT AND SUPPLY

As already mentioned, JM works principally with internal
recruitment and this also applies to managers and leaders.
The reason is the excellent opportunities for individual
development within the company, at the same time as the
corporate culture is strengthened and knowledge of the busi-
ness retained. External influences are important, however,
and managerial responsibility includes ensuring that such
influences are added to the organisation in other ways than
through recruitment.

Leadership development has a clear practical profile:
potential managers are given gradually greater areas of
responsibility and training is put in when needed. JM’s
three-year trainee programme is one way of ensuring the
supply of leaders. Even at this stage the company tries to
recruit employees with leadership potential. The trainee
programme has been operated since 1994.

All JM’s managers are tasked with identifying future lead-
ers. All identified managerial candidates, normally some 70
employees, are presented each year to group management by
their regional manager. The intention is to raise awareness of
managerial candidates and also to be able to follow their
development more easily from year to year. Having such a
large base of future managers also safeguards leadership 
supply.
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The Operations System was developed to ensure a common
method of working in all JM’s projects, to allow effective
control and oversight and to spread the organisation’s overall
competence. The Operations System contains control docu-
ments and guidelines for all stages of JM’s core business. Sig-
nificant structural capital also exists in JM’s finance and
business systems and in some IT systems specially developed
for JM.

ADEQUATE COMPETENCE FOR THE TASK

JM works with a high degree of delegated responsibility and
is therefore dependent on employees really possessing the
competence their duties demand, today and in the future.
The fact that JM also normally applies internal recruitment
underscores the importance of competence development.

Substantial efforts are made annually to raise employees’
knowledge, develop good managers and support professional
and personal development. For example, in recent years
approximately 200 project managers have attended a training
programme in business skills, approximately 200 people have
received diplomas as site managers and more than 100
employees have attended the basic environmental training
course.

Naturally it is also important that employees enjoy their
work and develop in their roles. Surveys conducted have gen-
erally shown substantial well-being. An open organisation
where individual employees are visible and given responsi-
bility and authority at an early stage, as well as the invest-
ments in competence development are opinions normally
expressed.

THREE-YEAR PLANNING IN PERFORMANCE REVIEWS

Starting in 2004 JM introduced a new form for performance
reviews and extended the planning horizon from one to three
years. The intention here is to increase both employee secu-
rity – what is expected of me? and the Group’s knowledge –
what do the employees expect from JM? Follow-up will also
be improved with the new model. Every performance review
must result in a documented development plan.

BUILDING COLLEGE IN STOCKHOLM

In order to ensure access to skilled craftsmen in Stockholm,
JM has established a co-operation with Rönninge Upper Sec-
ondary School south of Stockholm and its 3-year building
programme for wood and concrete construction workers.
This building training is unique of its kind both through the
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Trainee (3 years)

Number of employees
(figures relate to JM in Sweden)

Assistant project manager 

Assistant pre-construction manager 

Site engineer/site manager small projects 

Approximately 250 

Project manager

Pre-construction manager

Site manager

Approximately 150 

Senior project manager

Senior pre-construction manager

Site manager large projects

Approximately 10 

Regional manager

Examples of career paths

Competence development efforts

Mentor year 2

Performance review with focus on next 3 years

Education

Annual evaluation of potential managers

Job rotation

COMPETENCE AND MANAGEMENT DEVELOPMENT WITHIN JM COMPRISING APPROXIMATELY 400 PEOPLE

Competence and management development are of major importance since JM works with a high degree of delegated responsibility and primarily applies
internal recruitment to leading positions. An extensive education program,performance reviews with a focus on the next three years and annual evaluations
of potential managerial candidates are key items.

EMPLOYEE STRUCTURE 2004 2003

Number of employees 2,155 2,368

– number of salaried employees 1,025 1,090

– number of wage-earners 1,130 1,278

Average age, salaried employees 42 44

Average age,wage-earners 38 40

Proportion of graduates among salaried employees,% 25 25

Proportion of women among salaried employees,% 36 36
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Controlled risk-taking decisive
for increased profitability 

Making well balanced risk assessments is extremely
important for a project development company, where
risk management and value creation are strongly linked.

The goal for a project developer is at an early stage to identify
and acquire land that can be developed and then produce
and sell residential units in a manner that optimises cus-
tomer values, revenues and costs. Throughout this entire
process the project developer faces a number of risks that if
handled correctly contribute to improved profitability.

Risk management is an integrated part of decision-making
at all levels within JM and is subject to strategic contribu-
tions from management and board. All significant business
and project decisions are analysed with regard to both risk
and feasibility. Routines for project oversight, monitoring
and follow-up are designed to reduce business risks.

MACROECONOMIC RISKS

economic growth

Demand for new housing is mainly affected by demographic
growth and economic development in the individual loca-
tion. The new residential units’ location and attractiveness,
consumer spending power, current interest rates, prices and
price development on the second-hand market affect
demand and the price obtained by JM.

If national or regional growth conditions deteriorate or
employment decreases this can have a negative impact on JM.
JM’s strategy is to operate in areas that have the best long-
term demographic and economic conditions. In many places
where JM operates there is high demand for housing. Despite
higher housing prices several credit institutions consider that
the risk of price falls is small since households’ housing expen-
diture has not yet reached worryingly high levels. Housing
expenditure’s proportion of disposable incomes amounted to
approximately 25% in 2004 for Sweden as a whole.

Global economic development also affects JM. In the short

term due to psychological effects, since the world’s financial
markets are tightly linked and changed expectancies spread
fast. In the longer prospective because global economic
changes also have an impact on the highly internationalised
Scandinavian companies.

The general interest rate situation is both a risk and an
opportunity. Low interest leads to increased demand and
higher prices for houses while the interest expenses on the
Group’s net borrowing decrease. The opposite therefore
applies in the event of high interest rates. The prevailing
interest rate situation also affects return requirements and
valuations in connection with property sales and acquisi-
tions. A lower interest rate leads to a lower required rate of
return and a higher price.

JM tries to meet macroeconomic risks primarily by ensur-
ing a clear demand for planned housing projects. A certain
number of residential units must already be sold or reserved
when production starts. By starting large projects in a num-
ber of phases, prices can be adapted to the prevailing market
situation. Through continuous monitoring of the business
environment, both internally and with the aid of external
consultants, JM tries to form a well-founded perception of
trends for significant business environment factors. 

Reduced production costs are another way to reduce
business risks. In this way weaker demand and lower prices
do not need to have a full impact on earnings. An important
part of JM’s work to reduce costs is the new pre-construc-
tion procedures introduced for apartment blocks in 2003.

R I S K S  A N D  R I S K  M A N A G E M E N T
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HOUSEHOLD HOUSING EXPENDITURE
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These procedures involve a more industrial way of working
and production methods. They have also created conditions
for increased savings within purchasing.

competitive scenario

JM’s competitors in project development of new housing are
both major national players and smaller local project devel-
opment companies. Several of the large players have expres-
sed an ambition to grow within the housing segment. The
risk is that the increased competition will lead to a higher
supply of housing and price pressure. JM tries to distinguish
itself through its overall corporate culture and agility,
expertise in acquisitions, project implementation, quality
profile and marketing. The competitive situation in each
local market is monitored continuously.

political risks

A number of political risks are associated with housing con-
struction. The conditions for different forms of tenure (ten-
ancy rights, tenant owner, freehold) can change and affect
demand for JM’s housing. Political decisions related to infra-
structure development as well as regional and municipal
planning can have an impact on operations. JM tries to meet
these risks by having detailed plans that are as flexible as
possible and by deciding form of tenure relatively late. Politi-

cal decisions also affect tax conditions for housing. The
political climate is characterised by a willingness to increase
and facilitate, not limit and obstruct, housing construction.

OPERATING RISKS

risks related to the building rights portfolio

At year-end 2004 JM had building rights for future produc-
tion corresponding to 21,900 residential units. These were
mainly concentrated to metropolitan areas and university
and college towns.

The risk that JM has too few or too many building rights or
that the building rights are in the “wrong” area, can lead to
lost opportunities and high costs. As already mentioned it is
essential that land for development and planned housing 
are in attractive locations in places with high demand for 
new housing. They must also offer development with JM’s
requirements on profitability and return.

What and how much can be built, and when housing starts
can take place, depend on planning work and co-operation
with the municipality. The risk that JM after acquisition
does not obtain a detailed plan that has gained legal force (a
detailed plan approved by the municipality through a politi-
cal decision) within the prescribed period may result in
increased costs and/or reduced revenues. Due to its long
experience of project development and long-term relation-
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Risk factor

Significant interest rate hike
Global economic downturn
Increased unemployment in JM’s markets
Changes in regional growth prerequisites

Increased competition 

Unoptimised structure in building rights portfolio

Pre-construction not focusing at the same time on 
customer values, revenues and expenses

Adopted detailed plan delayed and/or changed  

Risk

Reduced demand,need for price reductions

Increased supplies, price pressure

Reduced demand,need for price reductions

Reduced demand,need for price reductions

Increased costs, decreased revenues

Management

Production does not start until a certain proportion of
units in the project are sold or reserved
Internal efforts to reduce costs
Product range in several price bands
Business environment monitoring and market analysis

Business environment monitoring and market analysis
Decision gates in connection with important project
decisions
Continuous efforts to maintain competitiveness in
every respect

Strategic acquisition planning
Business environment monitoring and market analysis
Continuous evaluation of asset structure

Market analysis, qualitative extensive surveys
Broad competence composition in the project
Requirement for competence development

Clear requirements on formulation of pre-construc-
tion and building permit documents
Quality assurance of building permit applications

MANAGEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT RISKS



(527). Starting projects in phases, with requirements for a
specific level of sales and reservations, reduces the risk of
being left with unsold units. Phased starts also mean that JM
can better match prices to demand. 2004 purchases and
sales are shown in Note 11, page 72.

cost control and internal oversight

In recent years JM has taken a number of measures to
improve internal oversight and cost control. Most production
costs are related to project development of housing in Swe-
den and were about SEK 5 billion for 2004.

In order to ensure quality requirements and production
competence and contribute to effective cost control, JM
maintains some construction contractor resources. These
resources are limited, however, which makes JM dependent
on cost development at subcontractors.

In general resources are contracted well ahead of time
which means that JM normally has a controlled cost situa-
tion. The number of projects, volume, development phase
and utilisation of subcontractors vary from year to year.

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS BY COST CATEGORY,
HOUSING DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS

Category Share of costs1) Change Effect

Salaries/wages 13% +/–10% +/–SEK 61m

Materials 13% +/–10% +/–SEK 64m

Land 13% +/–10% +/–SEK 61m

Developer’s costs 12% +/–10% +/–SEK 58m

Pre-construction 3% +/–10% +/–SEK 15m

Overheads 5% +/–10% +/–SEK 26m

Subcontracting 41% +/–10% +/–SEK 195m
1) Share of cost base for project development of housing in Sweden was approximately 
SEK 5 billion in 2004.

Land pertains to the acquisition cost for land. Developer’s costs are costs not directly
related to contracting,such as interest on loans,municipal connection charges and reg-
istration of title. Pre-construction mainly relates to costs for technical consultants.
Overheads refer to incidental expenses for setting up the building site and rents for
leased fixed assets such as plant and equipment.

FINANCIAL RISKS

finance function

JM’s finance unit handles the Group’s short- and long-term
financing, liquidity planning, cash management and finan-
cial risk management. The division of responsibility, organi-
sation and control of the Group’s overall financing activities
are regulated by a finance policy established by the Board.
The policy specifies the objectives for finance operations,

overall responsibility and specific rules and limits.

finance strategy

JM’s basic finance strategy is to clearly link cash flows from
projects in progress and project properties to the company’s
borrowing and interest rate risk management. This provides
the best control of financial risks. In order to maintain flexi-
ble administration and cost-effective debt management,
existing loan agreements are guaranteed by JM’s excellent
creditworthiness, so no mortgage deeds are provided.

financial risks

The Group’s financial risks are primarily interest rate risk,
financing risk, liquidity risk and, to a limited extent, cur-
rency risk. The choice of maturities and fixed interest spread
is governed by several factors, such as capital tied up in ongo-
ing projects, business risk, anticipated dates for sale of prop-
erties, the terms of leases in project properties and the
Group’s financial position in general. These factors are sum-
marised in the Board’s established guidelines for fixed inter-
est spread and maturity structure with scope for deviations
within certain limits based on the current market situation.
There are also rules for handling interest rate risk in building
loans during the construction period as well as recommenda-
tions for final financing of tenant-owner co-operatives.

Cash is kept at a low level and any surplus liquidity may
only be invested in Swedish banks and in Swedish fixed-
income securities without currency risk. Payment prepared-
ness is maintained through overdraft facilities and commit-
ted credit lines.

Currency risk on transactions is eliminated as far as possi-
ble. Transaction volumes in foreign currency between JM
AB and subsidiaries, and to external suppliers, are very lim-
ited. Hedging of balance sheet exposure is selective. Deriva-
tive instruments may only be used in order to minimise risks.

26 27R I S K S  A N D  R I S K  M A N A G E M E N T

j m  a n n u a l  r e p o r t  2 0 0 4 j m  d e l å r s r a p p o r t  j a n u a r i – m a r s  2 0 0 2

ship with the municipalities, JM can reduce these risks.
In order to reduce tied-up capital and risks JM tries to

have building rights available through option agreements or
conditional acquisition, for example that acquisition is sub-
ject to an approved detailed plan. At year end 2004, 8,900
building rights were available for future production through
such agreements. There is also a possibility to separate and
sell development land from acquired land without affecting
the number of available building rights.

JM has historically been successful in identifying and
developing areas where people want to live. At the end of
2004, 70% of the residential units in JM’s ongoing produc-
tion were sold or reserved. One explanation is that JM works
in close co-operation with potential house buyers so that the
planned projects will meet demand.

implementation risks

Major projects can correspond to order values of several bil-
lion kronor and it is important that both pre-construction

and production are carried out according to plan. Inade-
quate planning and analysis can lead to delays, increased
costs and insufficient customisation. There is also a risk that
the pre-construction process does not focus at the same time
on customer values, revenues and costs. In order to reduce
implementation risks, JM recently introduced stricter rou-
tines for monitoring, oversight and control. Defined decision
points precede the start of pre-construction, sales and pro-
duction. No project can start without a decision from the
business unit management or group management alterna-
tively, for major projects, by the Board. More information is
provided in the Corporate governance section, page 82.

unsold units

JM acts to ensure that all residential units are sold at final
inspection. Units that remain unsold are purchased by JM
from the tenant-owner co-operative and are then sold. Units
that are still unsold six months later constitute a risk. At the
end of 2004, JM held unsold units for a value of SEK 243m

R I S K S  A N D  R I S K  M A N A G E M E N T

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS –  BUILDING RIGHTS PORTFOLIO

One way to reflect the dynamics in the building rights portfolio
is to perform a sensitivity analysis where all anticipated cash
flows from the portfolio are calculated at present value. Below
are a number of simplified assumptions designed to reveal the
present value of JM’s building rights portfolio, at a number of
assumed sales prices.

21,900 residential building rights are evenly distributed over
a 6-year production period.The initial investment is excluded
since the calculation is intended to show the value of the port-
folio. However, investments not yet made of approximately SEK
1,500m for conditional acquisitions or deferred payments are
included in the analysis as a future constant outgoing cash flow
during the period.

JM’s standard residential unit is assumed to be 87 sq.m., the

assumed tax rate is 28% and the discount rate is 7.2%.The calcu-
lation does not take possible inflation into account and is not a
forecast.

The table shows the assumed revenue and project expenses
per sq.m.of apartment space excluding VAT. If a specific revenue/
project expense per sq.m. is assumed to apply to the entire
building rights portfolio and outgoing cash flow for conditional
acquisitions is taken into account,a value is created,expressed as
present value.The analysis shows a strong leverage effect in value
creation depending on the company’s ability to manage both rev-
enues and expenses effectively, and not least the general trend
for house prices during the period.A price or cost change of SEK
1,000 per sq.m. corresponds to about SEK 1,100m or almost
SEK 40 per share according to the basis for this calculation.

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS,PRESENT VALUE IN SEKM
FOR JM’S RESIDENTIAL BUILDING RIGHTS 

Revenue/sq.m.,SEK 19,000 20,000 21,000 22,000 23,000

Expenses/sq.m., SEK

14,000    5,000 6,100 7,200 8,300 9,400

15,000    3,900 5,000 6,100 7,200 8,300   

16,000    2,800 3,900 5,000 6,100 7,200   

17,000    1,800 2,800 3,900 5,000 6,100   

18,000    700   1,800    2,800    3,900    5,000   

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS,PRESENT VALUE IN SEK/SHARE 
FOR JM’S RESIDENTIAL BUILDING RIGHTS 

Revenue/sq.m.,SEK 19,000 20,000 21,000 22,000 23,000

Expenses/sq.m., SEK

14,000    178 217 257 296 335

15,000    139 178 217 257 296

16,000    100 139 178 217 257

17,000    64   100 139 178 217

18,000    25    64    100 139 178

FINANCE POLICY

The finance policy specifies the objectives for finance opera-
tions, overall responsibility and specific rules and limits. The
objectives for the finance operations are to:
• Support operating activities in residential and commercial

project development.
• Optimise use of capital and cash flow management.
• Control and manage the financial risks to which JM is exposed.
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ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY

JM’s environmental work has three basic criteria:
• Responsibility for our future
• A healthy living environment
• A good working environment

Work focuses on the environmental aspects that have the
greatest environmental impact, including energy consump-
tion and use of materials that are linked to the greenhouse
effect and the spread of chemicals. JM’s aim is to continue to
be the industry leader.

The fact that JM conducts serious environmental work has
attracted attention many times. JM has environmental approv-
al from the fund manager Robur, is on the Sustainable Busi-
ness organisation’s top 20 list, and has earned a high rating in
Folksam’s environmental index.

reduced energy requirement central environmental target

JM’s most important environmental target is to reduce energy
consumption in newly built homes. During the year a decision
was made on extensive requirements for heating insulation
(ucorr 1.2 W/m2K) for all windows in new housing projects. JM
has also decided that all refrigerators and freezers must be of
the lowest energy class, energy class A. To this should be added
earlier requirements on low energy lamps, low energy fans and
other energy-saving measures in the residential units.

JM has also decided on a total changeover to company cars
fuelled with ethanol, biogas or of a hybrid type, so-called
environmental cars. Furthermore, eco-labelled electricity is
used on all building sites.

bespoke ventilation saves energy

In co-operation with the Swedish Energy Agency JM is con-
ducting a development project designed to reduce energy
consumption without jeopardising ventilation requirements.
The background is the over-dimension of today’s housing
ventilation which is set for 24-hour use of the shower.

The new technology, which is being evaluated at one of
JM’s Stockholm projects, reduces the ventilation when no
one is in the apartment. The control is linked to the “gone out
lock”, when this is locked ventilation is reduced and when it
is unlocked ventilation returns to normal. In this way energy
consumption can be reduced by approximately 700 kWh/
apartment and year, or as much as would be saved if the outer

walls were twice as thick.
Before a decision can be made to introduce the system a

careful technical and sociological evaluation will be carried
out in co-operation with a well-reputed consulting company
and Stockholm’s research and statistics office.

stricter control of hazardous substances

That building materials and methods should not represent
health risks for JM’s customers or the people handling the
products on the building site has been a requirement for
many years. In the 1990s, when JM started to build up its
environmental database, PVC plastic floors in the residen-
tial units were replaced with natural materials such as wood,
tiles and clinkers. Recent research confirms that there is a
correlation between allergy problems among children and
certain softening agents that mainly come from PVC floors.

Control of the building materials in JM’s own environmen-
tal database is still one of the company’s most important envi-
ronmental routines. The products in the database are assessed
from a life-cycle perspective where one important criterion is
the content of hazardous substances.

JM sharpened its control of hazardous substances during
the year by basing assessments on jointly developed criteria
within the building sector, the EU-supported project the
Building Industry’s Phasing Out of Especially Hazardous
Substances (BASTA).

Enduring focus on sustainability

JM has considerable influence on the design of key social
infrastructure through its role as a project developer.JM
pushes forward the development of new districts and
residential areas.

A long-term approach, correct business relations and a holis-
tic view of operations have been guiding principles ever since
JM was founded in 1945. In 1994, JM was the first construc-
tion company in Europe to introduce an environmental pol-
icy. Ethical guidelines were adopted in 2003 and an Ethics
Committee was set up.

JM’s social impact is at its greatest in the housing environ-
ments JM creates in its capacity as a project developer. In addi-
tion, JM has a responsibility to support and develop its employ-
ees, and to work for good social development in other ways.

JM’S STAKEHOLDERS

high demands on ethics

JM’s ethical guidelines were drawn up to support individual
employees in their professional role. This includes both deci-
sions related to working duties and rules of conduct for rela-
tionships with colleagues, suppliers and customers.

It is important that JM’s requirements for ethics, morals

and environmental responsibility are also complied with by
subcontractors and suppliers. All tendering processes for
subcontractors are preceded by checks with the National
Tax Board, trade union organisations and the Swedish Asso-
ciation of Building Contractors, in order to ensure as far as
possible that the subcontractor conducts serious operations.
Contractors are also obliged to use the products included in
JM’s environmental products database.
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Customers

JM

Suppliers

Co-operation 
partners

Municipalities

EmployeesShareholders

Authorities

Industry
organisations

Other
external parties

JM takes its social responsibilities seriously and is dependent on good rela-
tionships with all its stakeholders.Other external parties include residents
and property owners in areas where JM is planning new production.

JM’S ETHICAL GUIDELINES

Consideration for our colleagues
• we respect every individual employee.
• we accept no form of discrimination or harassment,

neither in our relations with our colleagues nor with 
people outside the company.

• we look out for one another and inform a superior if 
a colleague is in difficulty.

Responsible
• we do not risk taking short-term decisions that might

weaken the value of the JM brand.
• we take responsibility for keeping ourselves informed

about our own activities, even if this leads to difficult 
decisions.

• we do not accept that time and cost requirements take
precedence over worker protection and a good working
environment.

• we do not make commitments outside our professional
mandates.

• we except neither pilfering nor theft.
• we comply with current legislation as a matter of course.

Formal agreements
• we follow and respect signed contracts and agreements.
• we do not accept unauthorised labour on our sites.
• we do not accept price cartels.

Professional relationships without personal gain
• we do not act in such a way that we or our counterparty

is placed in a position of personal dependence.
• we should be highly restrictive as regards gifts and 

benefits to and from suppliers and business partners.
• we do not allow suppliers and business partners to pay

for our travel and subsistence.Nor does JM pay for travel
and subsistence for suppliers and business partners
(unless this is already regulated in an agreement).

• we do not use the company’s resources for private gain.

JM’S QUALITY AND ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

JM shall promote long-term quality and environmental man-
agement in all its operations.The company shall focus on cus-
tomer needs and strive for sustainable development of society.

To accomplish this,we shall:
• Preserve and contribute environmental aesthetic values to

the urban and natural landscapes.
• Produce buildings with a healthy living and working environ-

ment.
• Work in a structured and systematic manner that leads to

continual improvements in environmental and quality per-
formance.

• Prevent the production and dispersal of pollutants and pro-
mote resource conservation and closed cycles.

• Actively contribute to development of knowledge and raise
employee awareness of quality and environmental issues.

• Apply environmental standards that are more rigorous than
existing legal requirements.



Work with BASTA is one of many environmental projects on
which the industry is working together, on the basis of an
environmental programme adopted by the Ecocycle Council
(BYKR) in 2003. JM is a driving force in BYKR through par-
ticipation on its board. Other projects within BYKR work
with energy, waste and the indoor climate.

JM is also involved in the government project the “Bygga Bo”
dialogue. This involves a number of companies, municipalities
and the government in a joint undertaking to carry out certain
measures within the areas of effective use of energy, effective
use of resources and a healthy indoor climate.

environment important to customers

Many of the environmental measures JM works with are
intended to contribute to a long-term, sustainable develop-
ment that does not risk the living environment of future gener-

ations. Measures taken from this perspective often also pro-
vide added value for JM’s customers. Low energy homes, water
saving installations, good waste sorting facilities and central
locations with good public transport provide excellent oppor-
tunities for an eco-compliant life with low operating costs.

Other examples of environmental aspects and measures
that are important for JM’s customers:
• Damp protection measures to combat the formation of

mildew and unpleasant odours.
• Decontamination of ground pollutants in central locations

and areas close to water.
• Good sound and electricity environment.
• Good air quality.

control of the entire chain

Acting simultaneously as developer, planner, contractor and
manager, gives JM control over the entire construction
process. This creates good opportunities to minimise the
environmental impact of the buildings throughout their
entire life cycle. Opportunities are greatest during planning
and pre-construction of a project. This applies in particular
to energy consumption when the buildings are in use and use
of materials, two significant environmental aspects.

JM has a major indirect environmental impact via its
external co-operation partners – consultants, subcontrac-
tors and materials suppliers. Today JM is moving steadily
towards fewer pre-construction solutions and more control
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over purchasing, choice of materials and structures. By hav-
ing fewer co-operation partners and carefully drafted frame-
work agreements, JM can make basic demands on its suppli-
ers’ environmental work.

involvement throughout the company

Well-organised quality and environmental work is essential
for participation throughout the company. JM’s quality and
environmental council has overall responsibility. The coun-
cil, whose members include the President, business unit and
regional managers, decides on the targets and requirements
that should apply to each business. This is done on the basis
of proposals drawn up by the process owners – employees
with considerable expert knowledge of the various sub-
processes. The Group’s Quality and Environment Depart-
ment and the regional quality and environment co-ordinators
are responsible for co-ordination and support.

Following a few years with basic environmental training

for all employees JM is now about to introduce advanced
knowledge and dialogue focused on practical environmental
work through more targeted efforts.

effective control

Each of JM’s operations has adopted a quality and environ-
mental programme with quantifiable and timetabled quality
and environmental targets. In addition to objectives and pro-
grammes at an overall level, project programmes and environ-
mental consequence analyses are conducted at project level.
Follow-up includes checks, environmental rounds, inspec-
tions, exception reports and key performance indicators
(KPIs). With the aid of process-oriented operational control
systems, the businesses receive control and support in their
daily quality and environmental work. Internal audits are
used to check how the requirements of the operational con-
trol system are met in the project. Essentially, JM complies
with the requirements in the quality and environmental
management standards ISO 9001 and ISO 14001.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

JM’s social responsibility principally involves responsibility for
the health, well-being and development of its employees. An
informal atmosphere, a corporate culture that encourages
responsibility and development and active efforts to encour-
age wellness and equal opportunities are intended to make JM
the industry’s best employer. Substantial resources are in-
vested in competence development. JM has also an expressed
aim that employees should have a balance in their lives.

rising proportion of women

JM has been making active efforts to achieve a more even gen-
der distribution for several years. Within the company 36% of
salaried employees are women. This proportion is higher than
among civil engineering and surveyor students which are an
important recruitment base for salaried employees. The aim
is that the proportion of women among salaried employees
should amount to 50%, among other things to better reflect
JM’s customer groups.

One way of increasing equal opportunities is that JM encour-
ages employees to take out parental leave. Compensation for
loss of income during parental leave is offered for up to six
months, with up to 80% of salary regardless of income. In 2004,
70 employees used this opportunity, 41 of whom were men.

S O C I A L  R E S P O N S I B I L I T Y

ACQUISITION PLANNING BUILDING SITE FINISHED BUILDING DEMOLITION

JM’S INFLUENCE
ON THE PROCESS:

IMPACT ON
THE ENVIRONMENT:

MINOR MODERATE

SCOPE TO PREVENT 
ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT: 

MAJOR MINORMAJOR MINOR MAJOR

TIME IN PROCESS:
MONTHS

TIME IN PROCESS:
1/2 YEAR – YEARS

TIME IN PROCESS:
1/2 YEAR – YEARS

TIME IN PROCESS:
50 – 100 YEARS

TIME IN PROCESS:
MONTHS

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT OF PROJECT DEVELOPMENT
ENVIRONMENTAL FACTS AND KPIs

2004 2003 2002

Environmentally assessed framework 
agreement partners 82 80 103  

Internal quality and environmental audits 
within residential project development 90 105 160

Carbon dioxide emissions JM (tonnes) 14,200 13,900 14,540

Carbon dioxide emissions JM (tonne/SEKm) 2.0 2.2 2.3

Project properties with district heating (%) 93 1) 891) 100

Products in the environmental database 1,700 2) 2,165 2,000

Projects with KPIs (%) 98 88 93

Projects with KPIs 55 42 41

Target 2005 2004 2003 2002

Newly produced homes’ estimated  
energy requirement,normal home
adjusted (kW/sq.m.UFA) 110 3) 127 131 124

Newly produced homes’ estimated 
carbon dioxide emissions from energy
consumption (kg CO2/sq.m.UFA) – 8 7 9

Energy consumption offices 
(kWh/sq.m.UFA) – 96 102 113

Landfilled waste (kg/sq.m.GFA) 6 9 8 10

Proportion of landfilled waste (%) – 33 29 36
1)Others are acquired housing with direct electric heating.
2)Database revised.
3)Target adjusted.Applies to newly planned homes.
See also www.jm.se for diagrams and additional information.

QUALITY AND ENVIRONMENTAL OBJECTIVES

• We shall focus on quality, the environment and ethics so
that every customer and project is a good reference.

• Our projects shall be structured, implemented and man-
aged so as to minimise energy consumption and its impact
on the environment.

• We shall reduce the volume and hazardousness of waste.
• We shall use materials and methods that reduce environ-

mental impact and contribute to a healthy indoor and
working environment.
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Essinge Udde: A new district is born

Who would not want to wake up to the sound of lapping
water,in the heart of a big city? With one of central Stock-
holm’s very best lakeside situations, in just a few years
Essinge Udde has developed into a popular residential
area and a favourite venue for Sunday walks or a fine 
dinner. Here, on the southern part of the island of Lilla

Essingen,a new,living district with space for 2,500 people
has grown up. An idyllic little town with Lake Mälaren 
outside the kitchen window. Just a few kilometres away
lies the centre of Stockholm with its wealth of shopping,
culture and entertainment.

Since 2000 JM has completely transformed the industrial site on Lilla Essingen,which previously housed the Electrolux head office among other things.The Stockholm
landscape is now being complemented by lakeside homes,working environments with an industrial feeling, shoreline walks and a new marina.
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Almost half of the people who have attended JM’s trainee
program and 15% of the Group’s senior executives are
women. Two of group management’s 12 members are women
with effect from 2005.

wellness programmes

JM works determinedly with preventive health care in order
to avoid absence due to illness and industrial injuries. In
2004, long-term absence due to illness among salaried
employees was 1.1% and 4.4% among wage-earners.

In addition to regular company health care all employees
are offered a number of wellness programmes such as exer-
cise, treatment from a naprapath, physiotherapy, massage, and
information about the correlation between diet and health.

Stress-related illness is an increasingly common cause of
long-term sick listing (50% among salaried employees). In
order to reduce such stress-related absence, JM works to
prevent this based on an individual perspective and on a
manager and leader perspective. All employees have an
opportunity to attend stress management training and JM’s
managers are trained to identify symptoms of stress among
their employees at an early stage.

Among wage-earners strain-related injuries and injuries
from falls are the main reasons for long periods on the sick list
(62%). JM tries to reduce such injuries through continuous
and consistent efforts in the working environment on the sites
and through job rotation. One wellness concept which has
gradually been introduced is daily warming up and stretching
exercises during working hours, body-building and fitness
training outside working hours, and access to treatment from
a naprapath on the site. “Building gymnastics” take place on
most of JM’s building sites.

Studies of JM’s wage-earners compared with workers at

sites outside the wellness programme have shown both a
reduction in industrial injuries and that JM’s employees are
in far better physical shape.

good order on the building site

JM has a zero vision for both strain-related injuries and acci-
dents. Most of the wage-earners are trained in occupational
responsibility and all foremen, site managers and safety rep-
resentatives have attended working environment training. An
individual working environment plan is drawn up for every
construction site and covers everyone including subcontrac-
tors. Continuous follow-up of guidelines and routines takes
place in the central safety committee and in regional working
environment groups.

The “Good order on site” programme was started in 2002
primarily to reduce injuries due to falls. The programme, which
is carried out by JM’s safety organisation by a number of yearly
and unannounced work site inspections, is intended to reduce
the number of injuries through better workplace disposition,
cleaning and waste management. Most workplaces now have
high grades and the number of injuries has decreased markedly.
In 2004 a total of 44 injuries (53) which led to JM’s employees
being put on the sick list were reported. 

Hazardous chemical substances are avoided with the aid
of JM’s environmental database. For example, jointing foam,
which before hardening gives off emissions of isocynates
which are hazardous for health, is banned. Caulking with
mineral wool is mainly prescribed instead.

focus on fast rehabilitation

JM’s rehabilitation work is based on co-operation between
the central personnel function, the manager responsible, the
person on the sick-list and the care providers. JM works
actively during the illness process by initiating and paying
for measures designed to allow the employee to return to
work as soon as possible. Treatment is provided by thera-
pists, psychologists, physiotherapists, naprapaths and when
required vocational guidance.

co-operation with young people

JM is involved as a sponsor for Mentor Sweden, a non-profit
organisation that works to help young people stay away from
drugs. The co-operation is intended to strengthen the right
of young people to grow up in a drug-free environment.

S O C I A L  R E S P O N S I B I L I T Y

ABSENCE DUE TO ILLNESS 2004 2003

Total absence due to illness,% 5.1 5.4

Absence due to illness during consecutive period 

of at least 60 days 1),% 58.0 55.4

Women’s absence due to illness,% 4.2 4.1

Men’s absence due to illness,% 5.3 5.6

Breakdown of absence due to illness by age
Employees aged –29 4.6 4.8

Employees aged 30–49 4.0 4.4

Employees aged 50– 7.2 7.4

Number of employees included in calculation 2,168 2,398

1) In relation to total absence due to illness.
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People often call Essinge Udde the Lux area and there is a reason for this.
Throughout practically the whole of the 20th century the white goods
manufacturer Electrolux was housed here. Many people wanted to
develop the attractive location on Lilla Essingen into a residential area,but
in the end it was JM that won the day.JM acquired most of the area in 1998
through a deal where JM at the same time sold a large portfolio of resi-
dential and commercial properties.

The first residential units, a total of 73, were in the listed former Elec-
trolux head office built in the 1930s and 60s.The units were ready for occu-
pancy in spring 2001, roughly the same time the first shoreline block was
started.Five modern buildings now rise majestically here each with its own
special architectural characteristics. Most of the apartments have bal-
conies,many with a view over Mälaren and the sea approach to Stockholm.

At the end of 2004, just over a thousand people had moved into JM's
homes.There are lots of prams, in fact more than expected.“When we
started planning for the area we counted on roughly 2.2 people per apart-
ment but it is closer to 2.5,” explains Allan Rasmussen,project manager at
JM.More than 20% of all the people who have recently moved in have child-
ren,almost 15% have children of pre-school age.

The stream of new residents has come from both the inner city and
from houses in the inner suburbs.Young people and pensioners, families
with children and middle-aged couples guarantee a good mix between
generations.

From industrial site 
to lakeside homes
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On the art of transformation

Transforming a polluted industrial site with listed buildings into an
attractive residential area is a process that places very high demands
on the housing developer.

“This is a major task,” says Allan Rasmussen, who was made re-
sponsible for Essinge Udde in autumn 1998.“When we're finished we
will have created homes which in many respects attract customers
with regard to layout, design, range of local services and so on. Of
course we have our own opinions,but we continuously check against
customer surveys that what we are planning is what the customers
want.”

The transformation must also take place in a manner that pre-
serves the qualities of the area for example with regard to existing
buildings and the unique location by the water.“How this area looks
from the water is something that concerns all Stockholmers,” says
Allan.

Some of the old buildings have been retained and carefully reno-
vated. In the centre of the area, for example, a foundry has been con-
verted into exciting office and studio environments.The facade of an
industrial building that was demolished has been saved in order to
retain the industrial feeling of the area.

Something we don’t see too much of today is the extensive de-
contamination work that was carried out before building started.
Practically all the ground down to a depth of two metres has been
bulldozed away for decontamination.Over the years a lot of contam-
inating material in the form of metals,oil and chemicals had collected
in the ground.

A total of 1,000 residential units are being built in Essinge Udde,
of which JM is responsible for 865. JM is also building roads,tree-lined
avenues and promenades which, when the project is completed, will
be handed over to the city. JM is also responsible for creating a good

mix of tenants in the commercial premises. Here there is already a
doctor's surgery with a children’s clinic, and a starred restaurant.
Food shops,hairdressers,delicatessen and a bakery are on their way.
There will also be a nursery school for 70–80 children.

“Everything is now in place for Essinge Udde to be an area in
which people feel at home,” Allan concludes.“Essinge Udde has qual-
ities that appeal to most people.”

A new unique residential area has taken shape. Functional, light homes designed for the demands of today in an environment unlike anything else. A mixture of young
and old guarantees a fine blend between generations. In the summer meals can be enjoyed at Restaurang Lux against the sounds of lapping waves and passing boats.
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Annual report in figures
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Strong earnings improvement

EARNINGS DEVELOPMENT

Demand was very good during the year and a record number
of residential units were sold, partly due to units completed
in 2003. During the year 1,968 residential units (1,547) were
sold and housing starts totalled 1,706 (966). The high level of
housing starts compared with 2003 is due to the good sales
and some shifts in housing starts from 2003 to 2004.

Net sales reached SEK 3,336m (3,218). Operating profit
increased to SEK 194m (–22) and the profit margin improved
to 5.8% (–0.7). Earnings have steadily improved in the most
recent quarters in pace with completion of most of the older
projects with a low profit margin. The project volume attrib-
utable to housing starts prior to 2003 was less than 10% at
year-end. Profits and margins were also strengthened by final
settlement of a number of projects.

HOUSING STARTS

Most housing starts occurred in JM’s projects at Liljeholm-
skajen and Lilla Essingen as well as in Spånga, Nacka and
Täby, all apartment blocks. Production also started on apart-
ment blocks in Bromma, Gubbängen, Gustavsberg, Järfälla,
Lidingö, Saltsjöbaden, Solna and Årsta. Single-family homes
were started in Gustavsberg, Hässelby, Sollentuna and Täby.

ORGANISATION

During the year JM Residential Stockholm took over all employ-
ees within the JM Production business segment who had worked
on new production of residential units in Stockholm, a total of
600 people. As a result, all project development resources in
Stockholm are now placed in a single business segment.

BUILDING RIGHTS

Due to the large number of housing starts, the number of avail-
able building rights fell to about 9,100 (10,300) at year-end.
The proportion of building rights where an adopted detailed
plan is a condition for acquisition rose, however. JM sold build-
ing rights at Liljeholmskajen and in Spånga with an adopted
detailed plan for tenure as rental apartments to Stockholms-
hem and Familjebostäder. At the same time, JM received an

option from Stockholmshem to acquire a property in Bromma
for project development of tenant-owned apartments.

B U S I N E S S  S E G M E N T S  –  J M  R E S I D E N T I A L  S TO C K H O L M

FACTS – JM RESIDENTIAL STOCKHOLM

The business segment develops
mainly residential projects in
preferred areas of Greater
Stockholm.Operations com-
prise acquisition of attractively
located development proper-
ties,as well as planning,pre-
construction,production and
sales of residential units.

SUMMARY OF RESULTS

SEKm 2004 2003

Net sales 3,336 3,218

Gross profit 363 97

Selling and administrative expenses –170 –141

Gains on the sale of properties 1 22

Operating profit/loss 194 –22

KEY FIGURES

2004 2003

Operating margin,% 5.8 –0.7

Return on operating capital,% 8.0 –0.7

Average operating capital, SEKm 2,423 3,091

Number of acquired building rights 187 96

Number of housing starts 1,706 966

Number of available building rights at end of period 9,100 10,300

Number of sold residential units 1,968 1,547

Book value of development properties, SEKm 1,702 2,219

Book value of project properties, SEKm 69 74

Number of employees at end of period 710 192
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JM is building several hundred residential units at Liljeholmstorget in Stockholm and the surrounding area.The district will be characterised
by a wide range of services, pleasant walking areas, homes close to water and excellent communications.
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B U S I N E S S  S E G M E N T S  –  J M  I N T E R N AT I O N A L

Record sales in Norway

EARNINGS DEVELOPMENT

The business segment’s net sales increased by 11% to SEK
1,866m (1,683). Operating profit improved to SEK 104m
(72). During the year a total of 1,122 residential units (684)
were sold and housing starts totalled 1,019 (790). The num-
ber of building rights at year-end 2004 amounted to approxi-
mately 5,400 (5,700).

NORWAY 

Net sales for the operations in Norway amounted to SEK
1,136m (985). JM achieved record sales in Norway. 734 resi-
dential units (482) were sold and housing starts totalled 725
(409). Operations are conducted under the brands Byggholt
and Seniorbo in the Oslo region, Vestfold, Grenland, Bergen
and Stavanger. Major projects are under way at Kjørbokollen
in Bærum and the Rolvsrud Skog project in Lørenskog out-
side Oslo. The available building rights portfolio comprised
4,200 residential units (4,500) at the end of the year.

DENMARK 

Sales in Denmark were also good in 2004. A total of 307 res-
idential units (152) were sold and housing starts totalled 194
(242). Operations are conducted in Copenhagen and Frede-
riksberg. Housing starts in 2004 were all in central Copen-
hagen, in attractive harbour locations at Amerika Plads and
Islands Brygge. At year-end, JM Danmark had 900 building
rights (1,100) at its disposal. Through purchases and sales
the building rights portfolio has been focused more on the
core markets in Copenhagen and Frederiksberg.

BELGIUM 

During 2004, 81 residential units (50) were sold and housing
starts totalled 100 (139). The building rights portfolio corre-
sponded to approximately 300 residential units (100) at
year-end. Acquisitions during the year included raw land in
Namur for new development of approximately 250 residen-
tial units and an existing property for conversion to residen-
tial units in central Brussels. The Science commercial project
was completed and work with leasing and sales is under way. The Idalie commercial property was sold in February 2005.

FACTS – JM INTERNATIONAL

The business segment devel-
ops and sells residential prop-
erties in Norway,Denmark
and Belgium. In Belgium, JM
also develops centrally located
commercial property projects.

SUMMARY OF RESULTS

SEKm 2004 2003

Net sales 1,866 1,683

Gross profit 209 156

Selling and administrative expenses –106 –106

Gains on the sale of properties 1 22

Operating profit 104 72

KEY FIGURES

2004 2003

Operating margin,% 5.6 4.3

Return on operating capital,% 10.5 6.8

Average operating capital, SEKm 993 1,059

Number of acquired building rights 1,178 1,110

Number of housing starts 1,019 790

Number of available building rights at end of period 5,400 5,700

Number of sold residential units 1,122 684

Book value of development properties, SEKm 394 520

Book value of project properties, SEKm 306 268

Number of sold project properties 1 1

Number of employees at end of period 266 271
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B U S I N E S S  S E G M E N T S  –  J M  R E S I D E N T I A L  S W E D E N

Excellent sales

EARNINGS DEVELOPMENT

Demand was very good during the year and the total number
of sold residential units increased by 28% compared with
2003. The favourable sales led to an increased number of
housing starts. During the year 1,225 residential units (958)
were sold and housing starts totalled 1,218 (958). 

The business segment’s net sales increased by 15% to SEK
2,401m (2,092) and operating profit, including property
sales, increased to SEK 186m (98). The profit margin rose to
7.7% (4.7).

HOUSING STARTS

Of housing starts during the year, 955 comprised units in
apartment blocks and 263 single-family homes. The largest
number of production starts for apartment blocks took 
place in Gothenburg and the surrounding municipalities of
Kungsbacka and Kungälv and in Malmö with the Lomma
municipality. The large, new projects Sannegårdshamnen in
Gothenburg and Lomma Hamn were well-received as was the
Dockan project in Malmö where the second and third phases
were started during the year.

Production also started on apartment blocks in Halmstad,
Helsingborg, Jönköping, Kävlinge, Linköping, Lund, Märsta,
Trosa, Upplands Väsby, Uppsala, Vallentuna and Västerås.
Industristaden, a major project in Uppsala, had good sales.

A number of production starts for single-family homes
took place in the Gothenburg area and Vallentuna. Other
single-family homes where production started are located in
Jönköping, Malmö, Staffanstorp and Västerås.

BUILDING RIGHTS

At year-end 2004 the business unit had approximately 
7,400 building rights (7,400) available for future production.
In Gothenburg, approximately 150 building rights were
acquired during the year in the Kvarnen area on Norra Älv-
stranden, with an option for a further approximately 400
building rights. Major projects are under way in Gothenburg
(Sannegårdshamnen), Lomma (Lomma Hamn), Malmö (the
Dockan area) and in Uppsala (Industristaden).

FACTS – JM RESIDENTIAL SWEDEN

The business segment devel-
ops mainly residential projects
in preferred growth areas in
Sweden,excluding Greater
Stockholm.Operations com-
prise acquisition of attractively
located development proper-
ties, as well as planning,pre-
construction,production and sales of residential units.Con-
tracting operations are also conducted to a limited extent.

SUMMARY OF RESULTS

SEKm 2004 2003

Net sales 2,401 2,092

Gross profit 295 217

Selling and administrative expenses –112 –112

Gains/losses on the sale of properties 3 –7

Operating profit 186 98

KEY FIGURES

2004 2003

Operating margin, % 7.7 4.7

Return on operating capital,% 22.6 10.2

Average operating capital, SEKm 825 961

Number of acquired building rights 538 170

Number of housing starts 1,218 958

Number of available building rights at end of period 7,400 7,400

Number of sold residential units 1,225 958

Book value of development properties, SEKm 687 700

Book value of project properties, SEKm 82 86

Number of sold project properties 1 –

Number of employees at end of period 513 526
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B U S I N E S S  S E G M E N T S  –  J M  P RO D U C T I O N

Changed organisation

EARNINGS DEVELOPMENT

Net sales increased to SEK 931m (701). The business seg-
ment’s increased volume is largely due to the transfer of JM’s
construction operations in Stockholm from JM Residential
Stockholm. Operating profit improved to SEK 43m (34).
Gains from property sales are included with SEK 5m.

PROJECTS

Among ongoing external contracts, premises were com-
pleted at the beginning of 2005 for the University College of
Film, Radio, Television and Theatre for Akademiska Hus, as
well as construction work for a shopping centre in Gustavs-
berg for KF Fastigheter. During 2004 conversion of the
Swedish Patent and Registration Office’s premises on Val-
hallavägen was completed for Vasakronan. Pipelines between
the heating plants in Jordbro and Bollmora are being con-
structed for Vattenfall.

Contract work for JM includes conversion of residential
units in the Packhusen project in Gustavsberg and in the
Torsvik project in Lidingö, as well as conversion of the ABB
building in Nacka. JM Production also carried out contract
work on the commercial property Skogskarlen 2.

ORGANISATION

The extensive organisational changes carried out within the
business segment have been completed. During 2004, the
approximately 600 employees who had been involved in new
production of residential units were returned to the JM
Residential Stockholm business segment. The tiling and
clinker operations within O. Timblad Målerifirma were
phased out and the flooring operations were sold.

The JM Production business segment now comprises the
two companies JM Entreprenad AB and O. Timblad Måleri-
firma AB with 350 and 150 employees respectively. JM
Entreprenad was formed in 2004 in order to place JM’s con-
tracting resources within civil engineering, buildings and
facades in a single unit.

OPERATIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Work is under way to consolidate and strengthen JM Entre-
prenad’s position. The company is one of the major contrac-
tors in Greater Stockholm. The market is expected to be pos-
itive to JM Entreprenad, with its experience and resources
as a building contractor, continuing to be a player in Stock-
holm. 

FACTS – JM PRODUCTION

The business segment carries
out construction work 
for external and internal 
customers in the Greater
Stockholm area.

SUMMARY OF RESULTS

SEKm 2004 2003

Net sales 931 701

Gross profit 84 67

Selling and administrative expenses –46 –33

Gains on the sale of properties 5 –

Operating profit 43 34

KEY FIGURES

2004 2003

Operating margin,% 4.6 4.9

Book value of development properties, SEKm 3 5

Number of employees at end of period 505 1,206
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B U S I N E S S  S E G M E N T S  –  J M  P RO P E RT Y  D E V E L O P M E N T

Good result from sales

EARNINGS DEVELOPMENT

Operating profit for 2004 amounted to SEK 201m (358) of
which property sales accounted for SEK 154m (374). Oper-
ating net amounted to SEK 100m (95). 

PROPERTY TRANSACTIONS

The newly developed commercial property Skogskarlen 2 in
Bergshamra was sold to a German property fund for SEK
390m with a capital gain of SEK 55m. In the third quarter,
the property Spelbomskan in Stockholm was sold for SEK
25m with a capital gain of SEK 10m.

A total of 480 residential units corresponding to SEK
492m were sold to tenant-owner co-operatives in Vaxholm
and Nacka.

During the year property sales were carried out with a
total value of SEK 955m (1,815).

PROJECT DEVELOPMENT

Work on development of new building rights for residential
units in Älta is proceeding according to plan. The proposed
programme comprising 500–600 new apartments has been
drawn up. A decision on this programme is expected at the
beginning of May, whereupon detailed planning will start.

In the office project Barnängen in Stockholm’s Södermalm
district the occupancy rate is just over 70% and negotiations
are under way with additional prospective tenants. Conver-
sion of offices, retail space and rental apartments in the
Västerbotten block in Lidingö continues as planned and the
occupancy rate is over 90% compared with 70% at the begin-
ning of the year. 

BUILDING RIGHTS

JM possesses land for commercial project development on
prime sites primarily in the new district Norra Frösunda,
Solna. Demand for attractively located office premises has
increased. In Frösunda, where JM has zoned land of 33,000
sq.m. for offices, all newly built offices are fully leased and
there is considerable interest in buying fully developed com-
mercial properties. JM’s building rights for commercial

premises total approximately 120,000 sq.m. (200,000) with a
book value of SEK 185m (187).

FACTS – JM PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

The business segment devel-
ops residential and commercial
properties in Greater Stock-
holm.The business segment’s
portfolio entirely comprises
properties for project develop-
ment.Development of com-
mercial projects is conducted
with considerable caution.

SUMMARY OF RESULTS

SEKm 2004 2003

Net sales 276 227

Gross profit 103 98

Selling and administrative expenses –41 –51

Gains on the sale of properties 154 374

Impairment losses on properties –15 –63

Operating profit 201 358

KEY FIGURES

2004 2003

Return on operating capital,% 8.6 14.3

Average operating capital, SEKm 2,330 2,498

Book value of project properties, SEKm 1,789 2,405

Investments in project properties, SEKm 161 1,686

Number of sold project properties 13 17

Book value of development properties, SEKm 185 187

Number of employees at end of period 90 93
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structure that was exposed to a limited extent to the earlier
economic downturn.

INTERNATIONAL – RESIDENTIAL

The high demand for homes in Norway resulted in a contin-
ued increase in sales where the country’s oil-dependent
economy showed positive growth while interest rates were at
a very low level.

In Denmark, the Copenhagen housing market in 2004 was
characterised by stable demand and rising prices.

The rising number of residents in Brussels, partly due to
EU enlargement, means that demand for attractive homes is
high and this has led to rising house prices.

STOCKHOLM – PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

The commercial premises market in Stockholm stabilised in
the second half of 2004, although no rapid rise in rental levels
is anticipated. For modern office properties in city centre
locations some upward adjustment of rents could be noted in
the latter part of the year.

NET SALES
The JM Group’s net sales in 2004 amounted to SEK 8,414m
(7,787), an increase of 8% compared with the previous year.

The increase in net sales was due to production starting
on a large number of residential projects during the year
within JM Residential Stockholm, JM Residential Sweden
and JM International. The strongest increase in net sales was
shown by JM Residential Sweden with 15% as a result of a
substantial increase in the number of housing starts. Net
sales for JM International increased by 11% mainly due to the
operations in Norway.

OPERATING PROFIT
The JM Group’s operating profit increased in 2004 by 38% to
SEK 661m (478). This result includes gains from property
sales of SEK 164m (411).

The JM Residential Stockholm business segment’s operat-
ing profit amounted to SEK 194m (–22). Earnings improved
steadily during the year as the majority of older projects
with low profit levels were completed.

The proportion of project volume attributable to housing
starts before 2003 was less than 10% at year-end. Earnings
and margins for the fourth quarter were strengthened by

final settlement of a number of projects during the quarter.
The JM Residential Sweden business segment had an oper-

ating profit of SEK 186m (98). Earnings and margins for the
fourth quarter were strengthened by final settlement of a
number of projects during the quarter.

JM International reported an increase in operating profit
of SEK 104m (72). The improved earnings were due to a pos-
itive development particularly in Norway and Denmark.

In the JM Property Development business segment operat-
ing profit amounted to SEK 201m (358), of which SEK 154m
(374) related to gains from property sales and SEK –15m
(–63) to impairment losses on properties. Sales of properties
to tenant-owner co-operatives totalled SEK 492m.

Operating profit for the JM Production business segment
amounted to SEK 43m (34). This result includes SEK 5m (–)
relating to sales of a site around Jordbrokrossen.

B O A R D  O F  D I R E C TO R S ’  R E P O RT

The Board of Directors and the President of JM AB (publ)
hereby submit the annual accounts and consolidated accounts
for 2004.

SUMMARY OF THE GROUP
MARKET AND SALES 

Demand for newly built homes in both Sweden and JM’s inter-
national markets remained high during 2004. This also
applies to the Stockholm market which is so important to JM.
Low interest rates made a positive contribution to price
development. The favourable sales, combined with the stable
reservations level, meant that JM could start production on a
total of 3,943 residential units (2,714) during the period.
JM’s net sales increased by 8% in 2004 to SEK 8,414m com-
pared with SEK 7,787m for 2003. 

Generally good demand for housing, combined with a
broader product range and continued major sales efforts,
meant that the number of sold residential units in the form of
signed contracts reached a record level of 4,315 (3,189). For
the residential operations in Stockholm, both the high sales
and the high level of production starts were partly attribut-
able to a shift from 2003 to 2004.

PROFITS AND MARGINS 

Operating profit from operations during the period
amounted to SEK 661m compared with a corresponding
profit from project development of SEK 182m in the previ-
ous year. The operating margin improved to 7.9% (project
development margin 2.4% in the previous year). The target
for JM’s operating margin is 10%. 

Profits gradually improved during the year due to good
demand for housing, completed efficiency enhancements,
and a lower proportion of older residential projects started
in Stockholm during 2001 and 2002 with a low profit level.
Cash flow from operating activities showed strong develop-
ment particularly in the fourth quarter and amounted to
SEK 2,161m (1,504). The good cash flow is mainly attributa-
ble to property sales and limited investment in development
properties combined with a large number of housing starts.
This, combined with a strong balance sheet, provides scope
for a major transfer of capital to shareholders.

CONTINUED ADAPTATION AND DEVELOPMENT 

Housing projects started during the year have been adapted to
market demand while the broadening of the product range con-
tinues. Oversight of purchasing processes in Sweden during
the year remained centralised in order to reduce costs and
make production more efficient. JM signed strategic purchas-
ing agreements for white goods, floors, plaster, stairs, steel pil-
lars, curtain walls and mineral wool during 2004. 

MARKET TRENDS
STOCKHOLM – RESIDENTIAL

Demand was very good during the year for both tenant-
owned apartments and single-family homes which resulted in
a substantial increase in sales. Prices for tenant-owned apart-
ments rose in 2004 underpinned by low interest rates and a
positive economic development for the Stockholm region.

REST OF SWEDEN – RESIDENTIAL

Demand was very good during the year and the total number
of sold residential units rose substantially compared with
2003. Both the Gothenburg and Malmö areas have a business

B O A R D  O F  D I R E C TO R S ’  R E P O RT

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

SEKm 2004 2003 2002

Net sales 8,414 7,787 8,872

Costs for production and management –7,360 –7,152 –7,960

Gross profit 1,054 635 912

Selling and administrative expenses –542 –505 –527

Gains on the sale of properties 164 411 523

Impairment losses on properties –15 –63 –256

Operating profit 661 478 652

Net financial items –145 –211 –284

Tax on profits for the year –140 –80 –115

Net profit for the year 376 187 253
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NET SALES
NET SALES BY BUSINESS SEGMENT

SEKm 2004 2003 2002

JM Residential Stockholm 3,336 3,218 3,623

JM Residential Sweden 2,401 2,092 2,205

JM International 1,866 1,683 1,530

JM Property Development 276 227 424

JM Production 931 701 1,166

Eliminations –396 –134 –76

Total 8,414 7,787 8,872

OPERATING PROFIT BY BUSINESS SEGMENT

SEKm 2004 2003 2002

JM Residential Stockholm 194 –22 –160

JM Residential Sweden 186 98 180

JM International 104 72 90

JM Property Development 201 358 634

JM Production 43 34 –27

Group-wide expenses –67 –62 –65

Total 661 478 652

OPERATING MARGIN BY BUSINESS SEGMENT

% 2004 2003 2002

JM Residential Stockholm 5.8 –0.7 –4.4

JM Residential Sweden 7.7 4.7 –8.2

JM International 5.6 4.3 –5.9

JM Production 4.6 4.9 –2.3
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amount to 13%. The occupancy rate for commercial proper-
ties under development amounts to approximately 47% of
annual rents.

In an external assessment the market value of JM’s project
properties is estimated at SEK 2,576m (3,205). The corre-
sponding book value amounted to SEK 2,246m (2,833). The
surplus value thus amounted to SEK 330m (372). A break-
down of values for each category is shown below: 

Market Book Space Occupancy
value, value, (000), rate annual 

31 December 2004 SEKm SEKm sq.m. rent, %

Residential units (tenancy rights) 1,272 1,078 128 99

Commercial properties under development 720 671 53 47

Fully developed commercial properties 584 497 50 87

Total project properties 2,576 2,246 231 81 

Investments and acquisition of project properties amounted
to SEK 224m (1,772). Investments in existing project proper-
ties amounted to SEK 224m (350). No acquisitions of residen-
tial properties were made during the year, SEK 0m (1,422).

FINANCIAL ITEMS
INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES AND AVERAGE INTEREST RATES 

At 31 December 2004 the interest-bearing net debt
amounted to SEK 613m (2,611) representing a decrease of
SEK 2 billion during 2004 attributable to an improved cash
flow mainly in the fourth quarter. The debt/equity ratio
amounted to 0.2 (0.8) and the interest coverage ratio was 4.0
times (2.1). 

At 31 December 2004 total interest-bearing loans amounted

to SEK 1,930m (2,986) of which the PRI liability accounted for
SEK 453m (451). At the end of the period the average interest
rate for the total loan stock was 4.6% (5.5). The average fixed-
interest period for the Group’s total loan stock, excluding the
PRI liability, was 2.0 years (2.5). 

Year for interest conversion, loan amount and average
interest for the interest-bearing loans, see table below.

CASH FLOW

Cash flow from operating activities, which includes purchases
and sales of properties, amounted to SEK 2,161m (1,504). The
strong cash flow is mainly attributable to property sales and
limited investments in development properties combined with
a large number of housing starts. Cash flow for the year
amounted to SEK 953m (–264).

LIQUIDITY

The Group’s available liquidity amounted to SEK 4,102m
(3,065). Aside from cash and cash equivalents of SEK
1,285m (332) this includes unutilised overdraft facilities and
credit lines totalling SEK 2,817m (2,733). 

OTHER
EQUITY AND EQUITY RATIO

Consolidated shareholders’ equity at 31 December 2004
amounted to SEK 3,518m (3,285) divided between restrict-
ed equity of SEK 1,977m (1,796) and unrestricted equity of
SEK 1,541m (1,489).

The equity ratio amounted to 43% (36).

B O A R D  O F  D I R E C TO R S ’  R E P O RT

NET FINANCIAL ITEMS
Net financial items amounted to SEK –145m (–211), an im-
provement of SEK 66m compared with the previous year. Inter-
est expenses decreased primarily due to lower average borrow-
ings. The good cash flow allowed a loan of SEK 1.1 billion to be
redeemed. The cost of the early redemption amounted to SEK
21m (30) mainly attributable to the fourth quarter. 

NET FINANCIAL ITEMS JM GROUP

SEKm 2004 2003 2002 

Interest income 30 39 38

Interest expenses –175 –250 –322

Net financial items –145 –211 –284

PROFIT AFTER FINANCIAL ITEMS
Profit after financial items amounted to SEK 516m (267), an
increase of 93% compared with 2003.

PROFIT AFTER TAX
Profit after tax amounted to SEK 376m (187). The total tax
expense amounted to SEK –140m (–80) of which current tax
SEK –81m (–84) and deferred tax SEK –59m (4).

Property tax, which is treated as an operating expense,
was charged against earnings in the amount of SEK 23m (25).

DEVELOPMENT OF OPERATIONS
JM conducts project development of residential units and, to 
a selective extent, commercial premises. Undeveloped and
developed land is acquired and transformed through construc-
tion, conversion or extension into attractive living and work-
ing environments.

RESIDENTIAL 

The number of sold residential units in the form of signed con-
tracts rose to a record level of 4,315 (3,189). The good sales
during the period combined with a stable reservations rate,
created conditions for continued housing starts. The number
of housing starts rose to 3,943 (2,714). Despite the favourable
demand, JM is retaining its high requirements for the propor-
tion of reserved units prior to the start of production.

The building rights portfolio comprises approximately
21,900 residential units (23,400) of which approximately
13,000 residential units (16,000) are recognised in the bal-
ance sheet. 8,900 building rights are available through agree-

ments and are not recognised as an asset. In addition, there
are approximately 3,000 residential building rights in the
balance sheet that JM does not intend to utilise in the next
5–6 years. Capital tied up in the residential building rights
portfolio (development properties) had decreased to SEK
2,783m (3,439) at the end of the period.  

NUMBER OF BUILDING RIGHTS

2004 2003

JM Residential Stockholm 9,100 10,300

JM Residential Sweden 7,400 7,400

JM International 5,400 5,700

Total (approximately) 21,900 23,400

In addition, the JM Property Development business segment
has building rights available for commercial premises corre-
sponding to approximately 120,000 sq.m. with a book value
of SEK 185m.

A valuation of JM’s total development properties with a
book value of SEK 3.0 billion (3.6), including commercial
building rights of SEK 0.2 billion, indicates a surplus value of
just over SEK 1.1 billion (1.4). This valuation was conducted
in co-operation with an external valuation company. 

Total acquisitions of development properties during 2004
amounted to SEK 275m (664). Net investments in develop-
ment properties amounted to SEK –672m (–162). The hold-
ing then amounted to SEK 2,971m (3,631). This holding is a
prerequisite for JM’s residential project development.

PROJECT PROPERTIES 

Rental income from JM’s project properties amounted to SEK
242m (214) of which residential properties accounted for
SEK 140m (86). Operating net amounted to SEK 112m (109).

In total during 2004 properties were sold for SEK 1,018m
(2,219) with a capital gain of SEK 164m (411).

Impairment losses on project properties were recognised
with SEK 15m (63). Sales of properties to tenant-owner co-
operatives amounted to a total of SEK 492m.

One major property sale during the year was the sale of
the newly produced commercial property Skogskarlen 2 to
the German property fund Deka Immobilien Investment
GmbH for SEK 390m.

Vacancies within JM’s residential portfolio are negligible.
For the fully developed commercial properties vacancies

B O A R D  O F  D I R E C TO R S ’  R E P O RT

INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES AND AVERAGE INTEREST RATES AT 31 DECEMBER 2004

Year for interest Loan amount, Average Proportion of Committed credit Committed credit
conversion SEKm interest, % total loans, % facilities, SEKm facilities, %

2005 750 3.5 51 600 17

2006 221 5.6 15 820 23

2007 106 6.4 7

2008 100 6.6 7 1,700 48

2009– 300 5.8 20 400 12

Total excl. PRI 1,477 4.7 100 3,520 100

PRI 2005 453 4.2

Total incl. PRI 1,930 4.6

Average fixed-interest period (years) 2.0

Fixed-interest period includes derivatives.
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PERSONNEL 

The number of employees decreased during 2004 by 9% and
amounted at the end of the period to 2,155 (2,368). The
decrease was mainly due to a lower number of wage-earners
within Stockholm. The number of wage-earners was 1,130
(1,278) and the number of salaried employees 1,025 (1,090). 

The average number of employees during the year
amounted to 2,286 (2,566), of whom 267 (293) were
employed outside Sweden. Wages, salaries and social secu-
rity expenses amounted to SEK 1,177m (1,287), of which
social security expenses accounted for SEK 370m (397).

THE WORK OF THE BOARD IN 2004
At the Annual General Meeting held on 28 April 2004 it was
decided that the Board should comprise eight regular Board
members as well as two employee representatives with two
deputies appointed by the trade unions.

The Board held one statutory meeting and seven subse-
quent meetings.

Internal efficiency and strategy are issues that remained
the focus of the Board’s work in 2004. This includes both
group-wide pre-construction procedures and strategic pur-
chasing agreements.

All the members of the Board were present at all meetings,
with the exception of one occasion of absence each for three
of the members. The duties of the Chairman of the Board are
assessed as amounting to approximately 60 working days per
year and for other non-executive Board members to approxi-
mately 20 working days per year. The Chairman of the Board
evaluates the work of the Board annually with members and
provides the Nomination Committee with information
about results.

In 2003 a Compensation Committee and Audit Commit-
tee were set up each comprising three members of the Board.
In 2004 an Investment Committee was also established com-
prising three members of the Board. During the year the
Audit Committee held seven meetings, the Compensation
Committee six meetings and the Investment Committee five
meetings.

DIVIDEND AND REDEMPTION PROGRAMME
The strong balance sheet, good cash flows and completed
sales of residential and commercial properties provide scope
for a major transfer of capital to shareholders. For 2004 the

Board of Directors therefore proposes a dividend of SEK 7 
(5)  per share, a total of SEK 196m. In addition, the Board
proposes a redemption programme of approximately SEK 1.0
billion. These proposals represent a total transfer of approxi-
mately SEK 1.2 billion to shareholders during 2005 corre-
sponding to approximately SEK 43 per existing share. The
Board’s complete proposal for decision on the redemption
programme will be available in mid-April. The redemption
programme is expected to be completed around the end of
the first half of 2005.

The proposed record date is Tuesday, 3 May 2005. Pro-
vided the Annual General Meeting decides in favour of the
proposal, dividends are expected to be paid by VPC on Mon-
day, 9 May 2005.

PARENT COMPANY
The Parent Company’s core business is project development
of residential and commercial properties.

Net sales in 2004 for the Parent Company amounted to
SEK 6,016m (5,836).

The Parent Company’s profit before appropriations and
tax amounted to SEK 5m (735) in 2004. Investments in proj-
ect properties amounted to SEK 112m (232).

The average number of employees was 1,488 (2,061), of
whom 1,234 men (1,760) and 254 women (301). Wages, salaries
and social security expenses totalled SEK 832m (1,054). An
account of the number of employees and salaries and remuner-
ation is provided in the notes to the financial statements.

TRANSITION TO IFRS1) 2005
With effect from 2005 all listed companies in the European
Union must prepare their consolidated accounts in accor-
dance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS), which also include current International Accounting
Standards (IAS). Since the Swedish Financial Accounting
Standards Council’s recommendations (RR), which have been
applied by JM until and including 2004, are largely based on
IAS, the consolidated accounts are mostly already adapted
to the new rules. 

IFRS are still undergoing approval by the EU. The effects
of the transition to IFRS which are shown below are therefore
preliminary and based on current IFRS.

JM’s financial reporting for 2005 will be made in compli-

ance with IFRS and information for the comparative year
2004 will be restated with the exception of IAS 32 and 39.

The most significant effect for the Group of the transition
to IFRS relates to revenue recognition of housing projects
(Construction Contracts IAS 11). JM is also affected by
accounting for Business Combinations (goodwill) (IFRS 3)
and Financial Instruments (IAS 32 and 39). 

IAS 32 and 39 relating to financial instruments will be
applied with effect from 2005 and comparative figures, in
accordance with the transitional rules, have not been
restated.

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS (IAS 11)

In autumn 2004, the Swedish Construction Federation
issued an amendment to its industry recommendations relat-
ing to the percentage of completion method in residential
projects for sale. This recommendation, which is a specifica-
tion of IAS 11, prescribes a revenue recognition which is cal-
culated as stage of completion multiplied by sales rate. This
will result in more cautious revenue recognition than previ-
ously with a stronger link to sold residential units. For JM
this change means in 2005 that equity for the comparative
year 2004 decreases by SEK 210m, excluding deferred tax,
at 1 January 2004 and that operating profit increases by SEK
118m. This change is partly due to a shift effect with regard
to sales of residential properties in 2004 which were com-
pleted in 2003.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (IFRS 3)

This recommendation represents changes in the way com-
pany acquisitions are reported and means that planned
amortisation of goodwill will cease. The changes involve a
more detailed breakdown of the purchase price. Goodwill
which is not amortised on a current basis must be tested 
at least once a year for impairment. For JM application of
IFRS 3 means that the profit for 2004 increases by SEK 13m
because no goodwill amortisation will be effected from 
1 January 2004. 

EFFECTS OF THE TRANSITION TO IFRS

IFRS Effects balance sheet Liabilities/ 
1 January 2004 Assets Equity provisions

Opening balance according to
present principles,1 January 20041) 9,145 3,284 5,861

IFRS adjustments

Construction Contracts – –210 210

Deferred tax on IFRS adjustments – 59 –59

IFRS 1 January 2004 9,145 3,133 6,012
1) Includes the effect of changed accounting principle 2004, RR 29 Employee Benefits.

Liabilities/ 
31 December 2004 Assets Equity provisions

Closing balance according to 
present principles, 31 December 2004 8,329 3,518 4,721

IFRS adjustments

Construction Contracts – –92 92

Goodwill 13 13 –

Deferred tax on IFRS adjustments – 26 –26

IFRS 31 December 2004 8,252 3,465 4,787

Financial Instruments effect 1 January 2005 – –43 43

Deferred tax on IFRS adjustments – 12 –12

IFRS 1 January 2005 8,252 3,434 4,818

IFRS Effects income statement 2004 Income statement

Net profit for the year according to present principle 376

IFRS adjustments

Construction Contracts 118

Goodwill 13

Deferred tax on IFRS adjustments –33

Net profit for 2004 according to IFRS 474

31 Dec 2004 31 Dec 2004
IFRS Effects key ratios Present principles IFRS

Operating margin, % 7.9 9.3

Return on equity, % 11.1 14.4

Equity ratio, % 43 42

Earnings per share, SEK 13.40 16.90

B O A R D  O F  D I R E C TO R S ’  R E P O RT B O A R D  O F  D I R E C TO R S ’  R E P O RT

1) International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
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GROUP PARENT COMPANY
SEKm Note 2004 2003 2004 2003
Net sales 1 8,414 7,787 6,016 5,836
Costs for production and management –7,360 –7,152 –5,251 –5,458
Gross profit 1,054 635 765 378

Selling and administrative expenses –542 –505 –390 –379
Gains on the sale of properties 2 164 411 98 199
Impairment losses on properties 3 –15 –63 –15 –84
Operating profit 661 478 458 114

Result from financial items 4
Result from group companies – – –252 885
Result from other financial fixed assets 2 3 35 48
Result from financial current assets 28 36 48 31
Interest expenses and similar profit/loss items –175 –250 –284 –343
Profit after financial items 516 267 5 735

Appropriations in the Parent Company 5 12 86

Tax on profit for the year 6 –140 –80 13 0
NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 376 187 30 821

Earnings per share before dilution (SEK) 7 13.40 6.60
Earnings per share after dilution (SEK) 7 13.40 6.60
Proposed dividend per share (SEK) 7.00 5.00

I N C O M E  S TAT E M E N T

NEW METHOD FOR PROFIT RECOGNITION

Starting in the 2005 financial year, JM is applying a new method for
revenue and profit recognition of residential projects for sale.
This method, which has been drawn up within the Swedish Con-
struction Federation, continues to be based on percentage of
completion where, however, revenue recognition will take place
on the basis of sold residential units in the form of signed con-
tracts with end customers, as well as accrued expenses.The rec-
ommended method prescribes revenue recognition that is calcu-
lated as stage of completion multiplied by sales rate. The new
accounting principles comply with international accounting prin-
ciples IAS. See further pages 48–49 (Transition to IFRS 2005).

The illustration on the right describes schematically the differ-
ence between the new and old profit recognition method in a typ-
ical residential project. As shown the new profit recognition
method is more conservative since a larger proportion of revenue
recognition takes place later in the project.The reason is that the
new method only takes sold residential projects into account
when contracts are signed with end customers.The old method
also took reserved units into account and was based to a greater
extent on assessments regarding anticipated sales revenues.

PERCENTAGE OF COMPLETION IN A PROJECT
LINEAR RECOGNITION OF COSTS AND SALES

NET SALES SEK +627M

(2004: SEK 8,414m, 2003: SEK 7,787m)
Net sales increased for all business segments and the total
increase amounted to 8%. The largest increase was shown by
JM Residential Sweden with SEK 309m and JM International
with SEK 183m. The increased sales are a result of a higher
number of housing starts in residential projects as well as
general high demand for homes in the markets in which JM
operates.

JM’s accounting for net sales is mainly based on the princi-
ple of percentage of completion which means that revenue in
the project is recognised period for period in pace with com-
pletion stage.

GROSS PROFIT SEK +419M

(2004: SEK 1,054m, 2003: SEK 635m)
Gross profit comprises profit from projects (contribution
margin) after a charge for direct expenses and before selling
and administrative expenses.

The gross profit shows a very strong improvement mainly
attributable to JM Residential Stockholm SEK +266m, JM
Residential Sweden SEK +78m and JM International SEK
+53m. The strong improvement for JM Residential Stock-
holm is due to the fact that most of the older projects with a
low profit level were completed, efficiency enhancements
and strong demand combined with stable or rising prices for
homes. The result was also strengthened by final settlement
of a number of projects at the end of the year.

GAINS ON THE SALE OF PROPERTIES SEK –247M

(2004: SEK 164m, 2003: SEK 411m)
During 2004 properties were sold for SEK 1,018m compared
with SEK 2,219m in 2003. This lower result is due to de-
creased sales of properties. Sales in 2003 were part of JM’s
strategic decrease in the portfolio of project properties.

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON PROPERTIES SEK +48M

(2004: SEK –15m, 2003: SEK–63m)
Project and development properties with a market value
below book value must be subject to an impairment loss. In
2004 the impairment loss related to the office property
Barnängen in Stockholm. The impairment loss for 2003 re-
lated to the office properties Barnängen in Stockholm and
Västerbotten in Lidingö.

INTEREST EXPENSES AND

SIMILAR PROFIT/LOSS ITEMS SEK +75M

(2004: SEK –175m, 2003: SEK –250m)
The lower interest expenses are mainly due to lower average
borrowing. The good cash flow meant that loans amounting
to SEK 1.1 billion were redeemed. The strong cash flow is
mainly attributable to property sales and limited investments
in development properties combined with a large number of
housing starts.

Comments on the income statement

Q1
Year 1

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
Year2

Q2

Proportional recognition JM 2003–2004 IAS 11

Anticipated recognised profit
Profit

Time

JM Residential Stockholm, 38% (41)

JM Residential Sweden, 27% (26)

JM International, 21% (21)

JM Property Development, 3% (3)

JM Production, 11% (9)

CONSOLIDATED NET SALES BY BUSINESS SEGMENT
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GROUP PARENT COMPANY
SEKm Note 31 Dec 2004 31 Dec 2003 31 Dec 2004 31 Dec 2003
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Shareholders’ equity1)

Share capital 112 112 112 112
Restricted reserves/statutory reserve 1,865 1,684 754 754
Restricted shareholders’ equity 1,977 1,796 866 866

Unrestricted reserves/profit carried forward 1,165 1,302 1,219 487
Net profit for the year 376 187 30 821
Unrestricted equity 1,541 1,489 1,249 1,308

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 3,518 3,285 2,115 2,174

Untaxed reserves in the Parent Company 15 766 778

Provisions 19
Provisions for pensions and similar commitments 16 459 457 448 452
Provisions for taxes 17 521 449 3 7
Other provisions 18 135 139 94 84

1,115 1,045 545 543

Liabilities 19, 21, 25
Liabilities to credit institutions 20 1,405 2,451 1,103 2,167
Accounts payable, trade 464 518 276 399
Liabilities to group companies – – 2,174 1,820
Income tax liability 143 131 12 35
Progress billings in excess of recognised revenue 22 712 915 547 862
Other liabilities 23 270 288 181 201
Accrued expenses and deferred income 24 612 512 452 371

3,606 4,815 4,745 5,855

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
AND LIABILITIES 1 8,239 9,145 8,171 9,350

PLEDGED ASSETS
Pledges and equivalent collateral 

to secure own liabilities and provisions 25 180 183 100 100

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 25 4,852 3,686 5,378 4,475
1) See section Changes in shareholders’ equity, page 58.

B A L A N C E  S H E E T

GROUP PARENT COMPANY
SEKm Note 31 Dec 2004 31 Dec 2003 31 Dec 2004 31 Dec 2003
ASSETS
Fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets 8
Goodwill 42 55 – –

Tangible fixed assets 8
Machinery and equipment 33 46 14 26
Other tangible fixed assets 12 12 – –

45 58 14 26

Financial fixed assets 9
Participations in group companies – – 1,696 1,933
Receivables from group companies – – 614 1,186
Participations in associates 6 6 10 10
Receivables from associates – – 43 43
Other securities held as fixed assets 2 2 2 2
Other long-term receivables 47 47 33 28
Deferred tax assets 9,17 2 – – 1

57 55 2,398 3,203

TOTAL FIXED ASSETS 144 168 2,412 3,229

Current assets
Project properties 10 2,246 2,833 828 1,106

Development properties 10 2,971 3,631 2,161 2,629

Participations in tenant-owner 
co-operatives and similar 11 243 527 221 485

Current receivables
Accounts receivable, trade 389 338 198 224
Receivables from group companies – – 557 291
Recognised revenue less progress billings 12 698 1,029 468 944
Other current receivables 13 241 263 119 179
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 22 24 11 18

1,350 1,654 1,353 1,656

Cash and cash equivalents 1,285 332 1,196 245

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 8,095 8,977 5,759 6,121

TOTAL ASSETS 1,14 8,239 9,145 8,171 9,350

B A L A N C E  S H E E T



SIGNIFICANT CHANGES

GOODWILL SEK –13M

(2004: SEK 42m, 2003: SEK 55m)
Goodwill decreased by SEK 13m attributable to the current
amortisation effected for JM AB’s acquisition in Norway of
Byggholt in 1998 and Byggholt’s acquisition of Prosjektfinans
in 1999.

MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT SEK –13M

(2004: SEK 33m, 2003: SEK 46m)
The balance sheet item machinery and equipment decreased
by SEK 13m since the investment level in IT and other equip-
ment was at a low level in 2003 and 2004 due to implemented
cost savings.

PROJECT PROPERTIES SEK –587M

(2004: SEK 2,246m, 2003: SEK 2,833m)
The holding of project properties decreased by 21% mainly
due to the sale of the commercial property Skogskarlen 2 for
SEK 390m and sales of residential properties to tenant-
owner co-operatives in Nacka and Vaxholm for SEK 492m.
Investments in project properties amounted to SEK 224m. 

DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES SEK –660M

(2004: SEK 2,971m, 2003: SEK 3,631m)
Development properties decreased by 18% and mainly com-
prise the Group’s residential building rights in the balance
sheet. The number of building rights in the balance sheet has
decreased from 16,000 to 13,000. Capital tied up in develop-
ment properties has mainly decreased within Residential
Stockholm, by SEK –517m.

Comments on the balance sheet

PARTICIPATIONS IN TENANT-OWNER 

CO-OPERATIVES AND SIMILAR SEK –284M

(2004: SEK 243m, 2003: SEK 527m)
Unsold residential units in the Group’s projects are acquired
from the tenant-owner co-operatives at a price according to a
financial plan to the extent sales to customers have not been
sufficiently fast. Of the total reduction, SEK 211m is attrib-
utable to Residential Stockholm.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE,TRADE SEK +51M

(2004: SEK 389m, 2003: SEK 338m)
Accounts receivable have increased by 15% due to the vol-
ume of housing starts during the year which increased by
45% from 2,714 housing starts to 3,943. Accounts receivable
arise as an administrative stage between billings to tenant-
owner co-operatives and the receipt of funds from building
loans.

RECOGNISED REVENUE LESS PROGRESS BILLINGS SEK –331M

(2004: SEK 698m, 2003: SEK 1,029m)
Recognised revenue less progress billings decreased by 32%
mainly due to a decrease in unfinanced pre-construction and
infrastructure costs.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS SEK +953M

(2004: SEK 1,285m, 2003: SEK 332m)
Cash and cash equivalents increased substantially due to the
Group’s excellent cash flows from property sales and current
operations. Loans were not redeemed to the same extent
since an appropriate capital structure and fixed interest
period for the operations has been retained meaning that
cash and cash equivalents mainly comprise surplus liquidity
for further distribution to shareholders in accordance with
the Board’s proposal.
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Fixed assets, 2% (2)

Project properties, 27% (31)

Development properties, 36% (40)

Cash and cash equivalents, 16% (4)

Other current assets, 19% (23)

Shareholders’ equity, 43% (36)

Provisions, 13% (11)

Interest-bearing liabilities, 18% (28)

Non-interest bearing liabilities, 26% (25)
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5756 C A S H  F L O W  S TAT E M E N T

OPERATING ACTIVITIES SEK +657M

2004: SEK 2,161m, 2003: SEK 1,504m
Cash flow from operating activities improved to SEK 2,161m
(1,504) mainly attributable to property sales and limited
investments in development properties combined with a large
number of housing starts in all markets within the Group.

Cash flow from operations before interest and tax SEK +344m
2004: SEK 524m, 2003: SEK 180m
Operations, before interest and tax, contributed SEK 524m
(180). This is an improvement of SEK 344m after adjustment
for gains on property sales of SEK 164m, reported under sales
for each type of property, and elimination of non-cash items.
Cash flow from operations improved due to the increased
number of project starts combined with higher margins.

Cash flow from operations after interest and tax SEK +398m
2004: SEK 315m, 2003: SEK –83m
Net interest received and paid, etc., decreased from SEK –206m
in 2003 to SEK –140m in 2004 attributable to substantially
reduced borrowings in 2004 and lower average interest on loans.

Paid tax increased from SEK –57m in 2003 to SEK –69m in
2004 attributable to improved profit after financial items.

Net development properties, etc. SEK +1,021m
(including participations in 
tenant-owner co-operatives)
2004: SEK 1,003m, 2003: SEK –18m
JM only invested in new development properties to a limited
extent, SEK 275m (664). At the same time, SEK 892m (698)
went into production in conjunction with project starts. Dur-
ing the year the Group reduced its holding of participations in
tenant-owner co-operatives with a positive net flow of SEK
372m (–176) where a lower number of new residential units
were acquired while older holdings were sold.

Current receivables and liabilities SEK –262m
2004: SEK 136m, 2003: SEK 398m
The change in current receivables and liabilities in total had a
positive effect on flows of SEK 136m (398) during the year.

Net project properties SEK –500m
2004: SEK 707m, 2003: SEK 1,207m
Both sales and investments in project properties decreased
compared with the previous year which meant that the net
contribution to cash flow decreased by SEK 500m.

FINANCING ACTIVITIES SEK +546M

2004: SEK –1,197m, 2003: SEK –1,743m
Cash flow from operating activities was used for dividend to
shareholders, SEK –140m (–281) and amortisation of loans
SEK –1,103m (–2,828). The increased cash flow was not used
to further amortise external loans since the Group wishes to
retain an appropriate capital structure for its operations.

QUARTERLY COMMENTS 2004

During the year cash flows for each quarter fluctuated sub-
stantially which is natural in a project development company.
Project starts and property sales can take place regularly over
time (see table page 90). During the quarters JM sold prop-
erty portfolios for later payment. The net effect, sales pro-
ceeds minus receivable, affected cash flow by approximately
SEK 8m, 634m, 50m and 239m for each quarter. Cash flow
was affected by a dividend of SEK 140m in the second quarter.

Comments on the cash flow statementGROUP PARENT COMPANY
SEKm Note 2004 2003 2004 2003
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating profit before financial items 661 478 458 114
Depreciation and impairment losses 50 109 30 101
Adjustment for non-cash items 28 –187 –407 –118 –206
Cash flow from operations before interest and tax 524 180 370 9

Interest received 29 38 82 79
Dividends received 1 1 102 783
Interest paid and other financial expenses –170 –245 –276 –352
Paid tax –69 –57 –30 0
Cash flow from operations after interest and tax 315 –83 248 519

Investments in development properties, etc. 29 –1,056 –1,578 –845 –1,414
Transferred to production/sales 

development properties, etc. 30 2,059 1,560 1,637 1,025

Increase/decrease in accounts receivable, trade –47 –22 26 21
Increase/decrease in other current receivables, etc. 80 351 –35 860
Increase/decrease in accounts payable, trade –54 –3 –123 –21
Increase/decrease in other current operating liabilities 157 72 440 417
Cash flow before investments 

and sales of project properties 1,454 297 1,348 1,407

Investments in project properties, etc. 31 –224 –1,878 –112 –232
Sales of project properties, etc. 32 931 3,085 415 934
Cash flow from operating activities 2,161 1,504 1,651 2,109

INVESTING ACTIVITIES, OTHER
Investments in intangible fixed assets – –8 – –
Investments in tangible fixed assets –18 –28 –5 –10
Sale of tangible fixed assets 7 2 2 1
Investments in group companies – – –100 –340
Change in financial fixed assets 0 9 567 –433
Cash flow from investing activities, other –11 –25 464 –782

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repurchase of shares – –154 – –154
Loans raised 46 1,520 – 1,520
Amortisation of loans –1,103 –2,828 –1,076 –2,807
Group contributions paid – – 52 147
Dividends paid –140 –281 –140 –281
Cash flow from financing activities –1,197 –1,743 –1,164 –1,575

Total cash flow for the year 953 –264 951 –248
Cash and cash equivalents, 1 January 332 596 245 493
Cash and cash equivalents, 31 December 1,285 332 1,196 245

INTEREST-BEARING NET DEBT
Interest-bearing liabilities and provisions 1,930 2,986 3,795 4,522
Cash and cash equivalents –1,285 –332 –1,196 –245
Interest-bearing receivables –32 –43 –633 –1,210
Interest-bearing net debt, 31 December 613 2,611 1,966 3,067

C A S H  F L O W  S TAT E M E N T
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These annual accounts and consolidated accounts for JM AB have been
submitted by the Board and will be presented for adoption at the
Annual General Meeting on 28 April 2005.

Accounting principles
The annual accounts are prepared in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles in Sweden which means that they are
prepared in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act and recommen-
dations and pronouncements from the Swedish Financial Accounting
Standards Council The same accounting and valuation principles apply
for the Parent Company and for the Group unless otherwise specified.

Changed accounting principles and reporting 2004
With effect from 1 January 2004, JM applies RR 29,Employee Benefits.
In accordance with the recommendation’s transitional rules, an open-
ing pension liability is established calculated as per 1 January 2004.This
opening liability exceeds the liability reported at 31 December 2003
by SEK 1.0m.The increased liability is reported as an increase in provi-
sions for pensions of SEK 1.0m and as a decrease in shareholders’
equity of SEK 0.7m after taking deferred tax into account. In accor-
dance with the recommendation’s transitional rules JM will not restate
earlier accounting years.

With effect from 2004, JM applies a new margin measurement based
on operating profit for both business segments and the Group.Com-
parative figures have been changed.

Starting in 2004, the previously designated investment properties
are placed under the designation project properties.

Transition to international financial reporting standards
(IFRS) 2005
See further in the Board of Directors’ Report, pages 48–49.

Consolidated accounts
The consolidated accounts include those companies in which the Par-
ent Company owns more than 50% of the voting rights directly or indi-
rectly,or otherwise has a controlling interest.

The consolidated accounts are prepared according to the purchase
accounting method, whereby consolidated shareholders’ equity only
includes the portion of subsidiaries’ equity that arose after the acquisition.

If the consolidated cost of the shares exceeds the fair value of sub-
sidiaries’ net assets stated in the acquisition analysis, the difference is
reported as consolidated goodwill.

Companies acquired during the year are included in the consolidated
accounts in an amount proportionate to the period after the acquisi-
tion. Profit from companies sold during the year is included in the con-
solidated income statement until the date of sale.

Foreign subsidiaries are regarded as operating as independent units
and their accounts have therefore been translated according to the cur-
rent method, whereby all assets, provisions and other liabilities are
translated at the closing day rate and all items in the income statement
are translated at the average rate during the year.Translation differences
thus arising are transferred directly to shareholders’ equity. In the event
that hedging has been effected to balance and hedge against exchange
rate differences on a net investment in an independent subsidiary, the
exchange rate difference arising from translation of the hedging instru-
ment is transferred directly to shareholders’ equity.

In the event of different valuations of assets and liabilities at Group and
company level a tax effect arises which is reported as a deferred tax asset
or a deferred tax liability.See also the section on reporting income taxes.

Intra-group profits are eliminated in full.

Associated companies
Companies in which the Group has a significant influence, which is
assumed when the holding amounts to at least 20% and not more than
50% of the voting rights, are reported as associates.This also assumes
that ownership is part of a lasting connection and that the holding
should not be reported as a joint venture. Associates are included in
the consolidated accounts according to the equity method. JM’s hold-
ing of associates is negligible.

Joint ventures
Companies that are not subsidiaries and which conduct operations in
consortium-like forms, i.e.with joint ownership and control and opera-
tions for a limited period are consolidated according to the propor-
tional method.

Receivables and liabilities in foreign currency
Receivables and liabilities in foreign currency are valued at the closing
day rate.The difference between cost and the closing rate is recog-
nised in the income statement.

Financial instruments
Interest rate derivatives are used to change the underlying financial lia-
bilities’ interest rate structure in order to minimise risk and are
reported as a hedge of the same. Amounts to be paid or received as a
result of derivative contracts entered into are recognised on a current
basis as interest income or interest expense. Until the payment date,
changes in market values that have not yet been realised are not recog-
nised in the balance sheet.

JM’s financial instruments that are recognised in the balance sheet
are held until maturity and include securities, receivables and operat-
ing liabilities.They are measured and booked at amortised cost.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are included in the consolidated accounts in the cost
for buildings in progress (project properties) and are therefore not
recognised as a financial expense in the income statement. In general,
borrowing costs added to acquisition cost are limited to assets that
take a significant time for completion which in the Group’s case com-
prise construction of project properties. Capitalisation occurs when
the expenditure included in the cost is incurred and activities to com-
plete the building have started.Capitalisation ceases when the building
is completed or should have been completed.

If special borrowing has been made for the project the actual bor-
rowing cost is used. In other cases the borrowing cost is calculated on
the basis of the Group’s borrowing cost. In the Parent Company, cor-
responding borrowing costs are recognised as an expense and there-
fore shown as a financial expense in the income statement.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are defined as cash and bank balances as well
as short-term investments with a maturity not exceeding three months.

Percentage of completion method
The percentage of completion method is based on the view that an
assignment is carried out in pace with completion of the respective
project. Revenue and profit in the project are reported period by
period, in pace with recognition,providing a direct link between finan-
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Share Restricted Unrestricted Net profit Total share-
GROUP capital reserves reserves for the year holders’ equity
Shareholders’ equity, 31 December 2002 121 1,675 1,521 253 3,570
Transfer of profit for 2002 – – 253 –253 –
Buy-backs of own shares – – –154 – –154
Cancellation of repurchased shares –9 – 9 – –
Translation differences – –37 – – –37
Transfer between unrestricted and restricted equity – 46 –46 – –
Dividend – – –281 – –281
Net profit for 2003 – – – 187 187
Shareholders’ equity, 31 December 2003 112 1,684 1,302 187 3,285
Effect of changed accounting principle – – –1 – –1
Transfer of profit for 2003 – – 187 –187 –
Translation differences – –10 8 – –2
Transfer between unrestricted and restricted equity – 191 –191 – –
Dividend – – –140 – –140
Net profit for 2004 – – – 376 376
Shareholders’ equity, 31 December 2004 112 1,865 1,165 376 3,518

Accumulated translation difference at year-end – –5 –19 – –24

Share Statutory Premium Profit brought Net profit Total share-
PARENT COMPANY capital reserve reserve forward for the year holders’ equity
Shareholders’ equity, 31 December 2002 121 687 67 816 –57 1,634
Transfer of profit for 2002 – – – –57 57 –
Buy-backs of own shares – – – –154 – –154
Cancellation of repurchased shares –9 – – 9 – –
Group contribution received – – – 204 – 204
Tax effect of group contribution – – – –57 – –57
Merger of group companies – – – 7 – 7
Dividend – – – –281 – –281
Net profit for 2003 – – – – 821 821
Shareholders’ equity, 31 December 2003 112 687 67 487 821 2,174
Transfer of profit for 2003 – – – 821 –821 –
Group contribution received – – – 71 – 71
Tax effect of group contribution – – – –20 – –20
Dividend – – – –140 – –140
Profit for 2004 – – – – 30 30
Shareholders’ equity, 31 December 2004 112 687 67 1,219 30 2,115

Number of shares (1 vote/share) at 31 December 2004 amounts to 28,065,407. Par value per share is SEK 4.

Proposed dividend for 2004 is SEK 7 per share (5).
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pany’s PRI liability is calculated in Sweden.Obligations and costs must be
calculated according to the Projected Unit Credit Method.The inten-
tion is that the anticipated future pension payments should be expensed
in a manner that provides more even costs over the employee’s period
of service. Anticipated future salary increases and anticipated inflation
are included in the calculation.The present value of the obligations is dis-
counted in the first place based on a market return on first-class corpo-
rate bonds on the reporting date.The fair value of the plan assets is
deducted from the estimated value of the obligations. In order to avoid
substantial fluctuations in pension costs between years, changes can
within a certain level (known as the corridor) be left unrecognised in the
income statement and in the balance sheet.The corridor means that
actuarial gains and losses only affect the Group’s profit or loss to the
extent that they exceed the higher of 10% of the present value of pen-
sion obligations compared with 10% of the fair value of the plan assets.
The recognised return on plan assets relates to the estimated return at
the beginning of the year and therefore normally differs from the actual
return during the year.This variance is an actuarial gain or loss. Informa-
tion about the Group’s pension obligations is provided in Note 16.

Only an insignificant part of the Group’s defined benefit pension obli-
gations have been financed through premiums to Alecta.Since the req-
uisite information cannot be obtained from Alecta,these pension obli-
gations are reported as a defined contribution plan.

Taxes payable on pension costs, for example the Swedish payroll tax
on pension costs, are taken into account when calculating pension
obligations as described above which is in accordance with the draft
pronouncement no. 43 issued by the Emerging Issues Task Force,
Accounting for special employer’s contribution and yield tax.

At the Parent Company, defined benefit pension plans are reported
in accordance with Swedish accounting practice that has applied so far,
which is based on the regulations in the Law on Safeguarding of Pen-
sion Commitments.

Goodwill
Goodwill on the acquisition of Byggholt AS (1998) and AS Prosjekt-
finans (1999) in Norway is being amortised straight-line over 10 years.
The amortisation period is motivated by the strategic and long-term
nature of the acquisition and the reputation of these companies in the
Norwegian market.

Machinery and equipment
Tangible fixed assets are recognised at cost after depreciation accord-
ing to plan.Depreciation according to plan is applied on a straight-line
basis and based on the assets’ cost and assessed useful life.The follow-
ing depreciation rates are applied:

Construction machinery 10%
Computers and other equipment 20–33%
Vehicles 20%

Leasing
Leases are classified as either a finance or operating lease. A finance
lease exists when the economic risks and benefits that are associated
with ownership are essentially transferred to the lessee. If this is not
the case, it is an operating lease.Briefly,a finance lease means that the
asset is recognised as an asset in the balance sheet while a matching
liability is recognised as a liability item in the balance sheet.The leasing
payments are divided in the income statement between depreciation
and interest expenses. An operating lease means that no asset or
matching liability item is recognised in the balance sheet. In the

income statement the leasing charges are divided over the year on the
basis of use which may differ from what was paid as a leasing charge
during the current year. JM’s leasing contracts are of limited scope.

Mergers
Mergers of wholly owned group companies are reported according to
the consolidated value method, whereby all assets and liabilities are
taken over at values based on the acquisition analysis carried out in
connection with the original acquisition of the group company in ques-
tion.The merger difference is taken directly to shareholders’ equity.
Mergers are reported in accordance with general advice from the
Swedish Accounting Standards Board.

Group contributions
Group contributions paid and received in the Parent Company are
reported according to the pronouncement made by the Swedish Finan-
cial Accounting Standards Council’s Emerging Issues task force,whereby
Group contributions paid and received to minimise the Group’s tax are
reported as a decrease/increase in unrestricted equity.

Tax
The Tax item in the income statement includes current and deferred
income tax for Swedish and foreign group units.The companies in the
Group are liable for tax according to existing legislation in each coun-
try.The state income tax rate in Sweden was 28% during the year and
is calculated on nominal book profit with an addition for non-
deductible items and a deduction for non-taxable income and other
deductions, primarily tax-free dividends from subsidiaries.The balance
sheet method is applied to accounting for income taxes. According to
this method deferred tax liabilities and assets are reported for all tem-
porary differences between book and fiscal values respectively for
assets and liabilities and for other fiscal deductions or deficits.Deferred
tax assets are recognised net against deferred tax liabilities if these can
be used against deferred tax liabilities. Deferred tax liabilities and tax
assets are calculated on the basis of the anticipated tax rate when the
temporary difference is cancelled.The effects of changes in applicable
tax rates are taken to income in the period the change becomes law.
Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent the company cannot
stipulate that it is probable that the underlying tax asset can be realised
within the foreseeable future.

Cash flow statement
The cash flow statement has been prepared according to the indirect
method in accordance with the Swedish Financial Accounting Stan-
dards Council’s recommendation RR 7, Accounting for cash flows.The
analysis has been adapted to JM’s operations.

Since buying and selling of project and development properties are
part of JM’s ongoing activities, these are reported under the corre-
sponding sections of the cash flow statement.The item reversal of
project properties mainly refers to utilisation of properties for pro-
duction and is matched by a cash flow in the form of invoicing.

Buying and selling of fixed assets not pertaining to properties are
reported under Investing activities,other.

Cash and cash equivalents are classified as cash and bank balances and
short-term financial investments that are traded on the open market at
known amounts and are associated with only a marginal risk for value
fluctuations.Cash and cash equivalents also include short-term invest-
ments with a maturity of less than 3 months from the acquisition date.

The year’s paid tax is reported in full under operating activities.
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cial reporting and the operations conducted during the period.
Revaluations (changes in forecasts) of anticipated project revenues

lead to adjustment of previously recognised revenue in the project
concerned.This adjustment is included in the net profit for the period.

Anticipated losses are charged to the profit for the period in full.
Revenue recognition according to the percentage of completion

method is carried out already at the preliminary stage of the project and
continues according to the same principle until the project is completed.

The percentage of completion method is also applied in the Parent
Company.

Most of JM’s operations pertain to housing projects conducted by JM
for subsequent sale.These operations consist of projects on JM’s own
land for production of housing for sale as tenant-owned/freehold
apartments or tracts of single-family homes for sale directly to con-
sumers.

However,revenue recognition from JM’s own projects for future sale
must meet the following two basic criteria with regard to reliability:
– Declarations or preliminary agreements must exist to such an

extent that the building contractor,based on reliable experience,can
assume that the full provision of the end product (the future resi-
dential units) is guaranteed.

– The building contractor’s decisions regarding the technical and
financial framework,timetable and operating organisation for imple-
mentation of the project shall meet the specifications made when
the client-principal relationship was formalised through the transfer
of land and signing of a contracting agreement.

In residential project development the development property is nor-
mally owned by JM at the start of the project.

When production starts the property is transferred by book value
to the project and included with the project’s other production costs.
Interest expenses are included among production costs from the start
of production.

Revenue recognition,sale of properties
Income from the sale of properties is normally recognised as revenue
when the purchase contract is signed. This assumes that the seller
does not have to carry out any essential action according to the pur-
chase contract and that the risk of cancellation is not considered to
exist.Reporting of every property sale is examined individually.

Project properties (previously called investment properties)
The purpose of JM’s holding of project properties is that they should
be sold and they are therefore classified as current assets and valued
in accordance with the Swedish Financial Accounting Standards Coun-
cil’s recommendation RR 2:02 Inventories.Starting in the first quarter
of 2004, these properties are designated as project properties.

Production costs for JM’s fully developed properties include both
direct costs and a reasonable share of indirect costs.

Interest expenses pertaining to production of project properties are
recognised as an expense in the Parent Company. In the consolidated
accounts the same amount is added to the cost of project properties.

Development properties
Properties,undeveloped or developed,that are intended for production
of tenant-owned apartments/freehold apartments or single-family
homes and land for investment properties are reported as development
properties.The properties are normally sold soon after the start of pro-
duction. Operating profit from development properties is reported as

profit from project development operations. Interest is not included in
the cost of development properties.

Impairment losses
If on the balance sheet date there is any indication that a tangible or
intangible fixed asset has impaired in value a calculation is performed
of the recoverable amount of the asset. If the estimated recoverable
amount is lower than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised on the asset’s recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is reversed when the basis for the impairment,
wholly or partly, no longer exists.

The term impairment loss is also used in conjunction with revalua-
tion of properties reported as current assets. Valuation of these prop-
erties is performed, however, according to the lower of cost and
market principle and follows RR 2:02, Inventories.

Provisions
Provisions are reported when JM has or is considered to have a com-
mitment as a result of events that have occurred and where it is prob-
able that payments will be required in order to meet the commitment.
A further prerequisite is that it is possible to make a reliable estima-
tion of the amount to be paid.

Provisions are made for future costs on the basis of guarantee com-
mitments.This calculation is based on the estimated costs for the proj-
ect concerned or for a group of similar projects, calculated according
to a ratio that historically provided a satisfactory provision for these
costs.The same ratio can for example function as a proportion of net
sales or estimated cost per completed residential unit.

Segment reporting –
business segments and geographical segments
For the purpose of reporting according to RR 25,Segment Reporting –
business segments and geographical segments, the Group’s operations
have been divided into a primary segment which comprises the geo-
graphical areas Sweden and International.The Swedish operations are
also divided into four business segments, JM Residential Stockholm, JM
Residential Sweden (rest of Sweden), JM Production and JM Property
Development, which are reported separately within the Sweden seg-
ment. JM’s secondary segment comprises project development. Since
there is only one secondary segment information is provided in the
income statement and balance sheet and cash flow statement.

Employee benefits/pensions 
In the consolidated accounts employee benefits are treated in accor-
dance with RR 29 Employee Benefits. For pension obligations the
change of principle has led to a change in the Group’s equity and other
balance sheet items at the beginning of the year. Previously, pension
obligations were reported in accordance with accounting practice in
each country. According to the recommendation’s transitional rules
comparative figures should not be adjusted.

The recommendation differentiates between defined contribution
pension plans and defined benefit pension plans. Defined contribution
pension plans are defined as plans where the company pays set charges
to a separate legal entity and does not have any obligation to pay addi-
tional charges even if the legal entity does not have sufficient assets to
pay the benefits to employees attributable to their service until the
reporting date. Other pension plans are defined benefit. Calculation of
defined benefit pension plans is carried out in a manner that often differs
from local rules in each country, for example from the way the com-
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET BY SEGMENT
Unallocated Unallocated

JM JM JM items Sub- Sub- items
Group, 31 December 2004 Residential Residential Property JM within total JM total within Group
Assets Stockholm Sweden Development Production Sweden Sweden International Group the Group total
Fixed assets – – – – – – 42 42 102 4) 144

Project properties 69 82 1,789 – – 1,940 306 2,246 – 2,246

Development properties 1,702 687 185 3 – 2,577 394 2,971 – 2,971

Participations in tenant-owner co-operatives 187 33 1 – – 221 22 243 – 243

Current receivables 392 294 42 165 – 893 358 1,251 99 5) 1,350

Cash and cash equivalents – – – – – – – – 1,285 4) 1,285

Total current assets 2,350 1,096 2,017 168 – 5,631 1,080 6,711 1,384 8,095

TOTAL ASSETS 2,350 1,096 2,017 168 – 5,631 1,122 6,753 1,486 8,239

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities
Shareholders’ equity – – – – – – – – 3,518 4) 3,518

Provisions – – – – – – – – 1,115 4) 1,115

Liabilities 370 415 14 160 – 959 116 1,075 2,531 5) 3,606

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
AND LIABILITIES 370 415 14 160 – 959 116 1,075 7,164 8,239

Total operating capital by business segment 1,980 681 2,003 8 – – 1,006 – – –

Investments in fixed assets – – – – – – – – 18 6) 18

Group, 31 December 2003
Assets
Fixed assets – – – – – – 55 55 113 4) 168

Project properties 74 86 2,405 – – 2,565 268 2,833 – 2,833

Development properties 2,219 700 187 5 – 3,111 520 3,631 – 3,631

Participations in tenant-owner co-operatives 398 82 1 – 3 4) 484 43 527 – 527

Current receivables 638 484 4 113 – 1,239 236 1,475 179 5) 1,654

Cash and cash equivalents – – – – – – – – 332 4) 332

Total current assets 3,329 1,352 2,597 118 3 7,399 1,067 8,466 511 8,977

TOTAL ASSETS 3,329 1,352 2,597 118 3 7,399 1,122 8,521 624 9,145

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities
Shareholders’ equity – – – – – – – – 3,285 4) 3,285

Provisions – – – – – – – – 1,045 4) 1,045

Liabilities 647 470 23 110 – 1,250 144 1,394 3,421 5) 4,815

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
AND LIABILITIES 647 470 23 110 – 1,250 144 1,394 7,751 9,145

Total operating capital by business unit 2,682 882 2,574 8 – – 978 – – –

Investments in fixed assets – – – – – – 8 8 30 6) 38

Comments: The JM Group’s primary basis of division for segment reporting is the geographical areas Sweden and International.The Swedish operations are also divided into four busi-
ness segments: JM Residential Stockholm, JM Residential Sweden, JM Property Development and JM Production,which are reported separately within the Sweden segment. JM’s second-
ary segment comprises project development. Since there is only one secondary segment information is provided in the income statements,balance sheets and cash flow statements.
1) Unallocated items within Sweden comprise elimination of intra-group invoicing between business segments.
2) Pertains to group-wide costs.
3) Net financial items and tax are not allocated by segment, but reported as unallocated items.
4) The assets and liabilities and shareholders’ equity that are not included in JM’s definition of operating capital are not allocated by segment.They are reported as unallocated

items since they mainly cannot be allocated in a reasonable and fair manner.
5) The items within current receivables and liabilities that are included in JM’s definition of operating capital are allocated by segment.Other items are reported as unallocated items.
6) Investments in intangible fixed assets are allocated by segment.Tangible fixed assets are not included in JM’s definition of operating capital and these investments are therefore

stated as an unallocated item.
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NOTE 1 CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT BY SEGMENT

Unallocated Unallocated
JM JM JM items Sub- Sub- items

Residential Residential Property JM within total JM total within Group
Group 2004 Stockholm Sweden Development Production Sweden Sweden International Group the Group total
Net sales – external 3,336 2,401 276 535 6,548 1,866 8,414 – 8,414

Net sales – internal – – – 396 –396 1) – – – – –

Total net sales 3,336 2,401 276 931 –396 6,548 1,866 8,414 – 8,414

Costs for production and management* –2,973 –2,106 –173 –847 396 1) –5,703 –1,657 –7,360 – –7,360

Gross profit 363 295 103 84 – 845 209 1,054 – 1,054

Selling and administrative expenses** –170 –112 –41 –46 – –369 –106 –475 –67 2) –542

Gains on the sale of properties 1 3 154 5 – 163 1 164 – 164

Impairment losses on properties – – –15 – – –15 – –15 – –15

Operating profit/loss (operating result) 194 186 201 43 – 624 104 728 –67 661

Net financial items –145 3) –145

Profit/loss after financial items 728 –212 516

Tax on profit for the year –140 3) –140

NET PROFIT/LOSS FOR THE YEAR 728 –352 376
*   Of which: amortisation of 

intangible fixed assets – – – – – – –13 –13 – –13
** Of which: depreciation of 

tangible fixed assets –4 –3 –1 –2 –6 –16 –6 –22 – –22

Group 2003
Net sales – external 3,218 2,092 227 567 – 6,104 1,683 7,787 – 7,787

Net sales – internal – – – 134 –134 1) – – – – –

Total net sales 3,218 2,092 227 701 –134 6,104 1,683 7,787 – 7,787

Costs for production and management* –3,121 –1,875 –129 –634 134 1) –5,625 –1,527 –7,152 – –7,152

Gross profit 97 217 98 67 – 479 156 635 – 635

Selling and administrative expenses** –141 –112 –51 –33 – –337 –106 –443 –62 2) –505

Gains on the sale of properties 22 –7 374 – – 389 22 411 – 411

Impairment losses on properties – – –63 – – –63 – –63 – –63

Operating loss/profit (operating result) –22 98 358 34 – 468 72 540 –62 478

Net financial items –211 3) –211

Profit/loss after financial items 540 –273 267

Tax on profit for the year –80 3) –80

NET PROFIT/LOSS FOR THE YEAR 540 –353 187
*   Of which: amortisation of 

intangible fixed assets – – – –1 – –1 –13 –14 – –14
** Of which: depreciation of 

tangible fixed assets –3 –3 –1 –5 –7 –19 –7 –26 – –26

Net sales by country Sweden Norway Denmark Belgium Total
2004    6,548 1,136 507 223 8,414

2003     6,104 985 525 173 7,787
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Amounts in SEKm unless otherwise stated.



NOTE 5 APPROPRIATIONS IN THE PARENT COMPANY

Parent Company
2004 2003

Depreciation in excess/below plan equipment 4 9

Provision to tax allocation reserve –10 –17

Reversal of tax allocation reserve 18 94

Total 12 86

NOTE 6 TAX ON PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Group Parent Company
2004 2003 2004 2003

Profit before tax

Sweden 461 231 17 821

International 55 36 – –

Total 516 267 17 821

Current tax

Sweden –45 –60 17 55

International –36 –24 – –

Total –81 –84 17 55

Deferred tax

Sweden –60 –4 –4 –55

International 1 8 – –

Total –59 4 –4 –55

Total tax

Sweden –105 –64 13 0

International –35 –16 – –

Total –140 –80 13 0

Difference between reported tax and nominal tax rate 28%

Profit before tax x 28% –144 –75 –5 –230

Adjustment of tax from
previous years 6 2 7 12

Difference foreign tax –1 –1 – –

Non-taxable income 18 2 13 222

Non-deductible expenses –7 –6 –2 –2

Recalculation of deferred tax 
from previous years –12 –2 – –2

Total –140 –80 13 0

NOTE 7 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Group
2004 2003

Net profit 375.6 187.0

Profit for calculation of earnings 
per share before dilution 375.6 187.0

Reversal of interest expenses on convertible debenture – 0.2

Profit for calculation of earnings 
per share after dilution 375.6 187.2

Average number of shares before dilution 28,065,407 28,311,705

Average number of shares after dilution 28,065,407 28,311,705

Earnings per share before dilution (SEK) 13.40 6.60

Earnings per share after dilution (SEK) 13.40 6.60

Calculation of earnings per share before dilution is based on net profit for the year. In
the calculation of earnings per share after dilution, net profit for the year is adjusted
with interest expenses for a convertible debenture of SEK 0 (169,000).

Number of shares
The average number of shares before dilution for 2004 amounts to 28,065,407
(28,311,705).The average number of shares after dilution for 2004 amounts to
28,065,407 (28,311,705). Since no dilution effect relating to number of shares exists
for 2004, the total number of shares after full conversion amounted to 28,065,407
(28,065,407) at the end of the period.

Convertible debentures
JM AB issued convertible debentures in 1999–2001 which carried entitlement to
conversion to a total of 543,588 ordinary shares, during the period 16 June 2001–
1 June 2003.

A total of 448,507 shares were converted, of which 1,793 in 2003. Remaining
convertibles were redeemed on 1 June 2003.

Subscription warrants
In 2001 all employees in Sweden were invited to acquire subscription warrants in the
company.The warrant programme comprised a total of 600,000 warrants.A total of
376,000 warrants were subscribed for in 2001 and 2002.The price per warrant was
determined based on the Black & Scholes method.The price on the first subscription
date was SEK 20. Each warrant carried entitlement to subscribe for one share in the
period 3 May 2004 to 30 June 2004 for SEK 271.50.

No warrants were exercised since the subscription price during the subscription
price was higher than the market price.
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NOTE 2 GAINS ON THE SALE OF PROPERTIES

Group Parent Company
Sales revenue 2004 2003 2004 2003

Project properties 945 2,075 457 945

Development properties 73 144 52 34

Total 1,018 2,219 509 979

Book values

Project properties –799 –1,680 –374 –738

Development properties –55 –128 –37 –42

Total –854 –1,808 –411 –780

Gains

Project properties 146 395 83 207

Development properties 18 16 15 –8

Total 164 411 98 199

NOTE 3 IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON PROPERTIES

Group Parent Company
2004 2003 2004 2003

Project properties –15 –63 –15 –54

Development properties – – – –30

Total –15 –63 –15 –84

NOTE 4 RESULT FROM FINANCIAL ITEMS

Result from Result from Interest
other financial financial expenses

fixed current and similar profit/
assets assets loss items Total

Group 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

Dividends 1 0 – – – – 1 0

Interest income 1 3 28 36 – – 29 39

Interest expenses – – – – –153 –227 –153 –227

Interest portion of pension costs for the year – – – – –22 –23 –22 –23

Total 2 3 28 36 –175 –250 –145 –211

Result from Result from Interest
Result other financial financial expenses

from group fixed current and similar profit/
companies assets assets loss items Total

Parent Company 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

Dividends 101 896 1 – – – – – 102 896

Impairment losses –353 –11 – – – – – – –353 –11

Interest income – – 0 5 29 10 – – 29 15

Interest income, group companies – – 34 43 19 21 – – 53 64

Interest expenses – – – – – – –133 –206 –133 –206

Interest expenses, group companies – – – – – – –129 –129 –129 –129

Interest portion of pension costs for the year – – – – – – –22 –23 –22 –23

Exchange differences on liabilities – – – – 0 – 0 15 0 15

Total –252 885 35 48 48 31 –284 –343 –453 621
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NOTE 9 FINANCIAL FIXED ASSETS

Other
securites Other Deferred

Participations held as long-term tax 
in associates fixed assets receivables assets Total

Group 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

Accumulated cost

Opening balance, 1 January 6 6 2 2 47 58 – – 55 66

Additional receivables – – – – 17 1 2 – 19 1

Settled receivables – – – – –17 –9 – – –17 –9

Translation differences – – – – – –3 – – – –3

Closing balance, 31 December 6 6 2 2 47 47 2 – 57 55

Other
Participations Receivables Receivables securities Other Deferred

in group from group Participations from held as long-term tax
companies companies in associates associates fixed assets receivables assets Total

Parent Company 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

Accumulated cost

Opening balance, 1 January 1,933 1,605 1,186 527 10 10 43 145 2 2 28 37 – 57 3,202 2,383

New acquisitions 100 340 – – – – – – – – – – – – 100 340

Additional receivables – – – 659 – – – – – – 5 – – – 5 659

Settled receivables – – –572 – – – – –102 – – – –9 – –56 –572 –167

Mergers – –1 – – – – – – – – – – – – – –1

Reclassifications 16 – – – – – – – – – – – – – 16 –

Impairment losses for the year –353 –11 – – – – – – – – – – – – –353 –11

Closing balance,
31 December 1,696 1,933 614 1,186 10 10 43 43 2 2 33 28 – 1 2,398 3,203

Note 9 continued next page
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NOTE 8 INTANGIBLE AND TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Other intangible Machinery and Other tangible
Goodwill fixed assets equipment fixed assets Total

Group 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

Accumulated cost

Opening balance, 1 January 128 129 – 1 147 167 13 – 288 297

New acquisitions – 8 – – 17 18 1 12 18 38

Reclassifications –3 – – –1 – 12 – 1 –3 12

Translation differences 1 –9 – – – –6 – – 1 –15

Sales – – – – –19 –44 – – –19 –44

Closing balance, 31 December 126 128 – – 145 147 14 13 285 288

Accumulated planned depreciation

Opening balance, 1 January –73 –59 – – –101 –108 –1 – –175 –167

Depreciation for the year –13 –14 – – –22 –25 – –1 –35 –40

Reclassifications 3 – – – – –12 – – 3 –12

Translation differences –1 – – – – 4 –1 – –2 4

Sales – – – – 11 40 – – 11 40

Closing balance, 31 December –84 –73 – – –112 –101 –2 –1 –198 –175

Planned residual value, 31 December 42 55 – – 33 46 12 12 87 113

The reported goodwill mainly pertains to goodwill at acquisition of Byggholt AS and AS Prosjektfinans in Norway.

Machinery and
equipment

Parent Company 2004 2003

Accumulated cost

Opening balance, 1 January 90 122

New acquisitions 5 10

Sales –14 –42

Closing balance, 31 December 81 90

Accumulated planned depreciation

Opening balance, 1 January –64 –86

Depreciation for the year –15 –18

Sales 12 40

Closing balance, 31 December –67 –64

Planned residual value, 31 December 14 26



Note 9, continued

Specification of the Group’s other holdings of shares and participations in wholly owned group companies, SEK 000s.

Company No. of shares Book
Company reg. no. Domicile and participations value

JM Cityfastigheter i Helsingborg AB 556044-6766 Helsingborg 1,000 0

HB Mörby Fastighetsförvaltning 916505-6798 Stockholm 880 483

Fastighets AB Strandpromenaden 556164-5523 Stockholm 25,000 9,236

KB Pelarbacken Mindre 23 916635-8920 Stockholm 1 260,101

Mariastaden AB 556228-8596 Stockholm 100 102

JM Värmdöstrand AB 556001-6213 Stockholm 4,400 250,000

JM Älta Centrum AB 556638-5380 Nacka 1,000 100

JM Älta 98:2 AB 556638-5265 Nacka 1,000 100

JM Älta 14:27 AB 556638-5281 Nacka 1,000 100

Fastighets AB Albiten 2) 556653-9390 Vaxholm 1,000 100

Fastighets AB Danburiten 2) 556653-0399 Vaxholm 1,000 100

Fastighets AB Kammeriten 2) 556653-9473 Vaxholm 1,000 100

Fastighets AB Krysoliten 2) 556653-9408 Vaxholm 1,000 100

Fastighets AB Stanniten 2) 556653-0431 Vaxholm 1,000 100

Fastighets AB Vesuvianiten 2) 556653-9515 Vaxholm 1,000 100

Årstapaviljongen HB 969601-0389 Stockholm 565

Seniorbo AS, Norway Bærum 1,000 9,935

Vikevåg Bolig AS, Norway Stavanger 11,000 22,776

Nærsnes AS, Norway Bærum 90,000 5,476

Trulsrudmarka AS, Norway Bærum 1,000 12,830

Peter Wessels AS, Norway Tønsberg 860 976

Peter Wessels KS, Norway Tønsberg 879

Prosjektfinans AS, Norway Tønsberg 50 183

Naturtomter AS, Norway Tønsberg 10 7

Nor-Invest AS, Norway Tønsberg 514,204 38,202

1) The holding amounts to 56% of the share capital.The remaining 44% is owned by the wholly owned subsidiary Mörbysvärdet AB.
2) Group companies acquired during the year.

Specification of the Parent Company’s shares and participations in associates, SEK 000s

Company No. of shares % of Book
Company reg. no. Domicile and participations capital value

AB Hälsingborgsbostäder 556105-9196 Helsingborg 500 50 50

AB Ramlösa Brunnsanläggning 556031-6274 Helsingborg 625 50 75

Glasberga Fastighets AB 556361-0707 Södertälje 1,000 25 100

Högmora Exploaterings AB 556395-0707 Stockholm 1,000 25 100

SMÅA AB 556497-1322 Stockholm 3,525 33 3,564

Fastighetsbolaget Glasberga KB 916643-1842 Stockholm 1 25 101

Olunda Terminal HB * 916629-6948 Järfälla 1 50 800

Exploateringsbolaget Högmora KB 916643-6258 Stockholm 1 25 1

Adolfsbergs Brunns AB 556303-8685 Örebro 340 33 34

Stockholms Mineralhantering HB * 969611-4868 Danderyd 100 50 100

AB Västerås Studentbostäder 556597-0596 Västerås 500 50 500

HB Markbyggarna Silverdal * 969680-8659 Sollentuna 1 50 1

Dockan Exploatering AB 556594-2645 Malmö 333 33 5,003

Book value, 31 December 10,429

* Unlimited liability. Note 9 continued on next page
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Note 9, continued

Specification of Parent Company’s shares and participations in wholly owned group companies, SEK 000s

Company No. of shares Book
Company reg. no. Domicile and participations value

AB Garantihus 556073-0524 Stockholm 5,000 1,000

JM Cityfastigheter AB 556355-8179 Stockholm 17,000,000 369,501

Mörbysvärdet AB 556471-2601 Danderyd 1,000 1,961

Förvaltningsbolaget Sicklaön HB 916619-0992 Stockholm 10,000 78,275

HB Mörby Fastighetsförvaltning 1) 916505-6798 Stockholm 2,192

JM Värmdöstrand Holding AB 556275-4696 Stockholm 3,300,120 292,442

AB Stockholms Badmintonhall 556037-3655 Stockholm 2,520 312

AB Borätt 556257-9275 Stockholm 500 1,978

JM Stombyggnad AB 556173-0564 Stockholm 1,000 113

GL Bodservice AB 556161-8025 Stockholm 250,000 56,524

Seniorgården AB 556359-9082 Stockholm 1,000 100

Fastighetsbolaget Bohusmark KB 916443-1125 Gothenburg 1 120

JM Inredning i Stockholm AB 556202-8653 Stockholm 1,000 50

Sekå AB 556298-5605 Gothenburg 1,000 6,782

Bruket i Kallhäll Exploaterings KB 969653-9122 Järfälla 10

Bruket i Kallhäll Exploaterings AB 556561-0184 Järfälla 1,000 100

Fastighetsbolaget Göta Ark HB 916600-1082 Stockholm 1,200 104,395

Olle Timblads Målerifirma AB 556072-9492 Stockholm 5,000 4,939

HB Kojan Fastighetsförvaltning 916634-1334 Stockholm 144,944

JM Fastigheter i Lomma HB 916470-0057 Lomma 41,978

Tre Masar Produktion AB 556472-0323 Stockholm 5,000 11,602

AB Naryda 556046-9081 Stockholm 1,000 13,000

Stora Mossen Fastigheter i Bromma HB 969673-7999 Stockholm 58

JM Entreprenad AB 556060-8837 Stockholm 200,000 99,750

AB Vaxholmsbostäder 556041-8120 Vaxholm 15,000 33,000

JM Älta Holding AB 556638-5372 Nacka 1,000 100

Brf. Mården2) 716300-0499 Stockholm 3,800,000 0

JM Construction SA, Belgium Brussels 10,000 111,906

Byggholt AS, Norway Oslo 20,000 127,687

JM Danmark AS Copenhagen 100,000 191,267

Book value, 31 December 1,696,086
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NOTE 10 PROJECT PROPERTIES AND DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES

Group Parent Company
Project Development Project Development

properties1) properties properties properties
2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

Accumulated cost

Opening balance, 1 January 3,067 2,930 3,852 4,093 1,246 1,757 2,731 2,585

New acquisitions 224 950 269 664 112 232 159 569

Company acquisitions – 905 6 – – – – –

Reclassifications 16 37 11 –43 –1 39 2 –39

Translation differences –2 –13 1 –35 – – – –

Mergers – – – – – 3 – –

Transferred to production – – –892 –698 – – –592 –341

Sales –857 –1,742 –55 –129 –381 –785 –37 –43

Closing balance, 31 December 2,448 3,067 3,192 3,852 976 1,246 2,263 2,731

Accumulated planned depreciation

Opening balance, 1 January –154 –122 – – –69 –110 – –

Company acquisitions – –83 – – – – – –

Reclassifications –11 2 – – – – – –

Mergers – – – – – –3 – –

Sales 58 49 – – 7 44 – –

Closing balance, 31 December –107 –154 – – –62 –69 – –

Accumulated impairment losses

Opening balance, 1 January –80 –34 –221 –222 –71 –20 –102 –73

Reclassifications – 4 – – – – – –

Impairment losses for the year –15 –63 – – –15 –54 – –30

Sales – 13 – 1 – 3 – 1

Closing balance, 31 December –95 –80 –221 –221 –86 –71 –102 –102

Planned residual value, 31 December 2,246 2,833 2,971 3,631 828 1,106 2,161 2,629

Tax assessment values 1,303 1,867 1,832 2,638 575 804 1,658 1,546

1) Interest expenses added to the cost of project properties amounted to SEK 9m (17).

With effect from 2004, JM’s investment properties (previously divided into fully developed properties, properties under construction, and properties for further development)
are designated as project properties.
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Note 9, continued

Specification of the Parent Company’s shares and participations in associates, SEK 000s

No. of shares % of Book
Company Domicile and participations capital value

Larvik Saneringsselskap AS, Norway Larvik 100 50 221

Olsrødtomter AS, Norway Tønsberg 150 25 712

Grefsen Utvikling AS, Norway Bærum 500 50 –2,773

Rolvsrud Utbygging AS, Norway Oslo 395,000 50 22,425

Kjørbokollen Utbygging AS, Norway Bærum 10,000 50 6,789

Bruveien AS, Norway Lier 102 51 233

Tennisveien AS, Norway Oslo 200 20 220

Book value, 31 December 27,827

Specification of the Parent Company’s other securities held as fixed assets, SEK 000s

No. of shares % of Book
Company and participations capital value

Svenskt Fastighetsindex SFI ek.för 1 8 50

CGC Centralgalaxen Bygg AB 150 20 20

Haninge Turism AB 100 1 10

Parkerings AB Dukaten 1,245 4 1,245

Garbo AB 2 70

Momentum Software AB 31,686 6 0

Other shares 49

Sub-total 1,444

Added for the Group, SEK 000s

Trygg Eiendomsmegling 506

Book value, 31 December 1,950
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PROVISIONS FOR PENSIONS NOTE 16 AND SIMILAR COMMITMENTS

With effect from 1 January 2004, JM applies in the consolidated accounts the Swedish
Financial Accounting Standards Council’s recommendation RR 29, Employee Benefits
which is based on IAS 19.

Defined benefit plans
JM has defined benefit plans for pensions in Sweden and Norway.

Defined contribution plans
These plans mainly comprise retirement pension and family pension. Premiums are
paid regularly during the year by the group company concerned to separate legal
entities, such as insurance companies.The pension cost for the period is recognised 
in the income statement.

Obligations regarding employee benefits, defined benefit plans
The following provisions for pension commitments have been made in the balance
sheet:

Group 2004

Pension obligations at 31 December 591

Plan assets, fair value at 31 December –97

Total 494

Unrecognised actuarial gains (+), losses (–), pension obligations –32

Unrecognised actuarial gains (+), losses (–), plan assets –3

Net liability according to the balance sheet 459

Pension obligations, plan assets and provisions for pension obligations as well as actu-
arial gains/losses for the defined benefit pension plans have developed as follows:

Pension obligations 2004

Opening balance 542

Benefits earned during the year 35

Interest expenses 28

Benefits paid –10

Redemption of pension obligations –36

Unrecognised actuarial gains (–), losses (+) 32

Pension obligations 591

Plan assets 2004

Opening balance 79

Anticipated return on plan assets 5

Funds provided by employer 16

Unrecognised actuarial gains (+), losses (–) –3

Plan assets, fair value 97

Provisions for pension obligations 2004

Opening balance 462

Pension costs, defined benefit plans 146

Benefits paid –10

Funds provided by employer –32

Redeemed pension liability –29

Closing balance 537

Total pension costs 2004

Pensions earned during the period 35

Interest on obligations 28

Anticipated return on plan assets –5

Pension costs defined benefit plans 58

Redemption of pension liability 9

Pension costs, defined contribution plans 61

Social security expenses, defined benefit and defined contribution plans 23

Total pension costs 151

Comparative figures are not provided since pensions are reported according to RR
29 with effect from 1 January 2004.

Actuarial assumptions
The most important actuarial assumptions on the closing date for each geographic
market are shown in the table below.

Anticipated
Discount Plan salary

rate assets increases Inflation

Sweden 5.0% 5.0% 3.5% 2.0%

Norway 5.5% 6.0% 3.0% 2.5%

The discount rate is determined for each geographic market taking the market
return on corporate bonds on the closing date into account. In Sweden and Norway,
where there is no functioning market for such bonds, the market return on govern-
ment bonds is used and a risk premium added. Maturities for the corporate and gov-
ernment bonds respectively match the estimated duration for pension obligations.

The anticipated return on plan assets corresponds to the anticipated return over
time in the pension foundations that secure these obligations. Plan assets mainly
comprise equities and fixed-income securities and the anticipated return also reflects
the existing asset allocation on the closing date between these asset classes.

The factor anticipated salary increase corresponds to anticipated future salary
increases as a composite effect of inflation, period of service and promotion.

The inflation factor corresponds in most pension plans to the anticipated pension
upward adjustment (or indexing). In this component JM has chosen to use the infla-
tion figures set up by national central banks and the European Central Bank.

Parent Company 2004 2003

Opening balance 452 433

New provisions 26 19

Settlements (amortisation) –30 –

Closing balance 448 452
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NOTE 14 INTEREST-BEARING AND NON-INTEREST BEARING ASSETS

Group 2004 Group 2003 Parent Company 2004 Parent Company 2003
Non- Non- Non- Non-

Interest- interest Interest- interest Interest- interest Interest- interest 
bearing bearing Total bearing bearing Total bearing bearing Total bearing bearing Total

Intangible fixed assets – 42 42 – 55 55 – – – – – –

Tangible fixed assets – 45 45 – 58 58 – 14 14 – 26 26

Financial fixed assets 32 25 57 43 12 55 633 1,765 2,398 1,210 1,993 3,203

Project properties – 2,246 2,246 – 2,833 2,833 – 828 828 – 1,106 1,106

Development properties – 2,971 2,971 – 3,631 3,631 – 2,161 2,161 – 2,629 2,629

Participations in tenant-owner 
co-operatives and similar – 243 243 – 527 527 – 221 221 – 485 485

Current receivables – 1,350 1,350 – 1,654 1,654 – 1,353 1,353 – 1,656 1,656

Cash and cash equivalents 1,285 – 1,285 332 – 332 1,196 – 1,196 245 – 245

Total 1,317 6,922 8,239 375 8,770 9,145 1,829 6,342 8,171 1,455 7,895 9,350

UNTAXED RESERVES IN NOTE 15 THE PARENT COMPANY

Parent Company
2004 2003

Accumulated accelerated depreciation – equipment – 4

Tax allocation funds 766 774

Total 766 778

Net reversal of appropriations for the year amounts to SEK 12m (see Note 5).

PARTICIPATIONS IN TENANT-OWNER NOTE 11 CO-OPERATIVES AND SIMILAR

Group Parent Company
2004 2003 2004 2003

Accumulated cost

Opening balance, 1 January 534 360 485 290

New acquisitions 722 894 686 845

Reclassifications –16 – –16 –

Sales –995 –720 –934 –650

Closing balance,31 December 245 534 221 485

Accumulated impairment losses

Opening balance, 1 January –7 –2 – –

Reclassifications – –7 – –

Sales 5 2 – –

Closing balance,31 December –2 –7 – –

Book value, 31 December 243 527 221 485

RECOGNISED REVENUE NOTE 12 LESS PROGRESS BILLINGS

Group Parent Company
2004 2003 2004 2003

Accumulated on account billing 
for work in progress –3,329 –2,256 –2,467 –1,727

Recognised revenue in 
work in progress 4,027 3,285 2,935 2,671

Total 698 1,029 468 944

NOTE 13 OTHER CURRENT RECEIVABLES

Group Parent Company
2004 2003 2004 2003

Receivables, property sales 68 54 37 –

Other 173 209 82 179

Total 241 263 119 179
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NOTE 19 INTEREST-BEARING AND NON-INTEREST BEARING LIABILITIES

Group 2004 Group 2003 Parent Company 2004 Parent Company 2003
Non- Non- Non- Non-

Interest- interest Interest- interest Interest- interest Interest- interest
bearing bearing Total bearing bearing Total bearing bearing Total bearing bearing Total

Provisions for pensions and 
similar commitments 453 6 459 451 6 457 447 1 448 451 1 452

Provisions for taxes – 521 521 – 449 449 – 3 3 – 7 7

Other provisions – 135 135 – 139 139 – 94 94 – 84 84

Total provisions 453 662 1,115 451 594 1,045 447 98 545 451 92 543

Liabilities to credit institutions 1,405 – 1,405 2,451 – 2,451 1,103 – 1,103 2,167 – 2,167

Accounts payable, trade – 464 464 – 518 518 – 276 276 – 399 399

Liabilities to group companies – – – – – – 2,174 – 2,174 1,820 – 1,820

Tax liabilities – 143 143 – 131 131 – 12 12 – 35 35

Progress billings in excess of 
recognised revenue – 712 712 – 915 915 – 547 547 – 862 862

Other liabilities 72 198 270 84 204 288 71 110 181 84 117 201

Accrued expenses and deferred income – 612 612 – 512 512 – 452 452 – 371 371

Total liabilities 1,477 2,129 3,606 2,535 2,280 4,815 3,348 1,397 4,745 4,071 1,784 5,855

Total 1,930 2,791 4,721 2,986 2,874 5,860 3,795 1,495 5,290 4,522 1,876 6,398
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NOTE 20 LIABILITIES TO CREDIT INSTITUTIONS

Group Parent Company
2004 2003 2004 2003

Maturity less than 1 year 
from closing day 258 226 – –

Maturity 1–5 years 
from closing day 87 42 50 –

Maturity later than 5 years 
from closing day 1,060 2,183 1,053 2,167

Total 1,405 2,451 1,103 2,167

Exposure interest rate risk,
Group <1 year 1–5 years >5 years

2004

Loans 1,299 106 –

Effect of interest rate derivatives –600 400 200

Total 699 506 200

2003

Loans 2,276 175 –

Effect of interest rate derivatives –1,400 1,000 400

Total 876 1,175 400

The JM Group mainly works with short-term borrowing in credit institutions com-
bined with derivatives in order to manage interest rate risk.The average interest rate
on interest-bearing liabilities at 31 December 2004, excl. the PRI liability, was 4.7%.

Liabilities to credit institutions, confirmed credits

Group Parent Company
Overdraft facilities 2004 2003 2004 2003

Granted credit ceiling 400 400 400 400

Unutilised portion –400 –400 –400 –400

Utilised credit amount – – – –

Credit agreements carry fixed interest.

Group Parent Company
Credit agreements 2004 2003 2004 2003

Granted credit agreement
maturity within 1 year 600 800 600 800

Granted credit agreement
maturity more than 1 year 2,800 3,700 2,800 3,700

Unutilised portion –2,347 –2,333 –2,347 –2,333

Utilised credit agreements 1,053 2,167 1,053 2,167

Group Parent Company
Building loans 2004 2003 2004 2003

Granted credit 120 – 120 –

Unutilised portion –70 – –70 –

Utilised portion 50 – 50 –

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND NOTE 21 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
JM’s Finance unit is responsible for the Group’s short- and long-term financing, liquid-
ity planning, cash management and financial risk management.The division of respon-
sibility, organisation and control of the Group’s overall financing activities are regulated
by a finance policy established by the Board of Directors.

Finance policy
The finance policy specifies the objectives for finance operations, overall responsibili-
ty and specific rules and limits.The objectives for the finance operations are to:

• Support operating activities in residential and commercial project development.
• Optimise use of capital and cash flow management.
• Control and manage the financial risks to which JM is exposed.

The Group’s financial risks primarily consist of interest rate risk, financing risk, liquidity
risk and, to a limited extent, currency risk.The choice of maturities and fixed interest
spread is governed by several factors, such as capital tied up in ongoing projects, business
risk, anticipated dates for sale of properties, the terms of leases in project properties
and the Group’s financial position in general.These factors are summarised in the
Board’s established guidelines for fixed interest spread and maturity structure with
scope for deviations within certain limits based on the current market situation.There
are also rules for handling interest rate risk in building loans during the construction
period and final financing of tenant-owner co-operatives.

Cash is kept at a low level and any surplus liquidity may only be invested in Swedish
banks and in Swedish fixed-income securities without currency risk. Payment pre-
paredness is maintained through overdraft facilities and committed credit lines.

Currency risk is eliminated as far as possible for transaction exposure. Currency
hedging against balance sheet exposure is selective.

Derivative instruments may only be used in order to minimise risks.

Finance strategy
JM’s basic finance strategy is to clearly link cash flows from projects in progress and
project properties to the company’s management of borrowing and interest rate
risks.This strategy provides the best control of financial risks.

In order to maintain flexible administration and cost-effective debt management,existing
loan agreements are guaranteed by JM’s excellent creditworthiness,which means that
no mortgage deeds are provided.

Derivative instruments

Market value at 31 December 2004 for the Group’s interest rate derivatives

Asset Liability

2004

Interest rate swaps – cash flow hedging – 43

2003

Interest rate swaps – cash flow hedging – 39

Interest rate derivatives are not reported in the balance sheet (off balance). Figures
do not include the underlying capital amount and are indicative.They will change
before realisation.

Financial instruments and financial risk management
The nominal amount for outstanding interest rate swaps amounts to SEK 700m (1,400),
of which SEK 100m relates to project development. At 31 December 2004 fixed interest
rates varied between 4.51% and 5.84% (3.18% and 5.84%).The short rate is 2.2%.

JM AB has a loan in NOK of NOK 85m.The loan was redeemed in the third quarter
of 2004 and was a hedge for part of the net investment in Byggholt AS, Norway The
Group has not effected any other currency hedging for balance sheet exposure.
Furthermore, JM has no transaction exposure since operations are only conducted
within the respective country.

Valuation of financial assets and liabilities
JM used generally accepted methods for calculating the fair value of the Group’s financial
instruments as of 31 December 2004 and 2003.The fair value of interest-bearing liabili-
ties to credit institutions is assumed to correspond to the book value since they mainly
have a short fixed-term of less than 3 months. For all other financial assets and liabilities,
e.g. cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable, the book value
is assumed to provide a good approximation of the fair value.

PROVISIONS FOR TAXES/DEFERRED NOTE 17 TAX ASSETS

Group Parent Company
2004 2003 2004 2003

Deferred tax liability 
on untaxed reserves 280 285 – –

Other deferred tax liability 286 194 3 –

Other provisions for tax 7 15 – 7

Sub-total 573 494 3 7

Net deferred tax assets –52 –45 – –1

Net provisions for tax 521 449 3 6

Deferred tax assets 2 –

Note 17, continued

Group
2004 2003

Deferred tax liability on untaxed reserves1)

Tax allocation funds 280 283

Accelerated depreciation, equipment – 2

Total 280 285

Other deferred tax liability is allocated on

Project properties 2) 96 105

Development properties 2) 15 10

Other, net 175 79

Total 286 194
1) Tax rules in Sweden allow companies to postpone taxation through provisions to

untaxed reserves in the balance sheet via appropriations in the income statement.
In the consolidated accounts, however, untaxed reserves or appropriations are not
stated.The untaxed reserves are divided between deferred tax liability and restrict-
ed reserves respectively in shareholders’ equity.

2) Fiscal difference and book value.

NOTE 18 OTHER PROVISIONS 

Group 2004 Group 2003 Parent Company 2004 Parent Company 2003
Provisions Other Provisions Other Provisions Other Provisions Other

for guar- pro- for guar- pro- for guar- pro- for guar- pro-
antees visions Total antees visions Total antees visions Total antees visions Total

Opening balance, 1 January 100 39 139 96 39 135 84 – 84 83 – 83

Provisions 40 10 50 51 – 51 39 – 39 46 – 46

Reversals –15 – –15 –47 – –47 –15 – –15 –45 – –45

Transfers between companies – – – – – – –12 – –12 – – –

Reclassifications – –39 –39 – – – –2 – –2 – – –

Closing balance, 31 December 125 10 135 100 39 139 94 – 94 84 – 84
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Salaries/wages, other remuneration and social security expenses

2004 2003
Salaries/wages Social security Salaries/wages Social security

and renumeration expenses Total and renumeration expenses Total

Parent Company 548 284 832 710 344 1,054

(of which, pension costs) – 105 1) 105 – 110 1) 110

Subsidiaries 259 86 345 180 53 233

(of which, pension costs) – 18 18 –  8 8

Total Group 807 370 1,177 890 397 1,287

(of which, pension costs) – 123 2) 123 – 118 2) 118
1) Of the Parent Company’s pension costs, SEK 1.9m (2.4) pertains to the President and Vice President.The company’s outstanding pension commitments to these individuals

amounts to SEK 14.0m (19.8).The company has no pension costs or pension commitments to the rest of the Board.
2) Of the Group’s pension costs, SEK 3.5m (3.3) pertains to the Group President and Vice President.The Group’s outstanding pension commitments to these individuals amounts

to SEK 15.5m (19.8).
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PROGRESS BILLINGS IN EXCESS NOTE 22 OF RECOGNISED REVENUE

Group Parent Company
2004 2003 2004 2003

Accumulated billing on account
for work in progress 8,269 10,265 7,680 9,722

Recognised revenue in
work in progress –7,557 –9,350 –7,133 –8,860

Total 712 915 547 862

NOTE 23 OTHER LIABILITIES

Group Parent Company
2004 2003 2004 2003

Maturity less than 1 year 
from closing day 197 211 108 124

Maturity 1–5 years 
from closing day 1 60 1 60

Maturity later than 5 years 
from closing day 72 17 72 17

Total 270 288 181 201

ACCRUED EXPENSES NOTE 24 AND DEFERRED INCOME

Group Parent Company
2004 2003 2004 2003

Vacation reserve, etc. 140 140 108 127

Social security contributions, etc. 131 139 81 105

Accrued interest 17 34 16 30

Deferred rents 35 33 24 21

Accrued expenses and 
deferred income 289 166 223 88

Total 612 512 452 371

ASSETS PLEDGED AND NOTE 25 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Group Parent Company
2004 2003 2004 2003

Assets pledged to secure own 
provisions and liabilities

Corporate mortgages 100 100 100 100

Property mortgages 80 83 – –

Total assets pledged 1) 180 183 100 100

Contingent liabilities

Guarantees on behalf 
of group companies 2) – – 1,193 983

Guarantee commitments, other3) 4,045 3,184 3,895 3,184

Guarantees in connection 
with assignments 468 441 273 285

Payment and rental guarantees 329 51 7 13

Other contingent liabilities 10 10 10 10

Total contingent liabilities 4,852 3,686 5,378 4,475

Note 25, continued

1) The corporate mortgage relates to the pension liability that JM Sverige has with
PRI. Property mortgages are only granted to a limited extent for financing with
credit institutions.

2) Guarantees on behalf of group companies mainly relate to commitments for foreign
companies and the subsidiaries Seniorgården and Borätt.

3) During the production period of a tenant-owner co-operative, the JM Group pro-
vides guarantees for part of the short-term financing that exceeds a co-operative’s
future long-term loans. Guarantee commitments, other relate entirely to this short-
term financing.The long-term loans are secured by the mortgage deeds taken out
by the co-operative itself.

The Group also has obligations to acquire unsold participations in tenant-owner co-
operatives formed by JM. See Note 11 Participations in tenant-owner co-operatives
and similar.

A tenant-owner co-operative’s only revenue is its monthly charges. In order to ensure
that the estimated monthly charges are received by the co-operative, JM provides a 7-
year guarantee.The guarantee comprises an undertaking to buy such apartment which
is returned to the co-operative from the first owner. JM then buys the apartment for
SEK 1 and then pays the monthly charge to the co-operative until JM in its turn has sold
the apartment.This guarantee has existed since 1993 and has never been utilised. JM
considers it unlikely that the guarantee will need to be met in other than exceptional
cases.

AB Bostadsgaranti has a recourse agreement against JM AB regarding their investment
guarantee for paid contributions and charges for grant of enjoyment.The guarantee
primarily ensures that the co-operative can repay a reasonable amount (maximum
contribution and charges) to the tenant-owner who has a right of termination due to
significant increases in charges during the first year after final accounts, subsequently
Bostadsgaranti has no liability to pay anything.Bostadsgaranti has not paid out anything
since 1962.

NOTE 26 FEES AND REMUNERATION

Group Parent Company
2004 2003 2004 2003

Ernst & Young

Auditing assignments 3.8 – 2.8 –

Other assignments 0.4 – 0.2 –

Öhrlings Pricewaterhouse
Coopers

Auditing assignments 1.3 4.7 1.0 3.8

Other assignments 0.1 1.1 – 1.0

Total 5.6 5.8 4.0 4.8

NOTE 27 EMPLOYEES AND PAYROLL EXPENSES

Average number Of whom, Of whom,
of employees 2004 men 2003 men

Parent Company

Sweden 1,488 83% 2,061 85%

Subsidiaries

Sweden 531 95% 212 96%

Belgium 13 77% 15 73%

Denmark 27 56% 27 56%

Norway 227 86% 251 87%

Total in subsidiaries 798 91% 505 89%

Total Group 2,286 86% 2,566 86%

Salaries and other remuneration by country and distribution between the Board and President and other employees

2004 2003
Board and Other Board and Other
President employees Total President employees Total

Parent Company

Sweden 5 543 548 7 703 710

(of which, variable compensation) 0 30 30 0 33 33

Subsidiaries

Sweden 2 135 137 1 52 53

(of which, variable compensation) 1 4 5 0 – 0

Belgium 1 5 6 1 8 9

(of which, variable compensation) – – – 0 – 0

Denmark 2 16 18 1 16 17

(of which, variable compensation) – – – – – –

Norway 1 97 98 1 100 101

(of which, variable compensation) 1 5 6 1 5 6

Total subsidiaries 6 253 259 4 176 180

(of which, variable compensation) 2 9 11 1 5 6

Total Group 11 796 807 11 879 890

(of which, variable compensation) 2 39 41 1 38 39

Note 27 continued on next page
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NOTE 28 OTHER NON-CASH ITEMS

Group Parent Company
2004 2003 2004 2003

Gains on the sale of properties –164 –411 –98 –199

Change in pension liability 2 18 4 18

Other provisions, etc. –25 –14 –24 –25

Total –187 –407 –118 –206

INVESTMENTS IN NOTE 29 DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES, ETC.

Group Parent Company
2004 2003 2004 2003

Investments in 
development properties –275 –664 –159 –569

Acquisition of participations in 
tenant-owner co-operatives –722 –894 –686 –845

Financing via short-term 
promissory notes –59 –20 – –

Total –1,056 –1,578 –845 –1,414

TRANSFERRED TO PRODUCTION/NOTE 30 SALES DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES, ETC.

Group Parent Company
2004 2003 2004 2003

Development properties
transferred to production 892 698 592 341

Sale of development properties 73 144 52 34

Sale of participations in
tenant-owner co-operatives 1,094 718 993 650

Total 2,059 1,560 1,637 1,025

INVESTMENTS IN NOTE 31 PROJECT PROPERTIES, ETC.

Group Parent Company
2004 2003 2004 2003

Investments in project properties –224 –1,772 –112 –232

Financing via short-term 
promissory notes – –107 – –

Adjustment for capitalised interest – 1 – –

Total –224 –1,878 –112 –232

NOTE 32 SALE OF PROJECT PROPERTIES, ETC.

Group Parent Company
2004 2003 2004 2003

Sale of project properties 945 2,075 457 945

Change in receivables –14 1,010 –42 –11

Total 931 3,085 415 934

NOTE 33 MERGER OF GROUP COMPANIES

During the year, two group companies merged with JM Cityfastigheter AB.This trans-
action did not lead to any cash flow.

NOTE 34 ACQUISITION OF COMPANIES

2004 2003

Project properties – 822

Other current assets – 94

Long-term liabilities – –537

Current liabilities and provisions – –116

Acquired net assets – 263

Purchase price paid – 263

Effect on consolidated cash and cash equivalents – 263

No companies were acquired during the year.
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Note 27, continued

Definitions
Salaries and benefits of senior executives are reported according to the recommen-
dation of the Industry and Commerce Stock Exchange Committee, NBK.

Compensation Committee
JM has had a Compensation Committee since February 2003.

Compensation to the Board of Directors
JM’s Board of Directors comprises a total of ten people, nine men and one woman.
The Chairman of the Board received board fees amounting to a total of SEK 463,000
(458,000). Other non-executive Board members received total fees of SEK 1,312,000
(1,167,000).

Compensation to the President and Executive Management
Compensation to the President and other members of Executive Management com-
prises basic salary, variable compensation, other benefits and pension provisions.

Compensation to the President is drafted by the Compensation Committee and
decided by the Board. Compensation for other members of Executive Management is
decided by the Compensation Committee. Compensation is decided after compar-
isons with the total private labour market.

Variable compensation for the President for the 2005 financial year will be based to
50% on the financial result for the Group, 40% on return on operating capital, and
10% on a measurement of how satisfied JM’s customers are (Customer Satisfaction
Index, CSI).Variable compensation for the President for 2005 may amount to a maxi-
mum of SEK 1,560,000.The result of variable compensation for the 2004 financial
year amounts to SEK 490,000 which will be paid in spring 2005.

Variable compensation for other members of Executive Management is based,depend-
ing on position,on the Group’s and the business units’ financial result and on CSI.
Variable compensation may amount to a maximum of three and seven monthly salaries
respectively,depending on position.

The result for variable compensation for other members of Executive Management for
the 2004 financial year totalled SEK 3.8m which will be paid in spring 2005.

Pensions
The Swedish members of Executive Management,excluding the President, are covered
by parts of the ITP plan and an alternative ITP plan.

The President and some other members of Executive Management are covered by a
premium-based supplementary plan.The President, according to this plan, is entitled to
an annual premium provision of 35% of basic salary.According to the same supplemen-
tary plan some other members of Executive Management are entitled to an annual
premium provision of SEK 50,000–100,000.

Provided the President is employed in the company when he reaches the age of 60
either party is entitled to request the President to leave his position as President and
CEO.

Other members of Executive Management have a retirement age of 65,with a few excep-
tions who are entitled to retire at the age of 60 with 70% of salary until the age 65.

Notice periods/Severance pay
For the President the period of notice is 12 months in the event of termination by the
company. If no other employment has been secured by the end of the notice period,
compensation shall be paid for a further 12 months. In the event of termination by the
President the notice period is six months.No additional compensation will be paid after
the six months.Other members of Executive Management have notice periods in accor-
dance with collective agreements.A few,however,have a notice period of 24 months on
termination by the company and 12 months on termination by the employee.

Related party disclosures
The company has no further disclosures to make regarding transactions with related
parties in addition to those reported above.

Summary of basic and variable compensation and pensions 
to the Board and Executive Management in 2004

Basic Variable Other
salary/ compen- 1) bene- Pension

Board fee sation fits costs Total

Chairman of the Board 463 – – – 463

Other Board members 1,312 – – – 1,312

President 2,773 180 138 976 4,067

Other members of 
Executive Management 2) 13,042 8,010 733 5,990 27,775

Total 17,590 8,190 871 6,966 33,617
1)The variable compensation reported in the table relates to amounts paid in 2004.The

President’s payment in 2004 is attributable to the 2003 financial year. For other mem-
bers of Executive Management, SEK 1,805,000 is attributable to the 2003 financial year.
The remaining payments are attributable to earlier financial years.

2) JM’s Executive Management,excluding the President, comprised a total of eleven
people in 2004, ten men and one woman.

Employees and payroll expenses
Absence due to illness within JM Sweden

Total absence due to illness amounts to 5.1% (5.4) of normal working hours.

Of the total absence due to illness,58.0% (55.4) comprises continuous absence due to
illness of more than 60 days.

Breakdown of absence 
due to illness by age  2004 2003

–29 4.6% 4.8%

30– 49 4.0% 4.4%

50 and older 7.2% 7.4%

Breakdown of absence 
due to illness by gender 2004 2003

Men 5.3% 5.6%

Women 4.2% 4.1%
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Proposed disposition of earnings

The Group’s unrestricted equity amounts to SEK 1,541m. No transfer to restricted equity is required.

The Board of Directors and the President propose that the Parent Company’s net profit for the year of SEK 29,631,870 and
profit carried forward of SEK 1,218,871,210, a total of SEK 1,248,503,080, be distributed to the shareholders as a dividend of
SEK 7 per share SEK 196,457,849
carried forward to new account SEK 1,052,045,231

SEK 1,248,503,080

stockholm, 23 february 2005

Per Westlund
Chairman

Björn Björnsson Berthold Lindqvist Elisabet Annell Bengt Larsson

Torbjörn Torell Lennart Sundén Jonatan Sundelin Johan Wegin

Johan Skoglund
President & CEO

Audit report

TO THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF JM AB (PUBL) 

COMPANY REG. NO. 556045-2103

We have audited the annual accounts, the consolidated
accounts, the accounting records and the administration of
the Board of Directors and President of JM AB for the 2004
financial year. These accounts and the administration of the
company and the application of the Annual Accounts Act
when preparing the annual accounts and the consolidated
accounts are the responsibility of the Board of Directors and
President. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
annual accounts, the consolidated accounts and the adminis-
tration based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards in Sweden. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reason-
able assurance that the annual accounts and the consolidated
accounts are free from material misstatement. An audit
includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to
the amounts and disclosures in the accounts. It also includes
an assessment of the accounting policies used and of their
application by the Board of Directors and the President, and of
the significant estimates and judgements made by the direc-
tors in the preparation of the annual accounts and consoli-
dated accounts as well as an evaluation of the overall presen-
tation of information in the annual accounts and the
consolidated accounts. As a basis for our opinion concerning
discharge from liability, we examined significant decisions,
actions taken and circumstances of the company in order to be

able to determine the liability, if any, to the company of any
Board member or the President. We also examined whether
any Board member or the President has, in any other way, acted
in contravention of the Companies Act, the Annual Accounts
Act or the Articles of Association. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion set out below.

The annual accounts and the consolidated accounts have
been prepared in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act
and thereby give a true and fair view of the company’s and the
group’s financial position and results of operations in accor-
dance with generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden.
The administration report is consistent with the other parts
of the annual accounts and the consolidated accounts.

We recommend to the annual general meeting that the
income statements and balance sheets of the Parent Company
and the Group be adopted, that the profit of the Parent Com-
pany be dealt with in accordance with the proposal in the
Board of Directors’ Report, and that the members of the Board
of Directors and the President be discharged from liability for
the financial year.

stockholm, 23 february 2005

ernst & young ab

Ingemar Rindstig Lars Träff
Authorised Authorised 

Public Accountant Public Accountant



can be based is submitted to the Board at least one week
before every Board meeting.

COMMITTEES

For preparation of audit matters, compensation matters and
investment matters, the Board has established an Audit
Committee, a Compensation Committee and an Investment
Committee, each comprising three Board members. With
the exception of decisions on compensation and other terms
for Executive Management excluding the President, these
committees are only preparatory bodies in relation to the
Board. Until the 2005 AGM the Audit Committee comprises
Berthold Lindqvist (chairman), Elisabet Annell and Björn
Björnsson. Seven meetings were held in 2004 which focused,
among other things, on procurement of auditing services.
Until the 2005 AGM the Compensation Committee com-
prises Per Westlund (chairman), Bengt Larsson and Lennart
Sundén. Six meetings were held during the year.

In view of the major investment decisions that the Board
has to make on a regular basis, and the need of a thorough
review of documentation for such decisions, in 2004 the
Board established an Investment Committee. The Invest-
ment Committee has special responsibility for preparing
business and strategic matters concerning purchases, sales
and investments. The Investment Committee until the 2005
AGM comprises Per Westlund (chairman), Torbjörn Torell
and Johan Wegin. Five meetings were held during the year.

REMUNERATION TO THE BOARD AND MANAGEMENT

Remuneration to Board members is decided by the AGM based
on proposals from the Nomination Committee. The Chairman
of the Board receives a fee of SEK 425,000. Other non-execu-
tive Board members each receive a fee of SEK 200,000. The
AGM also decided on fees to the Audit, Compensation and
Investment Committees with a total of SEK 300,000. These
fees have been divided equally between the members elected
by the AGM.  Salaries, pension benefits and another compen-
sation to management are decided by the Board with respect
to the President and by the Compensation Committee with
respect to Executive Management excluding the President.
The general principles for compensation are decided by the
Board after preparation by the Compensation Committee.
Information on compensation to the President and Executive
Management is provided in Note 27, page 78.

INCENTIVE SYSTEMS

C. 300 of JM’s managers, including the President and Execu-
tive Management, are included in a performance-based salary

C O R P O R AT E  G O V E R N A N C E

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE – DUTIES 

• Preparing proposals regarding salary, pension benefits and
other terms for the company’s President.

• Preparing proposals regarding general principles for compen-
sation to other employees,particularly variable compensation.

• Preparing proposals for any incentive programmes.
• Deciding on salary and other terms for Executive Manage-

ment (excluding the President), provided these are based on
general principles adopted by the Board.

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE – DUTIES

Within the framework of delegation rules:
• Evaluate the strategy for scope and direction regarding

development and project properties.
• Prepare proposals regarding purchases and sales of proper-

ties or shares and participations in companies, if the com-
pany acquisitions or company sale respectively primarily
mean that a property will be acquired or sold.

• Prepare proposals regarding investments in existing project
properties.

• Prepare proposals regarding investments in existing devel-
opment properties intended for housing development.

• Prepare proposals regarding purchases and sales of shares
or participations, if the company acquisition or company sale
respectively do not primarily mean that a property is
acquired or sold.

82 83

j m  a n n u a l  r e p o r t  2 0 0 4 j m  a n n u a l  r e p o r t  2 0 0 4

Greater transparency

This section describes the structure and procedures for
the Board and its committees, routines for control and
governance, and shows how responsibility and authority
are delegated within JM. An Investment Committee was
established in 2004 in order to strengthen the trans-
parency of key business issues.

THE COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

In 2004, JM’s Board had eight members, without deputies,
elected by the Annual General Meeting (AGM), and two
members with two deputies appointed by the unions. Board
members elected by the AGM were Per Westlund (Chairman),
Elisabet Annell, Björn Björnsson, Berthold Lindqvist, Bengt
Larsson, Lennart Sundén, Johan Skoglund and Torbjörn Torell.

ELECTION OF BOARD AND AUDITORS

Nominations of Board members ahead of an election at an AGM
are made through a Nomination Committee comprising repre-
sentatives for the four largest shareholders in the company, at any
time, as well as the Chairman of the Board. The composition of
the Nomination Committee is announced during the fourth
quarter. Composition is not affected by any changes in ownership
structure between the date of presentation of the Nomination
Committee and the next AGM. Ahead of the 2005 AGM, the
Nomination Committee comprised: Mats Tunér (SEB fonder),
chairman, Anders Algotsson (AFA Försäkringar), Ramsay Brufer
(Alecta), K G Lindvall (Robur), as well as Per Westlund, although
he did not participate in drafting new proposals for the Board and
Board fees. No compensation is paid to the Nomination Commit-
tee by JM. Proposed nominations to the Board are specified in
the notice of the AGM. 

The key task of the Nomination Committee is to present the
AGM with proposals for Board members and fees to Board mem-
bers as well as, when so required, to propose election of auditors.
Following a proposal from the Committee, the 2004 AGM
elected Ernst & Young AB to be the company’s new auditors.

THE WORK OF THE BOARD

The Board concentrates on strategic issues such as opera-

tional focus, significant policies, market, finance and finan-
cial position, risks, human resources and leadership, control
and efficiency, and decides on production starts, acquisi-
tions and sales of development land and fully developed prop-
erties above certain ceiling amounts. Internal efficiency and
strategy are issues that continued to be in focus for the work of
the Board in 2004, including group-wide pre-construction
routines and strategic purchasing agreements.  

Eight Board meeting were held during the year, including one
statutory meeting. All the members of the Board were present
at all meetings, with the exception of once absence each for
three Board members. The Secretary to the Board is JM’s Chief
Legal Counsel. The duties of the Chairman of the Board are
estimated to amount to approximately 60 working days per
year and about 20 working days for non-executive Board mem-
bers. The Chairman of the Board makes an annual evaluation of
the work of the Board with the Board members and provides
the Nomination Committee with information about the result.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The President ensures that the Board receives reports on the
development of JM’s operations, including earnings perform-
ance, financial position, liquidity and information on the sta-
tus of major projects and important events. 

The Board works in a number of ways to ensure the quality
of financial reporting. One key component is a regular dialogue
with the company’s auditors, partly through the work of the
Audit Committee and partly by auditors being summoned to
two Board meetings per year in order to give the entire Board
their view of JM. The Audit Committee holds regular reviews
with the President, CFO and internal and external auditors.

Basic reporting to the Board consists of operations-related
reporting regarding, among other things, planned and ongoing
projects, production starts, as well as investments, purchases
and sales of properties. The President is charged with report-
ing to each Board meeting the total purchase price for
acquired and sold properties and on decisions for investment
in properties. If the purchase price or investment for an indi-
vidual asset exceeds SEK 25m and SEK 150m respectively,
these must be reported separately. After the end of every
quarter this information is complemented by a quarterly
report or year-end report as well as underlying operational
information. Special material is prepared for Board meetings
that have a special theme. Documentation on which decisions

C O R P O R AT E  G O V E R N A N C E

AUDIT COMMITTEE – DUTIES 

• Evaluation in consultation with the Nomination Committee
of external auditors for recommendation to the Board and
Annual General Meeting.

• Approval of fees and compensation to auditors for special
assignments.

• Review of audit plans in the short and long term.
• Quality assessment of internal control systems and routines.
• Reporting and review of areas or projects of special interest.
• Examination and review of closing accounts and interim

reports.
• Reporting and presenting to the Board on observations

made at reviews with auditors and management.
• Initiating more extensive work within selected areas.
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B O A R D  O F  D I R E C TO R S  A N D  S E N I O R  E X E C U T I V E S

Top row from left: Per Westlund (chairman), Elisabet Annell, Björn Björnsson,Bengt Larsson,Berthold Lindqvist and 
Magnus Rehbinder (employee representative).Bottom row from left: Johan Skoglund, Jonatan Sundelin (employee representative), Lennart Sundén,
Lars-Erik Svensson (employee representative), Torbjörn Torell and Johan Wegin (employee representative).

B O A R D  O F  D I R E C TO R S

Top row from left: Johan Skoglund,Thor Olaf Askjer, Sören Bergström,Sten Hamberg,Lennart Henriz and Magnus Key.
Bottom row from left: Urban Lilja,Göran Malmberg, Zdravko Markovski,Caroline Rosén (from January 2005), Anders Wahrer and Claes Magnus Åkesson.

E X E C U T I V E  M A N A G E M E N T
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C O R P O R AT E  G O V E R N A N C E

Note:With respect to financial reporting a division is made into five business segments: JM Residential Stockholm, JM Residential Sweden (JM Residential Sweden + Swedish part
of JM Residential Öresund), JM International (operations in Norway, Denmark and Belgium), JM Property Development and JM Production. JM Denmark is organised under JM
Residential Öresund. Operations in Belgium are organised under JM Property Development.

ORGANISATION

President

Legal Affairs 
and Development

JM Residential Stockholm JM Residential Sweden JM Residential Öresund JM Residential Norway JM Property Development JM Production

Communications

Business Development

Finance and Treasury

Human Resources

Purchasing

system. The total salary comprises a basic and a variable com-
ponent with a maximum result for the variable component
that, depending on position, varies between two and a half and
seven monthly salaries. In addition to financial result, which
carries the greatest weight, the variable salary component is
based on individual target fulfilment and the  Customer Satis-
faction Index, CSI. The principle is that the basic salary com-
bined with a normal result for the variable component should
result in a market salary. Where applicable, the AGM decides
on introduction of a share-based incentive programme.

DELEGATION RULES – PRESIDENT’S RIGHT OF DECISION

The Board has delegated to the President the right of decision
for purchases and sales of properties (to a maximum value of
SEK 100m), investments in properties (up to SEK 400m), pro-
duction starts of housing projects (up to a total project cost
of SEK 400m excluding purchase price for the property), and
the raising of new loans that are not linked to acquisition of a
property (up to a total of SEK 400m per year for loans with a
shorter maturity than one year, up to a total of SEK 250m per
year for loans with a longer maturity than one year).

In other cases the Board decides. These amounts are cho-
sen to meet the Board’s needs to exercise control and man-
agement’s need of freedom of action. The President has the
right to further delegate some of the above decision rights.

Matters are prepared by a committee consisting of busi-
ness unit and regional managers. For JM’s international com-
panies decisions are made by each company’s board.

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

JM’s operations are divided into six business units. Each busi-

ness unit manager reports directly to the President. Executive
Management (EM) comprises all heads of business units and
staff heads and meets at least once a month. Management
responsibility includes always working to ensure compliance
with guidelines issued by the Board and the President.

CONTROL AND REPORTING STRUCTURE

Within JM a large number of projects are in production at any
given time. It is not unusual for a project to involve more than
100 people with an estimated order value of more than SEK
100m. Every project is run by a project manager who is respon-
sible for the project’s revenues and expenses. The project man-
ager reports to the regional manager who is directly subordi-
nate to the business unit manager. All these people have profit
responsibility. The business unit manager is responsible for
deciding the revenue level in the project.

Decisions to begin work on a project are made by business
unit management or EM, or by the Board for major projects
Follow-up of sold and reserved residential units takes place on
a weekly basis, with reporting to regional manager, business
unit manager and the President. Complete reviews and recon-
ciliation of each project’s revenues and expenses are per-
formed every quarter. 

More intense monitoring routines have been introduced
for large projects. Accounts are presented quarterly by the
business unit manager and regional manager to the Presi-
dent, Vice President and CFO. Assessment data includes the
financial history of the project, future anticipated revenues
and expenses and the current sales and reservations situa-
tion. The largest projects are examined by the auditors and
presented in the Audit Committee.
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B O A R D  O F  D I R E C TO R S  A N D  A U D I TO R S

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Per Westlund
Chairman of the Board
Member of the Board since 1998.
Shares in JM:3,000

Born 1944.M.Sc.Eng. and M.B.A.

Board member of Svenska Kaolin AB and Svenska
Ostindiska Companiet AB, and the Royal Swedish Acad-
emy of Engineering Sciences, IVA.

Former positions:Executive Vice President Skanska.

Elisabet Annell   
Member of the Board since 2002.
Shares in JM:700

Born 1945.M.Pol.Sc.

CEO of Univero Group (former Temo Group).
Board member of Axel Johnson International AB,Dan-
deryds Sjukhus AB, IBS AB, AB Sardus,TV4 AB,Catella
Holding AB,Livförsäkrings AB Skandia,Nordic Growth
Market NGM AB and member of the Securities Council.

Former positions:President and Senior Consultant at
SMG Sweden AB,President and Senior Consultant at
SIFO Management Group AB,President and Consultant
at Tönnerviks Revision AB.Vice President and Consul-
tant at Svenska Management Gruppen AB (Mgruppen).

Björn Björnsson
Member of the Board since 2001.
Shares in JM:2,000

Born 1946.M.Pol.Sc.

Financial consultant.Board member, among others,of
Försäkrings AB Skandia,Vice Chairman, Billerud AB,
Bure Equity AB,Teracom AB,Livsförsäkringsaktie-
bolaget Skandia and E.Öhman J:or AB.

Former positions:President Lancelot Asset Manage-
ment AB and President Export-Invest AB.

Bengt Larsson
Member of the Board since 2004.
Shares in JM:0

Born 1945.

Senior Adviser consultant.Board member of AB Lindex
and member of SHR (Svenska Hemslöjdsföreningars
Riksorganisation).

Former positions:Retail Manager IKEA – Sweden,
North Europe Manager IKEA,President Retail Europe
and member of IKEA’s group management.

Berthold Lindqvist
Member of the Board since 2001.
Shares in JM:1,000

Born 1938.Honorary Doctor of Medicine,Engineer.

Chairman of the Board of Munters AB.Board member
of Securitas AB,Trelleborg AB,Cardo AB, Probi AB and
Novotek AB.

Former positions:President of Gambro AB and Execu-
tive Vice President of Sonesson AB.

Lennart Sundén
Member of the Board since 2001.
Shares in JM:1,500

Born 1952.M.Sc.Eng. and M.B.A.

Board member of FöreningsSparbanken AB and
Dometic International AB.

Former positions:President and CEO of Swedish Match
AB,Head of Electrolux Industrial Operations for White
Goods in Europe and head of Electrolux Global Vacuum
Cleaners and Small Appliances.

Torbjörn Torell
Member of the Board since 2004
Shares in JM:0

Born 1956,M.Sc.Eng.

President Bravida AB.Board member of Carl Bro AS
and Stiftelsen Livslust.

Former positions:President and CEO Scandiaconsult
and President Åke Larson Byggare.

Johan Skoglund
Member of the Board since 2003.
Shares in JM: 5,000

Born 1962. M.Sc.Eng.

President and CEO of JM. Board member of AB
Bostadsgaranti, Försäkrings AB Bostadsgaranti and
Mentor Sverige AB.

Former positions in JM: Site Engineer, Director’s
Assistant, Project Manager, Regional Manager and
Business Unit Manager.

EMPLOYEE REPRESENTATIVES

Jonatan Sundelin
Born 1970.Construction worker.
Member of the Board since 2004.
Shares in JM:0

Johan Wegin
Born 1965.Construction engineer.
Member of the Board since 2002.
Shares in JM:0

Magnus Rehbinder
Born 1944.Mining engineer.
Deputy member of the Board since 2003.
Shares in JM:100

Lars-Erik Svensson
Born 1957.Trade union representative.
Deputy member of the Board since 2004.
Shares in JM:0

SECRETARY TO THE BOARD

Urban Lilja
Born 1952, Senior Legal Adviser at JM AB.
Secretary to the Board since 1996.
Shares in JM:27,000

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young AB
Ingemar Rindstig
Authorised Public Accountant

Lars Träff
Authorised Public Accountant

Ernst & Young were newly appointed as auditors of JM
AB at the 2004 Annual General Meeting.

Shareholdings pertain to personal holdings and shares
owned by immediate family members at 31 January 2005.

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

Johan Skoglund 
President and CEO
JM employee since 1986
Member of Executive Management since 2000
Shares in JM: 5,000

Born 1962. M.Sc.Eng., KTH 1986. Master of Science
Programme Stockholm School of Economics 1998.

Former positions at JM: Site engineer, president’s assis-
tant, project manager, regional manager and business
unit manager.

Board member of AB Bostadsgaranti, Försäkrings AB
Bostadsgaranti and Mentor Sverige AB.

Thor Olaf Askjer
Head of JM Residential Norway business unit
JM employee since 1999
Member of Executive Management since 2004
Shares in JM: 0

Born 1955. Civil Engineering Degree 1977.

President Prosjektfinans 97–03 and President Byggholt 03–.

Sören Bergström 
JM Production/Director of Purchasing
JM employee since 1988
Member of Executive Management since 2001
Shares in JM: 0

Born 1956. M.Sc.Eng., KTH, Master of Science
Programme Stockholm School of Economics 1996.
Executive Management Programme Stockholm School
of Economics 2001.

Former positions at JM: Project manager, president of
three subsidiaries and regional manager. Head of JM
Production business unit 02–.

Chairman of the Board of O.Timblad Målerifirma AB
and JM Entreprenad AB.

Sten Hamberg
JM Property Development (until February 2005)
JM Residential Sweden (from March 2005)
JM employee since 1980 
Member of Executive Management since 1999
Shares in JM: 15,000 

Born 1951. LL.B., Uppsala University 1976.

Former positions at JM: Company lawyer, president AB
Borätt and Seniorgården AB, development manager
and head of Business Development/Properties business
unit. Head of JM Commercial/JM Property
Development business unit.

Lennart Henriz 
Business Development (Quality and Environment/IT)
JM employee since 1978
Member of Executive Management since 1998
Shares in JM: 7,240

Born 1953. M.Sc.Eng., KTH 1978.

Former positions at JM: vice president and regional
manager AB Projektgaranti, quality and environmental
manager. Head of Business Development 00–.

Magnus Key
Executive Vice President (until February 2005)
JM Residential Sweden
JM employee since 1973
Member of Executive Management since 1989, until
February 2005
Shares in JM: 25,000 

Born 1944. M.Sc.Eng., Chalmers 1968.

Former positions at JM:Vice President, production
manager, President JM Byggnads AB. Executive Vice
President and head of international operations.

Chairman of the Stockholm Association of Building
Contractors. Board member of Sveriges Byggindustrier
and Arkitektkopia.

Urban Lilja 
Legal Affairs and Development
JM employee since 1996
Member of Executive Management since 1996
Secretary to the Board of JM
Shares in JM: 27,000 

Born 1952. LL.B., Lund University 1978.
Articled clerk Borås District Court 78–81.

Lawyer Swedish Association of Registered
Physiotherapists 81–82, lawyer Friman & Carlander
advokatbyrå 82–86, company lawyer Celsius Industrier
AB 86–89 and company lawyer Akzo Nobel AB 89–96.
Chief Legal Counsel JM AB 96–.

Göran Malmberg 
Human Resources
JM employee since 1991
Member of Executive Management since 1991
Shares in JM: 0 

Born 1945. LL.B., Stockholm University 1974.

Labour legislation lawyer Apoteket AB 82–87,negotiator/
lawyer Employer Organisation SFA 87–89 and person-
nel manager Helsingborgs Hamn AB.
Director of Human Resources JM AB 91–.

Zdravko Markovski 
JM Residential Stockholm
JM employee since 1987.
Member of Executive Management since 2003
Shares in JM: 2,000

Born 1964. M.Sc.Eng-, KTH 1987.

Former positions at JM: Project manager, regional man-
ager and Head of JM Residential business unit. Head of
JM Residential Stockholm 03–.

Chairman of the Board of AB Borätt, JM Stombyggnad
AB and JM Inredning i Stockholm AB. Board member of
SMÅA AB and Seniorgården AB.

Anders Wahrer
Head of JM Residential Öresund business unit
JM employee since 1982
Member of Executive Management since 2004
Shares in JM: 15,660

Born 1953. M.Sc.Eng, Lund University of Technology
1978.

BPA foreman 78–82.

Former positions at JM: Pre-construction manager,
project manager, President Mercator (subsidiary in
Portugal) and regional manager. Head of JM Öresund
business unit 04–.

Claes Magnus Åkesson 
CFO
JM employee since 1998
Member of Executive Management since 1998
Shares in JM: 20,000 

Born 1959. Degree in Economics and Business
Administration from the Stockholm School of
Economics 1984.

Ericsson Group 87–98: senior controller, Asia 94–96,
head of finance and treasury Malaysia 96–97 and
regional controller Asia 97–98.
Chief Financial Officer JM AB 98–

Caroline Rosén
(member of Executive Management from January 2005)
Corporate Communications (from January 2005)
JM employee since 2005
Shares in JM: 300

Born 1960. Degree in Economics and Business
Administration from the Stockholm School of
Economics 1985.

PK-banken corporate development 86–90,Veckans
Affärer financial journalist 91–95, SCA assistant director
of communications 90–00, EQT partner 02-03, If P&C
Head of Investor Relations 03–04.
Director of Corporate Communications JM 05–.

Eva Eriksson
(member of Executive Management from March 2005)
JM Property Development (from March 2005)
JM employee since 2000
Shares in JM: 0

Born 1959. M.Sc.Eng (L), KTH 1983

Reinhold AB Group 87–90, Kungfiskaren Bygg- och
Fastighets AB property manager 91–93,Valuation
Board 93–94, Föreningsbanken section manager 94–97,
LB Kiel manager Real Estate Finance 97–99 and NCC
Stockholm region, head of property sales 99–00.

Former positions at JM: Head of Project
Development/Transactions JM Commercial.

OTHER SENIOR EXECUTIVES

JM RESIDENTIAL STOCKHOLM
Magnus Berg, Stockholm Inner City Region
Per Johansson, Stockholm Central Region
Patrik Andersson, Stockholm South City Region
Robert Jaaniste, Stockholm North Region

Birgitta Seman,AB Borätt
Mats Åkerlind, JM Stombyggnad AB and JM Inredning AB

JM RESIDENTIAL SWEDEN
Anette Frumerie, East Region
Mats Karlsson, Central Region
Anders Lundberg,West Region

Christer Lindmark, Seniorgården AB

JM PRODUCTION
Anders Rahm, Buildings
Ove Sandin, Contracting 
Fredrik Kastevik, Civil Engineering
Anders Brännström, JM Fasad
Nils-Erik Häggström, O.Timblad Målerifirma AB

JM PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT
Lars-Olof Höglund, Property Management
Jarl-Inge Stormo, Property Management – Technical
Services

JM INTERNATIONAL
Morten G. Fossum, JM Danmark A/S, Denmark
Göran Sjöborg, JM Construction SA, Belgium

GROUP-WIDE FUNCTIONS
Peter Kindstrand, Financial Manager
Eva Nilsson, Group Treasurer
Benny Berglund,Tax and Acquisitions
Tomas Wiik, IT Manager
Gunnar Josefson, Purchasing

Shareholdings pertain to personal holdings and shares
owned by immediate family members at 31 January 2005.

S E N I O R  E X E C U T I V E S
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INCOME STATEMENT, SEKm 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Net sales 8,414 7,787 8,872 8,642 6,849
Costs for production and management –7,360 –7,152 –7,960 –7,022 –5,519
Gross profit 1,054 635 912 1,620 1,330
Selling and administrative expenses –542 –505 –527 –545 –455
Gains on the sale of operations – – – – 30
Gains on the sale of properties 164 411 523 928 535
Impairment losses on properties –15 –63 –256 –39 –
Non-recurring items (Alecta – surplus) – – – – 78
Operating profit 661 478 652 1,964 1,518
Net financial items –145 –211 –284 –335 –309
Profit after net financial items 516 267 368 1,629 1,209
Tax on profit for the year –140 –80 –115 –485 –364
NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 376 187 253 1,144 845

INCOME STATEMENT BY FUNCTION, SEKm
Production
Recognised revenue 8,079 7,429 8,311 7,867 5,990
Production costs –7,147 –6,916 –7,739 –6,763 –5,146
Profit from production operations 932 513 572 1,104 844

Development properties
Rental revenue 93 144 163 133 189
Operating expenses –68 –120 –105 –69 –112
Property tax –15 –11 –11 –6 –15
Profit from development properties 10 13 47 58 62

Project properties
Rental revenue 242 214 398 640 660
Interest subsidies – – – 2 10
Operating expenses –122 –91 –72 –145 –144
Property tax –8 –14 –33 –39 –43
Depreciation – – – – –59
Profit from project properties 112 109 293 458 424

Selling and administrative expenses –475 –443 –462 –481 –399

Property sales
Sales values 1,018 2,219 3,015 4,074 2,213
Book values –854 –1,808 –2,492 –3,146 –1,678
Gains on the sale of properties 164 411 523 928 535

Impairment losses on properties –15 –63 –256 –39 –
Group-wide costs –67 –62 –65 –64 –56
Gains on the sale of operations – – – – 30
Non-recurring items (Alecta – surplus) – – – – 78
OPERATING PROFIT 661 478 652 1,964 1,518

F I V E - Y E A R  S U M M A RY  –  G RO U P

BALANCE SHEET, SEKm 31 Dec 2004 31 Dec 2003 31 Dec 2002 31 Dec 2001 31 Dec 2000
Assets
Fixed assets 144 168 196 210 254
Project properties 2,246 2,833 2,774 4,717 6,445
Development properties 2,971 3,631 3,871 4,048 3,105
Other current assets 895 1,152 1,994 2,295 930
Recognised revenue less progress billings 698 1,029 1,197 966 917
Cash and cash equivalents 1,285 332 596 652 446
TOTAL ASSETS 8,239 9,145 10,628 12,888 12,097

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities
Shareholders’ equity 3,518 3,285 3,570 3,823 3,770
Provisions 1,115 1,045 918 1,015 936
Interest-bearing liabilities 1,477 2,535 3,880 5,521 5,236
Progress billings in excess of recognised revenue 712 915 801 1,073 673
Other liabilities 1,417 1,365 1,459 1,456 1,482
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 8,239 9,145 10,628 12,888 12,097

CASH FLOW STATEMENT, SEKm 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Cash flow 953 –264 –56 206 56

OTHER, SEKm 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Project properties:
Market values 2,576 3,205 3,478 6,371 9,619
Book values 2,246 2,833 2,774 4,717 6,445
Surplus values before deferred tax 330 372 704 1,654 3,174
Number of available building rights (31 Dec) 21,900 23,400 25,500 27,000 27,000
Number of housing starts 3,943 2,714 2,711 2,900 3,000
Number of sold residential units 4,315 3,189 2,511 2,255 1,800

Order bookings 8,906 7,145 6,690 8,811 8,774
Order backlog at 31 Dec 6,574 5,685 5,925 7,546 6,603

Average number of employees 2,286 2,566 2,602 2,502 2,163

KEY RATIOS 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Interest-bearing net debt (SEKm) 613 2,611 3,665 5,220 5,117
Debt/equity ratio (times) 0.2 0.8 1.0 1.4 1.4
Interest coverage ratio (times) 4.0 2.1 2.1 5.5 4.6
Equity ratio (visible) (%) 43 36 34 30 31
Pre-tax return on total capital (%) 7.9 5.2 5.9 15.9 13.8
Pre-tax return on capital employed (%) 11.8 7.3 7.8 20.8 16.7
After-tax return on shareholders’ equity (%) 11.1 5.5 6.8 30.1 24.4
Asset turnover rate (times) 0.97 0.79 0.75 0.69 0.61

DATA PER SHARE
See page 5.



JM RESIDENTIAL 2004 2003
STOCKHOLM, SEKm Full year Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Full year Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1
Net sales 3,336 1,072 634 852 778 3,218 919 641 884 774
Operating profit/loss 1) 194 104 40 37 13 –22 13 –23 –15 3
Operating margin (%) 5.8 9.7 6.3 4.3 1.7 –0.7 1.4 –3.6 –1.7 0.4
Return on operating capital (%) 2) 8.0 8.0 3.8 1.4 –0.4 –0.7 –0.7 –14.9 –11.4 –8.1
Number of available building rights 

at end of period 9,100 9,100 9,600 10,000 10,300 10,300 10,300 10,100 10,800 11,200
Book value of development properties 1,702 1,702 1,800 1,864 2,091 2,219 2,219 2,249 2,251 2,305
Number of housing starts 1,706 556 404 457 289 966 586 198 137 45
Number of sold residential units 1 968 426 496 585 461 1,547 698 308 377 164
1) Of which – property sales 1 2 – – –1 22 6 4 12 –

JM RESIDENTIAL SWEDEN, SEKm
Net sales 2,401 712 523 603 563 2,092 585 423 623 461
Operating profit 1) 186 72 44 41 29 98 33 18 29 18
Operating margin (%) 7.7 10.1 8.4 6.8 5.2 4.7 5.6 4.3 4.7 3.9
Return on operating capital (%) 2) 22.6 22.6 16.1 13.1 11.7 10.2 10.2 13.2 17.0 16.5
Number of available building rights 

at end of period 7,400 7,400 7,100 7,400 7,300 7,400 7,400 7,450 7,900 8,500
Book value of development properties 687 687 690 724 666 700 700 768 737 787
Number of housing starts 1,218 404 231 370 213 958 371 119 337 131
Number of sold residential units 1,225 249 259 298 419 958 251 200 272 235
1) Of which – property sales 3 3 – – – –7 –2 –3 –2 –

JM INTERNATIONAL, SEKm
Net sales 1,866 602 429 463 372 1,683 547 425 385 326
Operating profit 1) 104 40 21 24 19 72 15 6 38 13
Operating margin (%) 5.6 6.6 4.9 5.2 5.1 4.3 2.7 1.4 9.9 4.0
Return on operating capital (%) 2) 10.5 10.5 8.0 6.4 7.6 6.8 6.8 7.1 8.9 7.9
Number of available building rights 

at end of period 5,400 5,400 5,300 5,100 5,400 5,700 5,700 5,400 5,500 5,600
Book value of development properties 394 394 441 496 516 520 520 573 556 581
Number of housing starts 1,019 367 139 272 241 790 278 276 95 141
Number of sold residential units 1,122 291 201 245 385 684 233 224 136 91
1) Of which property sales 1 1 – – – 22 – – 22 –

JM PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT, SEKm
Net sales 276 69 67 74 66 227 64 60 49 54
Operating profit/loss 1) 201 63 33 37 68 358 –45 17 11 375
Return on operating capital (%) 2) 8.6 8.6 3.8 3.2 2.1 14.3 14.3 22.7 25.3 23.5
1) Of which – property sales 154 62 10 25 57 374 7 – – 367

– property impairment losses –15 –15 – – – –63 –63 – – –

JM PRODUCTION, SEKm
Net sales 931 313 213 212 193 701 196 172 168 165
Operating profit 1) 43 13 8 9 13 34 13 8 7 6
Operating margin (%) 4.6 4.2 3.8 4.2 6.7 4.9 6.6 4.7 4.2 3.6
1) Of which property sales 5 – – – 5 – – – – –

2) 12-month rolling.
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2004 2003
INCOME STATEMENT, SEKm Full year Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Full year Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1
Net sales 8,414 2,572 1,784 2,144 1,914 7,787 2,224 1,707 2,091 1,765
Costs for production and management –7,360 –2,199 –1,551 –1,891 –1,719 –7,152 –2,026 –1,586 –1,928 –1,612
Gross profit 1,054 373 233 253 195 635 198 121 163 153

Selling and administrative expenses –542 –152 –111 –148 –131 –505 –134 –109 –141 –121
Gains on the sale of properties 164 68 10 25 61 411 11 1 32 367
Impairment losses on properties –15 –15 – – – –63 –63 – – –
Operating profit 661 274 132 130 125 478 12 13 54 399
Net financial items –145 –45 –10 –42 –48 –211 –45 –45 –51 –70
Result from financial items 516 229 122 88 77 267 –33 –32 3 329
Tax on profit for the year –140 –54 –35 –28 –23 –80 11 7 –3 –95
NET PROFIT/LOSS FOR THE YEAR 376 175 87 60 54 187 –22 –25 0 234

31 Dec 30 Sep 30 Jun 31 Mar 31 Dec 30 Sep 30 Jun 31 Mar 
BALANCE SHEET, SEKm 2004 2004 2004 2004 2003 2003 2003 2003
Assets
Fixed assets 144 152 151 159 168 167 182 187
Project properties 2,246 2,425 2,416 2,604 2,833 2,926 1,989 2,039
Development properties 2,971 3,124 3,275 3,488 3,631 3,773 3,635 3,767
Other current assets 1,593 1,839 2,042 2,745 2,181 3,121 3,263 3,242
Cash and cash equivalents 1,285 424 476 113 332 142 548 210
Total 8,239 7,964 8,360 9,109 9,145 10,129 9,617 9,445

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities
Shareholders’ equity 3,518 3,346 3,264 3,349 3,285 3,308 3,343 3,642
Provisions 1,115 1,086 1,046 1,031 1,045 1,051 967 945
Interest-bearing liabilities 1,477 1,615 1,944 2,515 2,535 3,871 3,210 2,832
Other liabilities 2,129 1,917 2,106 2,214 2,280 1,899 2,097 2,026
Total 8,239 7,964 8,360 9,109 9,145 10,129 9,617 9,445

CASH FLOW 2004 2003
STATEMENT, SEKm Full year Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Full year Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1
Cash flow from operating activities 2,161 997 293 1,062 –191 1,504 1,530 –1,068 223 819
Cash flow from investing activities –11 0 –9 –2 0 –25 –25 15 –11 –4
Cash flow from financing activities –1,197 –136 –336 –697 –28 –1,743 –1,315 647 126 –1,201
Total cash flow for the period 953 861 –52 363 –219 –264 190 –406 338 –386
Cash and cash equivalents 

at end of period 1,285 1,285 424 476 113 332 332 142 548 210

Change in interest-bearing net debt –1,998 –984 –271 –921 178 –1,054 –1,444 1,036 136 –782

Q U A RT E R LY  O V E RV I E W  –  G RO U P
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The following conditions apply to the schedule of properties:
All commercial rental agreements are index-linked and the
correlation with CPI is between 75 and 100%. In the column
for “breakdown of rental revenue”, the approximate values
are stated since certain leases include several different types
of space. In the “term of lease” column, residential leases are
included in the percentage for 2005.

The selection of development properties has been made
based on the size of the projects and the time aspect – they
have been started or will be started in the next few years.

Project properties and 
a selection of development properties at 31 December 2004

J M ’ S  P RO P E RT I E S
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FINANCIAL OCCUPANCY RATIO

PROJECT PROPERTIES

Rentable space, sq.m (incl. garage) Residential (leasehold) Commercial properties under development Fully developed commercial properties

Greater Stockholm 128,944 46,173 37,520

Rest of Sweden 0 0 11,740

International 0 14,755 3,501

Total 128,944 60,928 52,761

92
GROUP – ACCORDING TO IFRS

2004
INCOME STATEMENT, SEKm Full year Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1
Net sales 8,532 2,562 1,805 2,183 1,982
Costs for production and management –7,347 –2,196 –1,548 –1,887 –1,716
Gross profit 1,185 366 257 296 266

Selling and administrative expenses –542 –152 –111 –148 –131
Gains on the sale of properties 164 68 10 25 61
Impairment losses on properties –15 –15 – – –
Operating profit 792 267 156 173 196
Net financial items –145 –45 –10 –42 –48
Profit after net financial items 647 222 146 131 148
Tax on profit for the year –173 –51 –41 –39 –42
NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 474 171 105 92 106

BALANCE SHEET, SEKm 31 Dec 2004 30 Sep 2004 30 Jun 2004 31 Mar 2004
Assets
Fixed assets 157 162 158 162
Project properties 2,246 2,425 2,416 2,604
Development properties 2,971 3,124 3,275 3,488
Other current assets 1,593 1,839 2,042 2,745
Cash and cash equivalents 1,285 424 476 113
Total 8,252 7,974 8,367 9,112

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities
Shareholders’ equity 3,465 3,297 3,197 3,250
Provisions 1,089 1,064 1,017 992
Interest-bearing liabilities 1,477 1,615 1,944 2,515
Other liabilities 2,221 1,998 2,209 2,355
Total 8,252 7,974 8,367 9,112

BUSINESS SEGMENTS – ACCORDING TO IFRS
2004

JM RESIDENTIAL STOCKHOLM, SEKm Full year Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1
Net sales 3,438 1,070 654 889 825
Operating profit 296 102 60 74 60
Operating margin (%) 8.6 9.5 9.2 8.3 7.3

JM RESIDENTIAL SWEDEN, SEKm
Net sales 2,417 704 524 605 584
Operating profit 202 64 45 43 50
Operating margin (%) 8.4 9.1 8.6 7.1 8.6

JM INTERNATIONAL, SEKm
Net sales 1,866 602 429 463 372
Operating profit 117 43 24 28 22
Operating margin (%) 6.3 7.1 5.6 6.0 5.9

JM PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT, SEKm
Net sales 276 69 67 74 66
Operating profit 201 63 33 37 68

JM PRODUCTION, SEKm
Net sales 931 313 213 212 193
Operating profit 43 13 8 9 13
Operating margin (%) 4.6 4.2 3.8 4.2 6.7

2 0 0 4  I N C O M E  S TAT E M E N T  A N D  
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FULLY DEVELOPED COMMERCIAL PROPERTIES

No. Property Age Tax/ Total rent- Rentable space, Revenue 2004 Rental revenue, Term of Possible rental Major 
rent 2004 able space breakdown breakdown lease revenue tenants

Municipality Year built/ Tax ass. value Hotel Residential Rental revenue Hotel/Commercial 2005 Fully rented 2005
Address renovated Ground rent Commercial Other Retail 2006 Of which, leased
Description Retail Garage Residential 2007

Other/Garage >=2008
SEKm/SEK000s Sq.m. Sq.m. Sq.m. SEKm % % SEKm

1 Paradiset 23 1970 167.0 15,162 0 0 10.5 84% 15% 17.5 Jetpak

Stockholm 8,212 3,480 7% 13% 10.9 Solidlås

Nordenflychtsv. 66 620 2,850 0% 23%

Office, warehouse 9% 49%

2 Gjuterihuset 1 1927 17.5 1,421 0 0 1.7 100% 0% 2.8 Design AB Propeller

Stockholm 2002 1,421 0 0% 70% 1.8 Stiftelsen Inuti

Patentgatan 2–12 0 0 0% 30%

Office 0% 0%

3 Lux 7 1908–16 27.5 2,163 0 0 3.7 35% 0% 4.5 StockholmCountyCouncil

Stockholm 2002 1,820 343 0% 41% 3.7 Previsor AB

Primusg. 112–116 0 0 0% 40% A. Siljeströms Arkitekter

Office 65% 19% Restaurang Lux

4 Holar 1 1982 53.6 5,626 0 0 8.6 99% 0% 8.7 ÅF-Industriteknik

Stockholm 190.0 5,626 0 0% 0% 8.7

Skalholtsgatan 2 0 0 0% 0%

Office 1% 100%

5 Skogskarlen 1 & 3 1971 96.7 12,140 0 0 15.3 99% 57% 16.0 Sveaskog

Solna 12,140 0 0% 3% 16.0 Meda

Pipers väg 2 0 0 0% 0% Pulsen

Office, warehouse 1% 40%

6 Hornlyktan 3 1943 6.3 1,008 0 785 0.9 26% 74% 0.9 17 residential units

Stockholm 41.9 223 0 0% 0% 0.9 1 commercial unit

Karlsborgsvägen 15–19 0 0 74% 0%

Residential 0% 26%

7 Kvarngärdet 62:2 1988 0.0 1,482 0 0 1.5 98% 0% 1.6 Uppsala County Council

Uppsala 1,482 0 0% 16% 1.4 Uppsala Municipality

Portalgatan 4B 0 0 0% 0%

Office 2% 84%

8 Kvarngärdet 33:2 2001 8.5 2,500 0 0 4.6 100% 0% 4.6 Systeam AB

Uppsala 2,500 0 0% 0% 4.6 Udac AB

S:t Persgatan 23, etc. 0 0 0% 100%

Office 0% 0%

9 Töebacken 8 1999 29.1 2,845 0 0 3.9 100% 32% 4.0 JM AB

Lund 2,845 0 0% 55% 4.0 Trivector AB,

Åldermansg 13, etc. 0 0 0% 0% Swedish ESF Council,

Office 0% 13% Lernia Bemanning AB

10 Annedal 4 1970 2.1 840 0 0 0.6 0% 0% 0.6 Jysk Bäddlager

Lund 0 100 100% 100% 0.6

Annedalsvägen 8 740 0 0% 0%

Retail 0% 0

11 Töebacken 7 1979 8.8 1,772 0 0 1.0 3% 0% 1.3 Svanströms,

Lund 1989 151 730 95% 51% 1.3 Bengtssons Färghandel

Åldermansg 13, etc. 1999 891 0 0% 15%

Office, retail 2% 34%

12 Librobäck 12:2 1987 2.6 956 0 0 0.2 3% 100% 0.3 Used internally by JM

Uppsala 450 506 0% 0% 0.0

Klockargatan 4 0 0 0% 0%

Office, warehouse 97% 0%

13 Tågarp 16:15 1974 1.9 918 0 0 0.0 100% 0.0 Used internally by JM

Burlöv 240 678 0% 0.0 Warehouse

Testvägen 15A 0 0 0%

0%

14 Sandvika 1972 112 0 112 0.0 0% 0.0 Used internally by JM

Kjørbokollen 2000 0 0 0% 0.0

Kjørbokollen 30 0 0 100%

0%
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FULLY DEVELOPED COMMERCIAL PROPERTIES

No. Property Age Tax/ Total rent- Rentable space, Revenue 2004 Rental revenue, Term of Possible rental Major 
rent 2004 able space breakdown breakdown lease revenue tenants

Municipality Year built/ Tax ass. value Hotel Residential Rental revenue Hotel/Commercial 2005 Fully rented 2005
Address renovated Ground rent Commercial Other Retail 2006 Of which, leased
Description Retail Garage Residential 2007

Other/Garage >=2008
SEKm/SEK000s Sq.m. Sq.m. Sq.m. SEKm % % SEKm

15 Beitostølen 1990 0.2 90 0 90 0.0 0% 0.0 Used internally by JM

Beitostølen 0 0 0% 0.0

Øystre Slidre 0 0 100%

Cabins 0% 

16 Rud 1976 5.2 1,444 0 0 0.7 17% 1.4 Used internally by JM

Bærum 1985 250 1,194 0% 0.9

Bærumsveien 471 0 0 0% 

Office/warehouse 83% 

17 Rud 1978 4.8 1,855 1,855 0 2.5 100% 2.5 Used internally by JM

Bærum 1986 0 0 0% 2.5

Bærumsveien 473 0 0 0% 

Office 0% 

18 Yxlö 3:51 1984 1.1 427 0 0 0.0 0% 0.0 Used internally by JM

Nynäshamn 1993 0 427 0% 0.0

Ådudden 0 0 0% 

Conference facilities 100% 

Total 432.8 52,761 1,855 987 55.6 87% 24% 66.6

231.9 37,360 7,458 4% 15% 57.2

2,251 2,850 1% 18%

8% 44%

RESIDENTIAL (LEASEHOLD)

No. Property Age Total rentable Rentable space, Rental revenue Rental revenue, Planned Planning process
space breakdown 2004 breakdown use

Municipality Year built/ Hotel Residential Hotel/Commercial Description Planning phase
Address renovated Commercial Other Retail Development period
Description Retail Garage Residential

Other/Garage
Sq.m. Sq.m. Sq.m. SEKm %

19 Älta 1965–93 68,455 0 60,233 66.4 3% Densification Programme

Nacka 2,033 4,479 4% 2005–2010

Älta 1,710 0 88%

Residential, shopping centre 5%

20 Vaxholm 1943–94 60,489 0 51,917 74.1 14% Densification

Vaxholm 3,351 2,447 5%

Residential, office 1,474 1,300 76%

Retail 5%

Total 128,944 0 112,150 140.5 9%

5,384 6,926 5%

3,184 1,300 82%

5%

J M ’ S  P RO P E RT I E S
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COMMERCIAL PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

No. Property Age Ground Total rentable Rentable space, Rental revenue, Rental revenue, Development
rent 2003 space breakdown 2004 breakdown

Municipality Year built/ Hotel Residential Hotel/Commercial Description
Address renovated Commercial Other Retail Major tenants
Description Retail Garage Residential

Other/Garage

SEK000s Sq.m. Sq.m. Sq.m. SEKm %

21 Kallhäll 1:22 1907 17,746 0 0 6.3 31% Renovation

Järfälla 0 17,746 0% Haglöfs

Fabriksvägen 0 0 0%

Light industry 69%

22 Västerbotten 18 & 19 1972 17,986 0 1,715 13.1 27% Under renovation

Lidingö 2,560 1,699 51% Sällma, IDTM,

Stjärnvägen 6,387 5,625 12% EDTS, Intersport,

Residential, retail 10% Vi

23 Barnängen 6 1917 10,441 0 0 13.7 60% Under renovation

Stockholm 2003 8,541 0 0% FFNS, Nyréns,

Barnängsg. 21 0 1,900 40% Stockholm County 

Office 0% Council

24 Belgium 1846 11,376 0 0 0.0 100% Renovation

Brussels 1946 11,004 372 0%

Rue de la Science 1965 0 0 0%

Office 2004 0%

25 Belgium 2005 3,379 0 0 0.0 100% New construction

Brussels 3,379 0 0% Occupancy Q3 2005

Rue d´Idalie 0 0 0%

Office 0%

Total 60,928 0 1,715 33.1 41%

25,484 19,817 20%

6,387 7,525 21%

17%
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DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES

No. Country Property/project No. of residential Development Present Rental revenue Sales price1) Planning process
units in projects where period rentable space 2004 present phase

Municipality production not started Dec. 2004 Average (stake SEK/sq.m.) Planning stage
Location Spread

Approx. Sq.m. SEKm Tenure Production

26 Sweden Långbro 475 2000–2010 23,500 19.8 20,400 Detailed plan – 220 residential units

Stockholm 16,900–26,700

Älvsjö Tenant-owner co-operative Production start 2000

27 Sweden Essinge Udde 150 2001–2007 28,350 Detailed plan

Stockholm 18,850–39,350

Lilla Essingen Tenant-owner co-operative Production start 2001

28 Sweden Bolinder Strand 400 2001–2009 19,700 Detailed plan

Järfälla 11,600–31,500

Fabriksvägen Tenant-owner co-operative Production start 2001

29 Sweden Liljeholmskajen 2,180 2001–2012 40,000 19.5 23,700 Detailed plan – 640 bostäder

Stockholm 13,300–32,700

Årstadal/Liljeholmen Tenant-owner co-operative Production start 2001

30 Sweden Hägernäs 400 2001–2009 20,500 Detailed plan

Täby 14,100–28,500

Close to water Tenant-owner co-operative Production start 2002

31 Sweden Silverdal Bostäder 100 2001–2008 20,700 Detailed plan

Sollentuna 18,960–22,150

Sollentunavägen Tenant-owner co-operative Production start 2001

32 Sweden Västra Daggkåpan 110 2000–2007 23,200 Detailed plan

Nacka 17,400–34 ,550

Tenant-owner co-operative Production start 2003

33 Sweden Norra Frösunda 2) 510 2001–2011 21,000 Detailed plan

Solna 15,050–22,150

Frösundavik Tenant-owner co-operative Production start 2003

34 Sweden Bällstaberg 260 2001–2011 12,000 Detailed plan

Vallentuna 10,750–14,750

Bällstabergsvägen Tenant-owner co-operative Production start 2002

35 Sweden Industristaden 225 2002–2010 16,300 Detailed plan

Uppsala 13,500–23,700

Kungsängen Tenant-owner co-operative Production start 2003

36 Sweden Kviberg 350 2003–2010 Sales not yet started Detailed plan 2005

Göteborg

By Säveån Production start 2006

37 Sweden Norra Älvstranden 2) 440 2002–2008 22,450 Detailed plan

Göteborg 10,200–31,300

Norra Älvstranden  Tenant-owner co-operative Production start 2004

38 Sweden Dockan 480 2003–2010 20,900 Detailed plan 2003

Malmö 10,500–35,100

Västra Hamnen Tenant-owner co-operative Production start 2003

39 Sweden Lomma 680 2003–2010 11,600 7.0 20,600 Detailed plan 2004

Lomma 14,100–29,100

Lomma Hamn Production start 2004

40 Sweden Vallkärratorn 300 2005–2011 Sales not yet started Detailed plan 185 residential 

Lund units 2005

Stångby Production start 2005

41 Sweden Nissanstranden 2) 250 2004–2011 Sales not yet started Detailed plan

Halmstad 

Centralt Production start 2005

42 Sweden Charlottendal 240 2002–2008 17,550 Detailed plan

Värmdö 14,350–22,800

Gustavsberg Production start 2003

43 Sweden Kojan 430 2000–2010 Sales not yet started Detailed plan 2005

Stockholm

Västra Kungsholmen Production start 2006

1) Sales prices specified for residential units with tenure as tenant-owner co-operative do not include loans raised in the co-operative. JM’s total revenue comprises both stakes and loans raised in the co-operative.
2) Full purchase price not yet paid.
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DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES

No. Country Property/project No. of residential Development period Rental revenue Sales price1) Planning process
units in projects where 2004 present phase

Municipality production not started Average (stake SEK/sq.m.) Planning stage
Location Spread

Approx. SEKm Tenure Production

44 Norway Grefsen Stasjonsby1) 450 2001–2012 Sales not yet started Control planning work

Oslo

Central/north Oslo Production start 2006

45 Norway Rolvsrud Skog1) 165 2001–2009 27,200 Control plan

Lørenskog

Central Freehold apartments Production start 2001

46 Norway Hovenga 1) 115 2002–2009 15,300 Control plan

Porsgrunn

Central Production start 2004

47 Norway Trulsrudmarka 130 2001–2010 21,000

Bærum 18,100–24,600

Close to nature Freehold apartments Production start 2001

48 Norway Natland 200 2000–2007 Sales not yet started Control plan

Bergen

Central Production start 2005

49 Norway Bragenes Strand 180 2002–2009 29,215 Control plan

Drammen 23,000–48,500

Central, close to water Freehold apartments Production start 2004

50 Norway Stongafjellet 1) 450 2003–2015 Sales not yet started Control planning work

Askøy Bergen

Close to water Production start 2005

51 Norway Ilebrekke 140 2000–2010 Sales not yet started Control plan

Tønsberg

Production start 2006

52 Norway Hallermoen 200 2004–2011 20,300 Control plan

Drammen 19,600–21,600

Close to nature Freehold apartments Production start 2005

53 Norway Engebråten 180 2003–2009 Sales not yet started Control plan

Nærsnes

Production start 2007

54 Norway Veraåsen1) 100 2004–2010 Sales not yet started Control planning work

Sandefjord

Production start 2007

55 Belgium R.Theodore De Cuyper 70 2001–2006 23,000 Detailed plan

Woluwé-St Lambert 21,000–25,000

Central Freehold apartments Production start 2003

56 Denmark Havnestad 250 2002–2006 34,300 Detailed plan

Copenhagen

By harbour Freehold apartments Production start 2003

57 Denmark Sluseholmen 305 2003–2008 33,100 Detailed plan

Copenhagen

Freehold apartments Production start 2005

1) Full purchase price not yet paid.
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GROUP

CAPITAL MEASUREMENT
Shareholders’ equity
Total restricted and unrestricted equity according to the balance sheet.

Interest-bearing net debt
Interest-bearing liabilities and provisions less cash and cash equivalents 
and interest-bearing receivables.

Capital employed
Visible shareholders’ equity plus interest bearing liabilities and provisions.

FINANCIAL MEASUREMENT, ETC.
Progress billings in excess of recognised revenue
Invoicing less recognised income.

Net sales
Total recognised revenue according to the percentage of 
completion method,plus rental revenue.

Interest coverage ratio
Profit after depreciation and financial income in relation to 
financial expenses.

Debt/equity ratio
Interest-bearing net debt in relation to shareholders’ equity.

Equity ratio (visible)
Visible shareholders’ equity in relation to total assets.

Recognised revenue less progress billings
Recognised revenue less invoicing.

Recognised revenue (according to the percentage of 
completion method)
Production costs incurred plus recognised contribution.

MEASURES FOR CAPITAL INTENSITY
Asset turnover rate
Net sales for the year divided by average total assets.

MARGIN MEASUREMENT
Operating margin
Operating profit in relation to net sales.

PROFITABILITY MEASUREMENT
After-tax return on equity
Profit after tax in relation to average shareholders’ equity.

Pre-tax return on capital employed 
Profit before tax with reversal of financial expenses in relation 
to average capital employed.

Pre-tax return on total capital 
Profit before tax with reversal of financial expenses in relation to 
average total assets.

Earnings per share after tax
Profit after tax in relation to average number of shares.

SHARE-RELATED MEASUREMENT
Dividend yield
Proposed dividend in relation to market price at 31 December 2004.

Total return
Dividend received plus change in share price in relation to market price 
at 31 December 2003.

OTHER
Development properties
See section on development properties under accounting and valuation principles.

Project properties
See section on project properties under accounting and valuation principles.

Surplus values before deferred tax in project properties
Difference between the market values and book values of project properties.

BUSINESS UNITS
Operating capital
Total book values of goodwill, project properties, development properties,
participations in tenant-owner co-operatives, receivables from property sales and
accounts receivable minus accounts payable and plus/minus project balances.

Average operating capital is calculated as closing operating capital on five
measurement dates (five most recent quarter-ends).

Operating profit
The business segments’ operating profit is reported before financial items.

Return on operating capital
Operating profit per business segment in relation to average operating capital.

Operating margin per business segment
Operating profit in relation to net sales.

PROPERTY TERMS
JM works with two types of property designations:

Development properties
(primarily attributable to development land for future production)
• Land with residential building rights
• Land with commercial building rights
• Developed  properties for residential projects or further development 

to project properties

Project properties
(classified as current assets and comprise large property portfolios for 
further development and commercial properties)
• Residential (leasehold)
• Commercial properties under development
• Fully developed commercial properties

A schedule of JM’s project properties and a selection of major development 
properties is provided on pages 93–98.

D E F I N I T I O N S
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N OT I C E  O F  A N N U A L  G E N E R A L  M E E T I N G

Welcome to JM’s Annual General Meeting
Shareholders in JM AB are hereby invited to attend the Annual General Meet-
ing to be held at 4 p.m. on Thursday, 28 April 2005 at JM’s head office,
Telegrafgatan 4, Solna.

NOTIFICATION

Shareholders who wish to participate in the meeting must be entered in the
register of shareholders maintained by VPC AB by Monday, 18 April 2005, and
must have informed the Company of their intention to participate by 4 p.m. on
Friday, 22 April 2005, using one of the following channels:

Mail: JM AB, SE-169 82 Stockholm
Telephone: +46 8 782 87 12
Fax: +46 8 782 86 12
E-mail: maylis.ahlstedt@jm.se

Shareholders whose shares are registered in the name of a nominee must, in
order to be entitled to participate in the Meeting, request that their shares be
temporarily registered in their own name by Monday, 18 April 2005.

Admission cards to the Annual General Meeting will not be sent out.

DIVIDEND

The Board of Directors proposes that a dividend be paid to shareholders of SEK
7 per share as well as distribution of approximately SEK 1.0 billion through
redemption of shares. The proposed record date is Tuesday, 3 May 2005. If the
proposal is approved by the Meeting, dividends are expected to be distributed
by VPC on Monday, 9 May 2005.

FINANCIAL CALENDAR

The Board of Directors’ complete proposal for decision regarding the
redemption programme will be available in mid-April.

28 April 2005: Annual General Meeting
28 April 2005: Interim Report for the period January–March 2005
August 2005: Interim Report for the period January–June 2005
November 2005: Interim Report for the period January–September 2005

Reports are available in Swedish and English and can be ordered from JM
AB, Corporate Communications, tel. +46 8 782 87 00, fax +46 8 782 86 10
or via www.jm.se

HEAD OFFICE AND 

STOCKHOLM OFFICE

JM AB

Telegrafgatan 4, Solna

SE-169 82 Stockholm

Tel. +46 8 782 87 00, fax +46 8 782 86 00

www.jm.se

REGIONAL AND LOCAL OFFICES  

EAST REGION

Uppsala (regional office)

Sylveniusgatan 2

Box 1334, SE-751 43 Uppsala

Tel. +46 18 66 03 00, fax +46 18 66 03 10

CENTRAL REGION

Jönköping

Herkulesvägen 6, SE-553 03 Jönköping

Tel. +46 36 12 03 40, fax +46 36 12 03 66

Linköping (regional office)

Brigadgatan 24, SE-581 31 Linköping

Tel. +46 13 37 14 00, fax +46 13 37 14 09

Strängnäs

Trädgårdsgatan 15, SE-645 31 Strängnäs

Tel. +46 152 104 69, fax +46 152 222 59

Västerås

Kopparbergsvägen 8, SE-722 13 Västerås

Tel. +46 21 81 20 00, fax +46 21 81 20 10

Örebro

Vasastrand 11, SE-703 54 Örebro

Tel. +46 19 10 29 40, fax +46 19 10 29 15

WEST REGION 

Gothenburg 

Gårdatorget 2, SE-412 50 Gothenburg

Tel. +46 31 703 57 00, fax +46 31 335 88 70

SOUTH REGION 

Halmstad

Brogatan 1, SE-302 43 Halmstad

Tel. +46 35 10 63 60, fax +46 35 10 67 45

Helsingborg

Prästgatan 24, SE-252 24 Helsingborg

Tel. +46 42 28 98 90, fax +46 42 13 82 24

Lund (regional office)

Åldermansgatan 13

Box 21, SE-221 00 Lund

Tel. +46 46 30 00 00, fax +46 46 30 01 38

Malmö

Övägen 6, Limhamn

Box 60228, SE-216 09 Malmö

Tel. +46 40 16 56 00, fax +46 40 16 56 01

SUBSIDIARIES IN SWEDEN

AB Borätt

Sjöängsvägen 17

Box 956, SE-191 29 Sollentuna

Tel. +46 8 626 66 30, fax +46 8 626 98 20

www.boratt.se 

Seniorgården AB

Sjöängsvägen 17

Box 956, SE-191 29 Sollentuna

Tel. +46 8 626 66 30, fax +46 8 626 98 20

www.seniorgarden.se

JM Entreprenad AB

Telegrafgatan 4, Solna

SE-169 82 Stockholm

Tel. +46 8 782 87 00, fax +46 8 782 86 01

www.jm-entreprenad.se

O.Timblad Målerifirma AB

Strandbergsgatan 53, SE-112 51 Stockholm

Tel. + 46 8 619 51 00, fax +46 8 618 16 01

www.timblad.se

SUBSIDIARIES ABROAD

Belgium

JM Construction S.A.

Avenue Louise 287, Bte 1

B-1050 Brussels

Tel. +32 2 646 11 12, fax +32 2 646 96 26

www.jmconstruction.be

Denmark

JM Danmark A/S

Vester Farimagsgade 37

DK-1606 Copenhagen V

Tel. +45 33 45 70 00, fax +45 33 45 70 70

www.jmdanmark.dk

Norway

Byggholt AS (head office)

Bærumsveien 473

Postboks 33

N-1306 Bærum

Tel. +47 67 17 60 00, fax +47 67 17 60 01

www.byggholt.no

Bergen

Damsgårdsveien 125

Postboks 178

N-5847 Bergen

Tel. +47 55 15 53 00, fax +47 55 15 53 01

Skien

Lundegate 4C

Postboks 45

N-3701 Skien

Tel. +47 35 54 33 50, fax +47 35 54 33 60

Stavanger

Gamle Forusveien 14

N-4033 Stavanger

Tel. +47 40 00 15 15, fax +47 51 57 57 13

Tønsberg

Ålveien 19

Postboks 2053

N-3103 Tønsberg

Tel. +47 33 30 03 00, fax +47 33 30 03 33

Seniorbo AS

Kjørbokollen 30

N-1337 Sandvika

Tel. +47 67 55 19 40, fax +47 67 55 19 41

www.seniorbo.no
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Postal address SE-169 82 Stockholm
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Telephone +46 8 782 87 00
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Internet www.jm.se
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Cover: Essinge Udde, Stockholm

JM develops new residential areas in attractive locations

for people who demand high standards in their living

environment. Our work is characterised by a holistic

approach and attention to detail – we want to take

lasting pride in the homes and residential areas we

develop.

TURN THE PAGE FOR A PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF 2004

“Record sales in 2004 and improved earnings meant that
we took key steps towards achieving our profitability
target.The past year showed that we are developing
homes and residential areas where people want to live.”

Johan Skoglund,President and CEO
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